Public Document Pack

Meeting of:
Date:
Time:
Venue:

Rochdale Township Committee
Wednesday, 23rd January, 2019
6.00 pm.
Training and Conference Suite, First Floor,
Number One Riverside - Number One
Riverside

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.
Item
No.
1.

AGENDA

Page No

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

3.

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
To determine whether there are any additional items of business
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4.

ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to
be excluded from the meeting.

5.

GREATER MANCHESTER POLICE - UPDATE
To receive an update from Greater Manchester Police

6.

OPEN FORUM
Up to half an hour has been set aside for members of the public to
raise any issues relevant to the business of the Committee and the
Township.

7.

MINUTES

4-9

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of Rochdale Township
Committee held 10th October 2018.
8.

ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP ACTION AND RESOURCES DELEGATED
SUB-COMMITTEE

10 - 13

Minutes of the meeting of Rochdale Township Action and Resources
Delegated Sub-Committee held, 25th October 2018.
9.

ROOLEY MOOR NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN - SUBMISSION

14 - 233

To consider the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan.
10.

DRAFT LOWER FALINGE AND COLLEGE
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD)

BANK

AREA

234 - 307

To consider a draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for the
Lower Falinge and College Bank, Rochdale, area
11.

DEVELOPMENT AT DEAN STREET, ROCHDALE - ADOPTION OF
HIGHWAYS UNDER SECTION 228 HIGHWAYS ACT 1980

308 - 311

To consider proposals for a development at Dean Street, Rochdale,
(Adoption of Highways), under Section 228 of the Highways Act 1980.
12.

UPGRADE TO BRIDLEWAY DEFINITIVE FOOTPATH: ROCEFP13A
To consider a proposed upgrade to Bridleway (footpath RocEFp13a)
from Northdene Drive to Bury Road, Rochdale

13.

CLAIM OF FOOTPATH FROM BROAD LANE TO CROMPTON
AVENUE, ROCHDALE
This item has been withdrawn from the agenda

Rochdale Township Committee Members:
Councillor Ali Ahmed
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed
Councillor Shakil Ahmed
Councillor Daalat Ali
Councillor Sultan Ali
Councillor Cecile Biant
Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Lynne Brosnan
Councillor Wendy Cocks

Councillor Jane Howard
Councillor Daniel Meredith
Councillor Kathleen Nickson
Councillor Shaun O’Neill
Councillor Faisal Rana
Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Billy Sheerin
Councillor Angela Smith
Councillor Patricia Sullivan

312 - 316

Councillor Richard Farnell
Councillor James Gartside
Councillor Kieran Heakin
Councillor Michael Holly
Councillor Jean Hornby

Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor Peter Winkler
Councillor Sameena Zaheer
Councillor Mohammed Zaman

For more information about this meeting, please contact:
Peter Thompson
Committee and Governance Services, Floor 2,
Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale OL16 1XU
Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk

Agenda Item 7
ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE
MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 10 October 2018
PRESENT: Councillor Zaheer (Vice Chair in the Chair); Councillors Ali
Ahmed, Iftikhar Ahmed, Shakil Ahmed, Daalat Ali, Biant, Brett, Brosnan,
Cocks, Farnell, Gartside, Heakin, Holly, Hornby, Howard, Meredith, O’Neill,
Rana, Angela Smith, Sullivan, Wazir and Winkler.
OFFICERS: J. Rooney (Assistant Director - Information, Customers and
Communities), V. White, J. Simpson, M. Aiken (Neighbourhoods Directorate),
A. Mills (Economy Directorate), J. Taylor (Children’s Services Directorate),
C. Poole and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Inspector D. Callaghan (Greater Manchester
Police) and 12 members of the public.
APOLOGIES
19
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Sultan Ali,
Rashid, Sheerin and Zaman.
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
20
There were no declarations of interests.
URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
21
There were no urgent items of business for the Committee to consider.
ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
GREATER MANCHESTER POLICE - UPDATE
23
Inspector Darren Callaghan (Greater Manchester Police (GMP))
updated the Township Committee on activities and initiatives that were
undertaken by GMP in the Rochdale Township.
a. Operation Infinity – an operation to counter the large number of
reported instances of anti-social behaviour on the Metrolink service
between Rochdale and Oldham
b. Operation Treacle – an operation to be undertaken during the autumn
period to work against anti-social behaviour that is often associated
with ‘Halloween’ and ‘Bonfire Night’ and with the use of fireworks (to be
run, in part, with Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service).
c. Operation Dark Nights – an operation that GMP will be undertaking in
the late autumn and winter nights to attempt to reduce the numbers of
burglaries that are carried out during those longer nights, ‘after the
clocks go back’.
d. GMP are carrying out a series of initiatives across the Township to
Initiatives to prevent the theft of mopeds many of which are
subsequently used by criminals to aid and abet their activities.

Page 4

e. Operation Bee Hive – a successful operation to convict individuals on a
charge of attempted murder following an attack in Rochdale in 2017.
f. Operation Elf – to guard against criminal activity and anti-social
behaviour in Rochdale town centre during the evening, so as to provide
support to Rochdale’s ‘night time economy’.
Members of the Township Committee asked questions of Inspector Callaghan
seeking information as to the effectiveness of GMP’s 101 telephone number,
especially with regard to abandoned calls due to the length of time that callers
often have to wait.
A Member of the Committee noted that there had been changes in senior
personnel at Rochdale police station in recent times and requested that
information relating to the identity of police officers and their responsibilities be
forwarded to Members of the Committee.
Resolved;
1. The Greater Manchester Police update be noted and welcomed.
2. Greater Manchester Police be requested to forward to Members of
Rochdale Township Committee abandoned details of calls to their 101
telephone number due to the length of time that callers often have to
wait.
3. Local representatives of Greater Manchester Police be requested to
write to Members of Rochdale Township Committee detailing the
identity of police officers based in the Rochdale Township area and
their areas of responsibility.
OPEN FORUM
24
There were no issues raised in the Committee’s Open Forum session.
UPGRADE TO BRIDLEWAY DEFINITIVE FOOTPATH: ROCEFP13A
25
The Director of Neighbourhoods reported that in accordance with
section 31 Highways Act 1981 and Under section 53(2) Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981, a member of the public can submit a statement to the
Council for it to consider a claim to add a footpath or bridleway to the definitive
map and statement held by the Council or to upgrade an existing route to a
higher status than shown on the definitive map and statement by providing
evidence of 20 years or more use of a route, recognised as presumed
dedication of the way if the use is carried out as of right, without permission
and without interference.
The Council has received such a statement to support the upgrade of a
footpath (footpath RocEFp13a) running from Northdene Drive to Bury Road to
bridleway status. The supporting evidence provided with the claim provides
satisfactory reports of use ranged from 3 – 57 years by 25 members of the
public. In accordance with the Highways Act 1980, the Council could accept
this evidence to assist in their decision making in respect of making the
appropriate Order for the upgrade of the footpath.

Page 5

The Council had implemented a highway order to adopt the land as a footway
in approximately 1994; however, some of the evidence pre-dates this highway
adoption and it is considered appropriate to proceed with the claim.
Landowners were consulted and were asked to submit evidence to support
the claim or to describe the actions they have taken to prohibit use by horse
riders. No such evidence has been received from the landowners.
Members of the public will be informed by the posting of notices on site and in
local newspapers as part of the order process.
The order process incorporates an objection period where members of the
public may raise relevant objections to the order. Should these objections
remain unresolved the matter is referred to the Secretary of State for a final
decision as to whether the Council should make the order to upgrade the
footpath to bridleway or not.
In considering the report, Members received oral representations from an
objector to the proposals, detailed in the Committee’s report, Mr. T. Mayne
and from a supporter of the proposals, Mrs. G. Morrell. In light of the oral
representations received at the meeting a Member suggested that
consideration of the Director of Neighbourhood’s report be deferred pending
further consultation on the proposals detailed therein.
Resolved:
That the Director of Neighbourhood’s report be deferred, for consideration to
the Committee’s next meeting on 23rd January 2019, pending further
consultation on the proposals contained therein.
Eligible for Call-in: No.
ROCHDALE DRAFT ALLOCATIONS PLAN
26
The Township Committee received a presentation for the Director of
Economy regarding the Borough’s Draft Allocations Plan. The Allocations Plan
contains the sites to deliver the scale of growth set out in the Borough’ Core
Strategy that was adopted in 2016. The Allocations Plan also designates
areas for particular types of development, such as employment and also
areas where development may be restricted, recreational open spaces for
example. The Allocations Plan therefore forms part of the Local Plan for
Rochdale, together with the Coe Strategy and the Greater Manchester
Minerals Plan.
The key issues covered in the presentation were: housing, employment, retail
centres across the Borough’ green belt and green infrastructures and
transport.
The proposals, set out in the Allocations Plan, are currently subject to a public
consultation exercise that commenced on 10th September 2018 and will
conclude on 5th November 2018 and which includes a number of public ‘dropin’ sessions. Following the close of the consultation exercise all comments

Page 6

received will be considered in the production of the finalised version of the
Plan that is due to be published for consultation in the summer of 2019.
Members of the Committee commented on various proposals within the
Rochdale Township area.
Resolved:
That the presentation be noted and welcomed.
OUR ROCHDALE THE ONLINE DIRECTORY OF SERVICES
27
The Township Committee received a presentation from Mr. M. Hicks
(HMR CCG) regarding ‘Our Rochdale’ an online directory of health and social
care services, that are provided by the NHS in the Borough and by the
Children’s and Adults Directorates of Rochdale Borough Council. The service
was designed to give help and advice, if needed, to the website’s visitors and
was proving to be very popular with several thousand visits to the website
each month.
At the conclusion the presenter was asked questions by the members present
and he was thanked for an interesting and informative presentation.
Resolved:
That the presentation be noted and welcomed.
MINUTES
28
The Township Committee considered the minutes of the meeting of
Rochdale Township Committee held 13th June 2018. Further to Minute 7(c) of
the meeting (Former TBA Site, Rochdale) a member advised that the Council
had attempted to arrange a between residents and the (TBA) site’s owners
but had received no response from the site’s owners and therefore had been
unable to convene the meeting which Members of the Committee had
requested.
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Rochdale Township Committee held 13th
June 2018 be approved, as a correct record.
ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP ACTION AND RESOURCES DELEGATED SUBCOMMITTEE
29
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Rochdale Township Action and Resources
Delegated Sub-Committee held 5th July 2018 be noted.
REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES
30
The Township Committee was advised that a statutory review of Polling
Districts and Polling Places had concluded, since the last meeting of the
Township, on 27th July 2018. The Electoral Registration and Administration
Act 2013 requires, that local authority Electoral Registration Officers to review
their areas polling districts and places every five years. A final report on the
recommendations arising from the review was to be considered by the Council

Page 7

at its meeting on 17th October 2018 for approval. The Township Committee
received a report of the Assistant Director (Legal, Governance and Workforce)
which outlined the results from the consultation exercise and which noted
suggested recommendations in respect of Rochdale Township’s Healey,
Spotland and Falinge and Bamford Wards.
In considering the report Members of the Township Committee suggested
further changes to the Spotland and Falinge Ward, proposing that the
proposed new boundary between FC and FD (on the map attached to the
report - original boundary highlighted red, proposed boundary highlighted
orange, new agreed boundary highlighted green).
A further proposal was to investigate the use of the new Kirkholt Community
hub as a polling station for polling districts DB, DC and DF in the Balderstone
and Kirkholt Ward and this was to be further considered by Rochdale
Township Committee.
Resolved:
1.
That the report be noted
2.
The recommendations contained in the submitted report relating to the
Council’s Healey, Spotland and Falinge and Bamford Wards, including the
further recommendations noted above relating to Spotland and Falinge Ward
be presented to the Council’s meeting on 17th October 2018
3.
The proposal regarding the use of the new Kirkholt Community hub as
a polling station for polling districts DB, DC and DF in the Balderstone and
Kirkholt Ward be referred to a future meeting of the Committee.
Eligible for Call-in: No.
CONSULTATION ON THE REVIEW BY THE TOWNSHIPS REVIEW
STEERING GROUP
31
The Township Committee received a report of the Assistant Director
(Information, Customers and Communities) which advised members that in
January 2018, the four Township Committee Chairs and a cross-party group
of Elected Members had formed a working group to look at how the Council
engages with local communities, and on the workings of the Townships.
The group was facilitated by Sir Steve Houghton, Leader of Barnsley Council,
and officers from the Local Government Association. Its purpose was to
consider the following in the context of cooperative values – self-help, selfresponsibility, democracy, equality, equity and solidarity, and behaviours
playing a key part in the future role of the Townships.
The report of the Township Review Members Panel contained a number of
recommendations for consideration - which were attached at Appendix 1 to
the Committee’s report. The views of the Township Committee’s membership
were sought as part of the consultation exercise, noting that any changes to
the Township Committee governance structure would be subject to approval
by full Council.
The report detailed six specific recommendations:

Page 8

a.
Members to have a broader role in having oversight of issues such as
Health and Social Care and other issues at a township level, and should play
a stronger role in developing more resilient communities.
b.
Continued recognition of different needs and priorities throughout the
Borough, across townships and at a neighbourhood level.
c.
Members to have a role in encouraging co-creation within communities
d.
A re-structure of the Rochdale Township (the establishment of two
Township Committees to cover the current nine Rochdale Township Wards)
e.
Consideration to be given to developing greater core capacity of
Township staffing levels
f.
Creation of Ward Alliances
The Committee considered the report and its recommendations in detail. The
Committee felt that there was insufficient information in the report at the
current time to support the establishment of Ward Alliances and in this regard
the Committee felt that they needed more information and time to form a view
on this matter. Members also expressed some reluctance to replace the
current system, whereby each of the Township’s Wards had a dedicated Area
Forum, with a Ward Alliance.
Generally Members of the Committee appeared supportive of the proposal to
re-structure the current Rochdale Township by establishing two separate
Township Committees for Rochdale, as the size of the current Committee,
with 27 members, was felt to be too large, noting that the next largest of the
Borough’s Township Committees, Middleton, had 15 Members.
Members of the Committee also requested details of any savings to the
Council that the proposals in the report would accrue.
A Member suggested that consideration of the report be deferred to the
Committee’s next meeting on 23rd January 2019 and that the Cabinet Member
with responsibility for the Neighbourhoods, Community and Culture Portfolio
be invited to the meeting to discuss the proposals with Members of the
Committee.
The Assistant Director (Information, Customers and Communities), informed
the Committee that a report would be presented to the Informal Cabinet,
following which a new report would be submitted to the Township
Committees, which would be co-presented by the Cabinet Member with
responsibility for the Neighbourhoods, Community and Culture Portfolio
Resolved:
That consideration of the report be deferred to the Committee’s next meeting
on 23rd January 2019 and that the Cabinet Member with responsibility for the
Neighbourhoods, Community and Culture Portfolio be invited to the meeting to
discuss the proposals with Members of the Committee.
Eligible for Call-in: No.

Page 9

Agenda Item 8
ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP ACTION AND RESOURCES DELEGATED SUBCOMMITTEE
MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 25th October 2018
PRESENT: Councillor Shakil Ahmed (in the Chair); Councillors Daalat Ali
(substituting for Councillor Sheerin), Farnell, Gartside, O’Neill, Rana
(Substituting for Councillor Biant), Sullivan and Zaheer.
OFFICERS: V. White, N. McKendrey (Neighbourhoods Directorate) and
P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor Neil Emmott, Councillor Howard,
Councillor Angela Smith, Councillor Winkler and approximately 40 members
of the public.
APOLOGIES
15
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Sultan Ali, Biant
and Sheerin.
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
16
There were no declarations of interests.
MINUTES
17
Resolved:
That the Minutes of the meeting of Rochdale Township Action and Resources
Delegated Sub-Committee held 5th July 2018 be approved and signed by the
Chair as a correct record.
BAMFORD AND OAKENROD AREA FORUM
18
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Bamford and Oakenrod Area Forum, held
4th June 2018, be noted.
BRIMROD, MARLAND AND SUDDEN AREA FORUM
19
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Brimrod, Marland and Sudden Area Forum,
held 31st May 2018, be noted.
SPOTLAND AND FALINGE AREA FORUM
20
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Spotland and Falinge Area Forum held 23rd
August 2018, be noted.
MILKSTONE AND DEEPLISH AREA FORUM
21
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Milkstone and Deeplish Area Forum held
13th August 2018, be noted.

Page 10

CENTRAL ROCHDALE AREA FORUM
22
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Central Rochdale Area Forum held 6th
August 2018, be noted.
BALDERSTONE AND KIRKHOLT COMMUNITY MEETING
23
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Balderstone and Kirkholt Community
Meeting held 18th September 2018, be noted.
NORDEN AREA FORUM
24
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Norden Area Forum held 11th September
2018, be noted.
HEALEY AREA FORUM
25
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Healey Area Forum held 13th September
2018, be noted.
KINGSWAY AREA FORUM
26
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Kingsway Area Forum held 20th September
2018, be noted.
CASTLETON AREA FORUM
27
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Castleton Area Forum held 4th September
2018, be noted.
ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP COMMUNITIES AND ENGAGEMENT PRIORITY
GROUP
28
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Rochdale Township Communities and
Engagement Priority Group held, 26th September 2018, be noted.
ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP CLEAN AND GREEN PRIORITY GROUP
29
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of Rochdale Township Clean and Green
Priority Group held, 30th July 2018, be noted.
ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP FUNDS 2018/19
30
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Director of
Neighbourhoods updating Members on the revenue and capital expenditure
commitments and balances of Rochdale Township Fund 2018/2019, to enable
the Sub-Committee to allocate funds to proposed projects.
The Sub-Committee were asked to note the expenditure, commitments and
balances of Rochdale Township Funds 2018/19 as detailed in Appendices 1
and 2 of the submitted report, the decisions made under delegated authority

Page 11

as detailed at Appendix 3 to the submitted report and to consider and
approve, defer or refuse the allocation of funds to proposed projects detailed
in Appendix 4 of the submitted report. Members of the Rochdale Township
Action and Resources Delegated Sub-Committee were requested to note that
the Townships and Communities Manager had assessed all of the proposed
projects to be considered for funding against the criteria of eligibility for the
Rochdale Township Fund projects and any specific risks were identified within
the report.
In considering the funding applications the Sub-Committee received oral
representations from other Councillors and some of the applicant’s and/or
their representatives, who were in attendance at the meeting.
Alternatives considered - in considering the report, Members were asked to
Decide whether or not to approve the allocation of funds to projects/schemes
as appropriate.
Resolved:
1. That the expenditure, commitments and balances of the Rochdale
Township Funds 2017/18, as detailed in Appendices 1 and 2 of the submitted
report be noted;
2. That the decisions made under delegated authority as detailed in Appendix
3 of the submitted report be noted;
3. That the Townships and Communities Manager, in consultation with the
Chair, Vice Chair and opposition spokesperson of the Sub-Committee, be
given delegated authority to make decisions on any deferred projects;
4. That applications for Township Funds 2018/2019, (as outlined at Appendix
4 of the submitted report); and be dealt with as follows:Ref
RP/03/18
RP/05/18

TC/01/18
TC/08/18

Project name
Family Relationship and
Cultural Awareness
Chadwick Hall Road,
Ford
gardens
and
Yeoland
Close
Residents
Parking
Consultation

Decision
£3,077 approved from
the Projects Fund
The
application
for
funding be refused but
the
Townships
and
Communities Manager
in consultation with the
Chair, Vice Chair and
Opposition
Spokesperson
be
authorised to approve
additional funding to
widen the scope of the
proposed consultation
exercise to include all
affected streets and
local businesses
Hurst Street Parking The
application
for
Restrictions
funding be refused
Former Norden Bus £4,750 approved from

Page 12

TC/09/18

TC/10/18
TC/11/18
TC/12/18
TC/13/18

Terminus and Edenfield
Road Restrictions
Street Lighting in the
South Street, North
Street, East Street and
West Street quadrant
area
Uttley Street Waiting
Restrictions
Castlemere Street Area
Restrictions
Milkstone
Road
Restrictions
George Street/Norreys
Street Area Restrictions

Eligible for Call-in: Yes

Page 13

the Capital Fund
Consideration of this
application for funding
be deferred
Approve £3,500 from
the Capital Fund
The
application
for
funding be refused
Approve £7,000 from
the Capital Fund
Consideration of this
application for funding
be deferred

Agenda Item 9
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public Document

23 January 2019
Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development &
Housing
Sohida Banu

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan - Submission
Executive Summary
1.1

The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan has been submitted to the Council by
the qualifying body, Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum. The Local Planning
Authority is required, by The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations
2012, to make a decision whether the submitted documents meet the relevant
statutory requirements under regulation 15.

1.2

The submitted documents have been assessed against the relevant statutory
requirements, which derive from the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, and the Neighbourhood
Planning (General) Regulations 2012. This assessment has concluded that
the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to being formally
published by the Council and being submitted for examination under
Regulations 16 and 17 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations
2012.

2.1



2.2



Recommendation
To note the process for assessing the submitted draft neighbourhood plan
and make a decision whether they meet the relevant statutory
requirements under regulation 151.
To agree that the submitted Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan can
proceed to formal publication and be submitted for examination, including
making of arrangements for the holding of an examination by an appointed
examiner, under Regulations 16 and 17 of the Neighbourhood Planning
(General) Regulations 2012.
Reason for Recommendation

3.

1

Regulations 5 to 20 of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations
2012 set out the requirements for preparing a Neighbourhood Plan.

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012

Page 14

The requirement for the Local Planning Authority to make a decision at this
stage whether the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan meets various
requirements is contained in regulation 15 of The Neighbourhood Planning
(General) Regulations 2012.
Following which Regulation 16 requires that consultation is undertaken prior to
carrying out an examination into the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan.
Key Points for Consideration
4.1

Background

4.2

The Localism Act 2011 introduced the opportunity for local communities to
produce Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDPs), Neighbourhood
Development Orders and Community Right to Build Orders. NDPs allow
communities to shape development and growth in their local areas and form
part of the statutory development plan for the local planning authority once
‘made’, that is, once a draft neighbourhood plan reaches the point of coming in
to legal force.

4.3

In summary, in order for a draft NDP to come in to legal force, the draft plan
needs to have passed successfully through an independent examination
process, enough people need to have voted in favour of it at a referendum,
and there needs to be no legal reason requiring the local planning authority to
decline to bring the draft plan into effect at that final stage.

4.4

Stages so far
Stage 1 - completed
The first stage of preparing a NDP is the designation of a neighbourhood
forum and a neighbourhood area. Once a neighbourhood forum has been
designated by the local planning authority, the qualifying body can begin to
prepare a NDP.

4.5

Stage 2 - completed
Once the qualifying body has prepared a draft pre-submission NDP, the
neighbourhood forum must consult on the plan for a period of at least 6
weeks.

4.6

Stage 3 - Current
Following a review of the all the comments from the pre-submission
consultation, a revised neighbourhood plan will be prepared and submitted to
the local planning authority. The local planning authority must make a decision
whether it complies with the relevant statutory requirements before the draft
plan can progress to the next stages, which involve the draft plan being made
available for public comments (which is referred to as ‘publicising’ or
‘publication’) and being submitted to examination (which is an assessment of
the draft plan that is conducted by an independent examiner).

Page 15

4.7

A draft Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Development Plan has been formally
submitted to the Council by the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum. A
decision is required whether the submitted draft NDP should proceed to
publication and submission to examination.

4.8

When a neighbourhood plan is submitted to the local planning authority, it
must include—
(a) a map or statement which identifies the area to which the proposed
neighbourhood development plan relates (Appendix 1);
(b) a consultation statement which explains and demonstrates how
engagement with the community and others shaped the development of the
plan (Appendix 2);
(c) the proposed neighbourhood development plan (Members Lounge)
(Appendix 3; and
(d) a statement explaining how the proposed neighbourhood plan meets the
requirements (Appendix 4) – the basic conditions and other tests, including an
Equality Impact Assessment (Appendix 5) – The basic conditions are that
neighbourhood plans must:





have regard to national policies and guidance such as the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Practice
Guidance (NPPG),
be in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the
development plan (Local Plan)
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development, and
comply with EU obligations and human rights legislation.

(e) a screening opinion confirming that the plan proposal is unlikely to have
significant environmental effects (Appendix 6);
(f) a screening opinion confirming that the plan proposal is unlikely to have
significant effects on a European site or European offshore marine site or the
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004
(Appendix 6.
In Officers view it is considered the current submission meets the above
minimum legal requirements – see compliance checklist appended to the
report below.
Next Steps
If approved for publication, it is proposed that the draft Neighbourhood Plan
and associated documents will be publicised for consultation over a period of
six weeks to start as soon as possible following approval.
The Council will publicise on the website and in any other ways considered
appropriate including making a copy available at Rochdale and Spotland
Libraries. Various consultation bodies also need to be notified that the draft
plan has been formally submitted. Details of how to make representations and
the date by which those representations must be received will also be
publicised.

Page 16

The local planning authority will collate any representations received, as these
will need to be made available to the independent person who is appointed in
due course to conduct the examination of the draft plan. The local planning
authority is itself entitled to submit representations about the draft plan as part
of this process.
Once all the comments have been considered, the examiner will recommend,
any changes or modifications to be included within the final Neighbourhood
Plan document.
Alternatives considered
A Neighbourhood Plan is optional and is produced by the local community,
therefore, the questions for communities to consider are the time and resource
needed to develop a Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) as opposed to
seeking an alternative policy tool instead.

Costs and Budget Summary
5.1

The cost to the Council is made up of officer time, the examination and the
organisation and delivery of the referendum.

5.2

It is not possible to precisely estimate the cost that likely to be incurred by a
local planning authority to support the preparation of a particular
Neighbourhood Plan. This is because the costs of the examination are linked
directly to its duration which will relate to the complexity of the Neighbourhood
Plan. Equally, the costs associated to the referendum will relate to the size of
the local community within the Neighbourhood Area.
Based upon experience elsewhere, the costs to a local planning authority
associated to the examination of a Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP)
for could be expected to be in the region of £5,000-£10,000 ((4 -11 days at
£750 a day + VAT).
Local Authorities are able to claim up to £20,000 Neighbourhood Planning
Grant upon successful completion of the NDP examination. This will pay for
costs that will be incurred in taking the NDP through to referendum.

Risk and Policy Implications
6.1

There are no specific risk issues for members to consider arising from this
report.
Consultation

Page 17

7.1

If the draft Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan is approved, the Council will
publicise and consult for a period of six weeks to begin as soon as possible.
During this time the application and supporting information will be published
on the Council’s website, and paper copies of the documents will be
available in Rochdale and Spotland Libraries.
Stakeholders on the Council’s planning policy database will be notified by
letter or email.
Background Papers

8.

Place of Inspection

Submission Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Plan

Members Lounge

Consultation Statement
Basic Conditions Statement
Map (included within report)
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood
Plan Submission: Legal
Compliance Checklist (included
within report)
Strategic Environmental
Assessment and Habitats
regulations Assessment
Screening Report
Equalities Impact Assessment
scoping pro-forma
For Further Information Contact:

Paul Moore, Head of Planning Services
paul.moore@rochdale.gov.uk
Sohida Banu, Planning Officer
Sohida.banu@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 18

January 2019
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan Submission: Legal Compliance Checklist

1. Receipt and
assessment of the
draft NDP by the
Council

Description

Tick

The draft plan includes:
a. a map or statement identifying the area to
which the plan relates



Page 19

b. the consultation statement – which contains
details of those consulted, how they were
consulted, summarises the main issues and
concerns raised and how these have been
considered, and where relevant addressed in
the proposed NDP

c. the proposed NDP
d. a statement explaining how the NDP meets
the ‘basic conditions’






Relevant
Legislation &
Regulations
Regulation 15
Para 8 Schedule 4B
to the 1990 Act

Comments
See map 1 within supporting documents - Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Area lies within the Spotland and Falinge Ward of
Rochdale borough. It is predominantly a rural area populated by
existing hamlets at Fern Hill, Smallshaw, Catley Lane Head and
Prickshaw and Broadley Fold.
A Consultation Statement has been submitted which contains a
concise account of the consultation events carried out prior to the
regulation 14 consultation. Details of the different techniques used are
provided, including bespoke meetings for individual community
groups and organisations, a survey distributed to all households in the
neighbourhood area and a consultation week held in March 2018. A
summary of the issues raised at all stages is included throughout the
consultation statement. A summary of the regulation 14 consultation
is set out at Page 21 of the consultation statement. Appendix H and I
of the Consultation Statement sets out the Regulation 14 Pre
Submission comments and Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forums
response to those comments.
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2028 Submission Plan
submitted (with supporting documents) on 6 December 2018.
The Basic Conditions Statement was submitted with the Plan on 6
December 2018.
At this stage the LPA is not required to consider whether the Plan
meets the basic conditions, only that a statement has been submitted.

The role of the independent examiner will include assessing whether
the Plan meets the basic conditions. It is after the examination has
taken place, following receipt of the examiner’s report, that the LPA
comes to a formal view on whether the Plan meets the basic
conditions.
e. Where appropriate, the information to
enable appropriate environmental assessments
if required or where it has been determined
that a plan proposal is unlikely to have
significant environmental effects, a statement
of reasons for the determination.

Page 20

2. Rochdale
Council’s
assessment
of the proposed
neighbourhood
plan




a. Is it a repeat plan proposal?



b. Is the parish / town council authorised to
act?



c. Do the proposal and accompanying
documents;
 comply with the rules for submission to the
LPA (1a-e)
 meet the ‘definition of a NDP’
 meet the ‘scope of NDP provisions’
Definition of a NDP = “is a plan which sets out
policies (however expressed) in relation to the
development and use of land in the whole or
any part of a particular neighbourhood area
specified in the plan.”



The Conservation
of Habitats and
Species
Regulations 2010
as amended by
Schedule 2 of the
Neighbourhood
Planning (General
Regulations) 2012.
i.e. Regs 102 &
102A
1990 Act Schedule
4B para 5 &
Regulation 18

Rochdale Council determined that Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan
is unlikely to have significant environmental effects.
The requirement for SEA was set out in the screening opinion issued
by Rochdale Council in September 2018. The scope of the SEA was
consulted on (by email to statutory authorities – Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment
(HRA) Screening Report) and responses taken into account in the
preparation of the draft SEA and has provided reasons for not
therefore requiring an SEA.
This is the first NDP proposal to be submitted for the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Area.
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum was established as the Qualifying
Body, responsible for the preparation of the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Plan (RMNP) when the Neighbourhood Area was
designated on 9 March 2016.

38 A and B
2004 Planning &
Compulsory
Purchase Act as
amended by the
Localism act
Section 38 A (2)
2004 Act Section
38B (1& 2) (4)

The RMNP contains 18 planning policies dealing with land use matters.
The time period for the ANDP is 10 years – 2018 - 2028, as stated on
the front cover.
The RMNP does not include policies on excluded development.
The RMNP contains policies which only relate to the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Area.



Scope of NDP provisions =
The NDP must specify the period for which it is
to have effect
 It cannot include provision about
development that is ‘excluded development’
 It cannot relate to more than one
neighbourhood area or repeat an existing
planning permission
d. Has the parish / town council undertaken the
correct procedure in relation to consultation
and publication.



Page 21

Rooley Moor neighbourhood Forum has undertaken consultation on
the RMNP in accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012, specifically Regulation 14 – pre-submission
consultation and publicity. Page 21 of the Consultation Statement sets
out details of the pre-submission consultation which was undertaken
in March 2018. During this time the draft RMNP was made available
via the Forums website. Copies of the plan were placed in different
parts of the community for people to review. A copy of the draft plan
was also sent to Rochdale Council and other consultation bodies as set
out in the Consultation Statement.

Page 22

Page 23

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Development Plan
Plan submitted as agreed at RMNF Trustee Meeting
7th June 2018
Revised 29th November 2018 to reflect the
National Planning Policy Framework - July 2018

Prepared by Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum
2018

Page 24

FOREWORD
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area is a great place with a unique
heritage and a vibrant future. Investment and change in the years
ahead will only be worthwhile if it makes a real difference to the lives
of local people and the future of our community.
Members of Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum (RMNF), with the
support of Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC), are
leading the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan. It started back in May
2015 when people in the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area wanted
to have a say in all aspects of the future of the area in which they live,
most importantly local people wanted to decide how the area should
be developed rather than leaving the decision solely to RMBC.
RMNF’s Neighbourhood Plan sets out a vision for the area that
reflects the thoughts and feelings of local people who have a real
interest in their community. The Plan sets objectives on key themes
such as housing, heritage, conservation, development, green spaces,
environment, countryside management, farming, recreation,
employment, accessibility, transport and visitors. It builds on current
and planned activities and says what RMNF and its partners will work
towards.
RMNF is committed to developing and strengthening the contacts and
groups that have evolved as a result of the Neighbourhood Planning
process. It believes that by working together to implement the Plan
we will make the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area an even better
place to live, work and enjoy.

- Andy Meek, Chair, Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum

Page 25

2

CONTENTS
1.

INTRODUCTION

7

Structure of the Plan
Status of the Neighbourhood Plan
Role and Purpose of the Neighbourhood Plan
Role of the Forum

2.

3.

THE PLAN PROCESS

11

Early Consultation
Mid-stage Consultation and Engagement
Evidence Base
Current Stage – the Draft Plan
Next Stages
Relationship to other planning documents

11
11
11
12
12
13

NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA PROFILE

15

Location
Area and Population
Demographic, Social and Economic Statistics
Community Facilities and Public Amenities
Transport and Accessibility
Agriculture, Farms and Businesses
Some History
Built Heritage and Architectural Character
Listed Buildings
Conservation Areas
Prickshaw and Broadley Fold Conservation Area
Catley Lane Head Conservation Area
Other Heritage Features
Rooley Moor Road also known as the ‘Cotton Famine Road’
Fern Hill hamlet
Natural Heritage and Environment
Wildlife and Habitats
Healey Dell Site of Biological Importance and Local Nature Reserve
Wider Landscape
Water, Flooding
Leisure and Recreation
The fishing ponds at Catley Lane Head
Healey Dell
Bridleways and Paths

4.

7
8
8
9

VISION AND OBJECTIVES

15
16
17
17
17
18
18
21
21
21
21
21
22
22
22
22
22
23
23
24
24
24
24
24

25

Our Vision for Rooley Moor
Our Plan Objectives

25
25

Page 26

3

5.

PLAN POLICIES

27

Introduction
1. Housing in the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area
Housing
Policy HO1 – Residential Development
2. Maintaining Local Identity and Improving the Quality of New Development
Design
Policy D1 – Design
Conversion and Re-Use of Rural Buildings
Policy D2 – Conversion and Re-use of Rural Buildings
Protecting Character and Identity
Policy D3 – Character Areas and Important Views
3. Safeguarding Heritage Assets
Heritage Assets
Policy HE1 – Protection of Heritage Assets
4. Supporting the Rural Economy
Policy RE1 - Farm Diversification
5. Promoting Recreational Activities
Areas of Recreational Focus
Policy R1 - Areas of Recreational Focus
Recreational Routes
Policy R2 – Key Recreational Routes
Equestrian Development
Policy R3 - Equestrian Development
6. Encouraging and Managing Visitors
Visitor Facilities
Policy V1 – Visitor Facilities
Policy V2 - Overnight Visitor Accommodation
7. Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Quality and Biodiversity
Landscape Protection
Policy LB1 - Landscape Protection and Enhancement
Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
Policy LB2 - Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
Sites of Wildlife Importance
Policy LB3 - Sites of Wildlife Importance
8. Protecting our Environment
Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
Policy E1 – Energy Efficiency and Renewable / Low Carbon Energy
Policy E2 - Wind Turbines
Light Pollution
Policy E3 - Light Pollution
Minerals and Waste Matters, including Fracking
9. Traffic Impact
Policy T1 - Traffic Impact

Page 27

27
28
28
28
30
30
30
31
31
33
33
35
35
35
38
38
39
39
39
40
40
41
42
44
44
44
45
46
46
46
48
48
49
49
51
51
51
52
53
53
53
54
54

4

6.

PROPOSALS MAP

57

7.

DELIVERY AND IMPLEMENTATION, MONITORING AND REVIEW

59

Implementing the Plan
The role of the Neighbourhood Forum
Control of New Development
Built Heritage and Local Character
Local Facilities
Recreational Assets
Rural Economy
Traffic and Accessibility
Landscape and Environment:
Promotion of the Area:
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Reviewing the Plan

8.

59
62
62
62
62
62
62
62
62
62
62
63

ACTION PLAN

64

APPENDIX 1 - EVIDENCE AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
National and Local Planning Guidance
Consultation and Engagement
Research, Reports and Studies
Other Plans and Strategies

69
69
70
70
71

APPENDIX 2 - AREA PROFILE MAPS

72

APPENDIX 3 - CHARACTER AREAS AND IMPORTANT VIEWS

79

CHARACTER AREAS
IMPORTANT VIEWS

81
83

APPENDIX 4 - GLOSSARY

86

APPENDIX 5 - ADDENDUM

89

Page 28

5

FIGURES / MAPS / TABLES
FIGURE 1. KEY STAGES IN THE PREPARATION OF THE PLAN
FIGURE 2. DOCUMENTS THAT MAKE UP THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
FIGURE 3 - ROOLEY MOOR NEIGHBOURHOOD ARE IN CONTEXT
FIGURE 4 - ROOLEY MOOR NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA BOUNDARY
FIGURE 5 - HISTORIC MAPS
FIGURE 6 – LANDSCAPE CATEGORIES
FIGURE 7 – MAP OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES
FIGURE 8 – MAP SHOWING ACCESSIBILITY
FIGURE 9 – MAP OF DEFINITIVE RIGHTS OF WAY
FIGURE 10 – AGRICULTURAL LAND CLASSIFICATION MAP
FIGURE 11 - MAP SHOWING CONSERVATION AREAS AND LISTED BUILDINGS
FIGURE 12 – MAP SHOWING HEALEY DELL SITE OF BIOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE (SBI) AND LOCAL NATURE
RESERVE (LNR)
FIGURE 13 – MAP SHOWING WATER NETWORKS AND FLOOD ZONES
A - COTTON FAMINE ROAD
B - FERN HILL HAMLET
C - CATLEY LANE HEAD CONSERVATION AREA
D - HEALEY DELL NATURE RESERVE
E - PRICKSHAW AND BROADLEY FOLD CONSERVATION AREA
1 - VIEW OF FISHING LAKE LOOKING SOUTH EAST FROM SMALLSHAW ROAD
2 - VIEW OF THE MAIN FISHING SPOT NEXT TO SMALLSHAW FARM
3 - VIEW LOOKING EAST TO PRICKSHAW FROM THE DISUSED CAT STONES QUARRY
4 - VIEW LOOKING SOUTH FROM FERN HILL
5 - VIEWS EAST TOWARDS HUNGER HILL FROM WOODHOUSE LANE
6 - VIEW FROM MOORLAND EDGE OF ROOLEY MOOR ROAD LOOKING SOUTH
7 - VIEW OF ROOLEY MOOR ROAD LOOKING NORTH TO MOORLAND EDGE
8 - VIEW OF HEALEY DELL VIADUCT FROM THE RIVER SPODEN FOOTPATH IN DUNISHBOOTH WOOD
9 - VIEW WEST FROM JUNCTION OF KNACKS LANE AND ROOLEY MOOR ROAD

Page 29

13
14
15
16
20
47
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
81
81
81
82
82
83
83
83
84
84
84
84
85
85

6

1. INTRODUCTION
This is our draft plan for the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area in Rochdale Metropolitan Borough.
It has been prepared by the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum on behalf of the Rooley Moor
community in consultation with the Council, statutory organisations, businesses, other stakeholders,
landowners, local businesses, local residents and visitors. It will cover the period up until 2028.
The Plan area covers the predominantly rural area to the north of Caldershaw, Norden and Rooley
Moor Road. It includes the small hamlets of Fern Hill Smallshaw, Catley Lane Head, Shawfield and
Prickshaw & Broadley Fold. (see Fig 4)
The Plan sets out:
•
•
•

our Vision for what we want the Rooley Moor neighbourhood area to be like in 2028,
our Plan’s Key Objectives, and
our Policies which will guide and control the use and development of land in the area over
the next 10 years.

The Plan is a statutory document and will, when adopted, form part of the Borough’s Local
Development Plan. (See Chapter 2 for documents that make up the Local Development Plan.) The
Neighbourhood Plan’s policies will therefore be used to make decisions on planning applications in
the neighbourhood area. It will address the community’s local planning priorities for the area,
promote positive change and investment and promote conservation and improvements in the area.
The scale of change planned for in the neighbourhood area is very modest given its rural, green belt
location and the limited opportunities for development. However the community acknowledges that
some change is necessary and that it should be carefully controlled for benefit the local community,
users of the area and the borough as a whole. A key focus of the plan will be on conservation and
promoting appropriate recreation.

Structure of the Plan
The Plan is in 6 main parts or chapters.
Chapter 1 provides an Introduction and explains the Plan’s status and its role.
Chapter 2 provides information about the Plan process, the key stages in preparing the plan and
about consultation already carried out.
Chapter 3 provides a descriptive profile of the area and the key issues and opportunities which the
Plan seeks to address.
Chapter 4 sets out our Vision and Objectives for the area.
Chapter 5 contains the policies to help realise our vision and meet our objectives.
Chapter 6 explains how the plan will be delivered and monitored.
Appendix 1 lists the evidence base underpinning the Plan
Appendix 2 includes Maps to accompany the Neighbourhood Area Profile
Appendix 3 shows photographs of ‘Character Areas’ and Important Views
Appendix 4 is a Glossary of the terms used in the Plan

Page 30

7

Status of the Neighbourhood Plan
The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan (‘the Plan’) is produced by the Neighbourhood Forum under
the Localism Act 2011 and the associated Regulations. The Act introduced new rights and powers to
allow local communities to shape new development in their community by preparing a
Neighbourhood Development Plan, which can establish general planning policies for the
development and use of land in the neighbourhood. This document is therefore a Neighbourhood
Development Plan as defined in the Act and as a statutory plan it forms part of the land-use planning
system. As such it must be prepared in accordance with planning law.
The Plan is being prepared by the Rooley Moor Neigbourhood Forum, which is a qualifying body as
defined by the Localism Act 2011. (see Role of the Forum below).
Following consultation on this draft version, a final version will be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority for a statutory period of consultation.

Role and Purpose of the Neighbourhood Plan
The purpose of the Plan is to provide a community led framework to guide, promote and control the
future use and development of land including changes of use and the management of land and
buildings. It also deals with the conservation of the built and natural heritage and can promote
improvements and investment in the area (e.g landscape and access improvements). Its policies will
be used to make decisions on planning applications and to promote improvements in the area.
The written policies are accompanied by a proposals map which shows how policies will be applied
to sites and areas.
The neighbourhood plan seeks to deliver sustainable development in the area and its preparation
must meet certain ‘basic conditions’. These are that the Plan must:
•
•
•
•

generally conform with the strategic policies of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy;
have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance provided by the Secretary
of State;
contribute to achieving sustainable development; and
be compatible with European Union (EU) law and human rights obligations.

In particular, its policies must be in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF),
the saved policies of the Borough Unitary Development Plan and the policies of the Council’s Local
Plan ‘Core Strategy’ adopted in October 2016. The Neighbourhood Plan aims to add further ‘local’
detail and show how the strategic policies and the development management policies of the
Rochdale Core Strategy should be applied to meet Rooley Moor’s needs and aspirations. Those
topics and issues that the Plan seeks to address through its policies have been determined by the
local community in consultation with other stakeholders and organisations.
The key stages in the processes are set out in Chapter 2.

Page 31

8

Role of the Forum
The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum was set up in February 2106 as a Charitable Incorporated
Organisation (CIO). It was created to “protect and enhance our neighbourhood and to make it an
area that is vibrant, socially inclusive, and generally the greenest, safest place to live, work and play
that it can possibly be”.
Its key objectives are to:
•
•
•

promote high standards of planning and architecture;
educate the public in the geography, history, natural history, culture and architecture; and
secure the preservation, protection, development and improvement of features or areas of
historic or public interest.

The neighbourhood forum currently comprises 40 members (volunteers) including residents and
businesses, a ward Councillor, regular visitors and organisations using the area for riding and
walking. Therefore, they represent the diverse interests and backgrounds of the neighbourhood.
The decision was made by the Neighbourhood Forum to prepare a Neighbourhood Development
Plan for Rooley Moor in 2015. It established a Neighbourhood Plan Group that includes
representatives of a range of organisations and others willing to assist with the project and with
some relevant expertise to offer.

Page 32

9

Page 33

10

2. THE PLAN PROCESS
Early Consultation
It is a legal requirement that publicity and consultation is carried out before plans are submitted to
the Secretary of State for independent examination. Early engagement was undertaken to gather
information and identify key issues and themes.
Following the designation of the Neighbourhood Area and the establishment of the Forum, initial
publicity was carried out locally using the Forum website, leaflets, press publicity, and events in the
local area, including TV coverage. Early consultation sought the views of those who live, work and
visit the area about what they liked and didn’t like about the area and what improvements they
would like to make or what opportunities should be grasped in planning the future of the area. The
results of this initial consultation were used to devise a more detailed Questionnaire aimed at
exploring specific topics and seeking views on options for addressing the future planning of the area.

Mid-stage Consultation and Engagement
The Forum was keen to gather public opinion on key topics in order to define the key issues and
priorities and to assess options for tackling those issues. A detailed Questionnaire was considered
the best way to proceed before formulating policies.
Consultation using the Questionnaire was carried out between 29th May and 30th June 2017.
The questionnaire was posted to 99 Addresses in Area and 15 Forum members who live outside the
area. The questionnaire was also shared with 60 statutory consultees and stakeholder organisations
with an interest in the area. In total 228 questionnaires were delivered to 99 addresses in the area.
The Questionnaire included 19 questions and asked respondents to rank up to 13 alternative
answers/options for each question and to illustrate their responses with written comments if they
wished.
The results of the consultation have been analysed and have been used to produce this draft plan.

Evidence Base
Consultation has also helped to identify what further information is needed to support the plan’s
policies. This is important because a robust evidence base is essential for the Plan to be approved.
A significant amount of information is already available in the form of published information and
studies and the Forum has used these to inform the Plan. The Forum has also sought to obtain
specific information and advice from businesses, agencies, organisations as part of exploring issues,
opportunities and drafting policies. The evidence base and supporting information is listed in
Appendix 1. Evidence on how consultation was carried out is available through the ‘Consultation
Statement’ (published alongside this Draft Plan) and the results of the consultation exercise carried
out around the community Questionnaire are detailed in the ‘Community Questionnaire Report and
Analysis, August 2017’, also published with the Draft Plan.

Page 34

11

Current Stage – the Draft Plan
The Neighbourhood Planning Regulations (Regulation 14) require that the draft plan be the subject
of a six-week consultation. This is the current stage. Once the consultation stage on this presubmission consultation draft is completed, the Forum, in consultation with the Council will consider
the representations received and decide whether to amend the Plan.

Next Stages
Following the making of any amendments, the plan will be submitted to the Local Planning Authority
(Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council). The Local Planning Authority is responsible for publicising
the Plan for another six weeks and arranging for an independent examination.
The examination is an independent check carried out by an Inspector appointed by government. If
certain ‘basic conditions’ are met, the Plan can go to a local ‘Referendum’ for approval. If 50% or
more of those who vote support the Plan it can be declared ‘made’ and becomes part of the
statutory Local Plan and a basis for the determination of all planning applications and appeals.
The plan preparation involves a lot of work and statutory procedures and therefore it is not likely to
be made until late 2018.
The diagram below shows the key stages in the preparation of the Plan and the arrow indicates the
current stage.

Page 35

12

Figure 1. Key stages in the preparation of the Plan

6.
Plan Made

5. Referendum
4. Independent Check
3. Preparing the Plan
2. Initial Consultation and Publicity
1. Agreeing the Neighbourhood

Relationship to other planning documents
The Forum has sought to ensure that the Plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies of
the Rochdale Local Plan and has regard to national planning policy. The diagram below shows the
documents that make up the Local Plan and the relationship with the Neighbourhood Plan.
The timetable for the Plan can be seen on http://www.rmnf.org.uk
The development plan documents (or DPDs for short) that make up the Local Plan can be seen in the
diagram below.

Page 36

13

Figure 2. Documents that make up the Local Development Plan

National Planning
Policy Framework

Greater
Manchester
Joint
Minerals and
Waste Plans

Core Strategy
DPD

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood
Plan

Site Allocations
DPD

Other
Development
Plan
Documents

The ‘National Planning Policy Framework’ (or NPPF for short), published in July 2018 sets out the
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. This does not
form part of the Local Development Plan but will set the framework for local plan policies.
The ‘Core Strategy’ is the development plan document (DPD) that sets out the long term strategic
spatial strategy for development in Rochdale Borough. It also includes a range of policies to manage
development. The Core Strategy was adopted in October 2016.
The ‘Allocations DPD’ is the plan document that, when adopted, will identify development sites and
boundaries for specific proposals on an ordnance survey map and provide more detailed policy
guidance where appropriate.
Note: The Neighbourhood Plan does not contain site specific allocations for new development (e.g.
housing sites) consistent with the green belt status of the area. However, it does identify those
areas where policies to manage development proposals and conservation will apply.
The ‘Greater Manchester Joint Waste Plan’ and the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan’ were
adopted in 2012 and 2013 respectively.
‘Other Development Plan Documents’ may be prepared as and when necessary and these may
include other Neighbourhood Plans.
To support Local Plan Documents, ‘Supplementary Planning Documents will provide topic and/or
area-based guidance on how policies should be implemented. A number of these have already been
prepared and will apply within the Plan area.

Page 37

14

3. NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA PROFILE
Location
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area lies within the Spotland and Falinge Ward of Rochdale
metropolitan borough. It is predominantly a rural area populated by existing hamlets at Fern Hill,
Smallshaw, Catley Lane Head and Prickshaw and Broadley Fold. The area lies approximately two
miles to the North and North West of Rochdale town centre. The built up areas of Caldershaw,
Norden and Rooley Moor lie to the south. The area also includes part of the Cotton Famine Road
and part of Healy Dell Nature Reserve and the Broadley Fold and Prickshaw conservation area.
Figure 3 below shows the location of the Neighbourhood Area and Figure 4 is a more detailed map
of the Neighbourhood Area boundary.

Figure 3 - Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Are in context

Page 38

15

Figure 4 - Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area boundary

Area and Population
The neighbourhood area covers 306 hectares.
Population figures in the 2011 census demonstrate that the usual resident population of Rooley
Moor was approximately 200 in 96 households.

Page 39

16

Demographic, Social and Economic Statistics
Statistical information from the 2011 Census is not available specifically for the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Area. Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) are the smallest geographic areas used in
area based statistical information from the 2011 Census. There are 135 LSOAs in Rochdale Borough,
each containing approximately 1,500 people. The population of the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood
Area is approximately 200 and therefore any statistical analysis or interpretation will be significantly
skewed by statistics contained in the LSOA that includes Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area (i.e.
E01005488). This LSOA includes a large housing estate to the south and therefore the statistics are
more representative of the make-up of that area, rather than the sparsely populated
Neighbourhood Area. Therefore it would not be helpful to reproduce those statistics here as a
significant consideration in planning for the future of the area.
It is likely though that the Neighbourhood Area will have which will have a lower percentage (and
possibly lower than the Borough or national average) of:
•
•
•

one family couples or lone parent families with children
one person households
0 – 29 year olds.

Reliable information about housing tenure and house type within the Neighbourhood Area is not
readily available, nor is information about health and disability, and other social and economic
indicators. However, the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 shows that the Neighbourhood
Area falls within a wider area classified as one of the least most deprived areas in the borough based
on seven domains of deprivation. These area; Income Deprivation, Employment Deprivation,
Education, Skills and Training Deprivation, Health Deprivation and Disability, Crime, Barriers to
Housing and Services, and Living Environment Deprivation. (Source: Mapping GM)

Community Facilities and Public Amenities
Due to the rural nature of the area, community facilities serving the area’s residents are
concentrated in the nearby urban area to the south. There is a range of essential facilities within 2
km of the neighbourhood area including a number of local primary schools, nurseries, doctors’
surgeries and dentists and a Library. Residents in the Neighbourhood area have not indicated a
significant lack of accessible facilities. See Figure 5.

Transport and Accessibility
The local road network, cycle routes and bus stops are shown on FIG 6 Accessibility. All definitive
rights of way are shown on Figure 7.
The only classified road providing access to the neighbourhood area is Rooley Moor Road. Public
transport access to the area is limited to the 467 bus service to Daniel Fold, which is just off Rooley
Moor Road and requires a short walk to the village of Catley lane Head.
Many lanes, which provide access to homes and farms, are in poor condition and require regular
makeshift repairs to maintain access.

Page 40

17

Agriculture, Farms and Businesses
Agricultural land in the area is grade 4 on the lower slopes and grade 5 on the higher moorland.
(Grades 1 and 2 are classed as the most versatile). See Figure 8 ‘Neighbourhood Area Profile Map –
Agricultural Land Classification’. Therefore the farmland is of poor quality in agricultural terms and
farming activity is at a marginal viable level and restricted to grazing. It is also why
farmers/landowners are under pressure to diversify activities (e.g. equestrian activities). As the area
falls within the Less Favoured Area (a European Union designation to support farming where
production conditions are difficult).
Most farm businesses are involved in a variety of other businesses uses such is the marginal nature
of viable agricultural activities in the area. Overnight accommodation in the area is limited to Fern
Hill B and B which includes 10 rooms.
The number of registered businesses linked to addresses in the Neighbourhood Area is given below.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Agricultural (2)
Equestrian and Leisure (2)
Building and Construction (5)
Logistics / Transport (2)
Overnight Accommodation (1)
Engineering (4)
Legal / Financial (2)
Travel (1)

Some History
In the Medieval period, Rooley Moor lay within the ancient township of Spotland. In 13th Century, a
route across the moors to Whalley Abbey was established, and became Catley Lane.
The first reference to buildings in the area was in 1560-61. There are also records of houses in
Shawfield by 1630, occupied by Arthur Clegge and Christopher Belfield, at Prickshaw by 1623 and in
Woodhouse Lane by 1702.
The woollen industry grew dramatically in the 16th and 17th centuries and many farming families in
the area supplemented their income with wool spinning and weaving. Houses were fitted with long
ranges of mullioned windows on the first floor to provide better light for weaving textiles.
Rooley Moor got its present name in the 18th century when Mr Rowley, later corrupted to Rooley,
settled on what was to become the site of the Old Moorcock Inn. University of Manchester
Archaeological Unit (UMAU) surmises that this referred to the stretch of Rooley Moor Road from
Spodden Brook, 2km to the south-east of Catley Lane Head, to the area currently known as ‘Top of
Leach’ near the highest point of the moor. Like many roads at the time, the upkeep of Rooley Moor
Road fell to the local inhabitants of the area who had to supply all materials and labour. The
Lancashire County Quarter Sessions records local people being required to pay a levy for
maintenance of Woodhouse Lane by 1746 and Rooley Moor Road again in 1767.
Both roads are shown on Yates map of 1786, leading from Spotland over the moors to the
Rossendale and Rawtenstall area. This map also shows buildings in what is now called Catley Lane
Head, Fern Hill Farm and probably Brown Hill Farm and Harper Road Farm. It also appears to show
Smallshaw Farm as well as Knacks Farm and Prickshaw to the north-east. The hamlet of Shawfield
and Bankhouse Farm are also shown as are Woodhouse Farm and other buildings up Woodhouse
Lane. There are also watermills and scattered coal pits, showing that coal mining was developing in
the area. Prickshaw appears to have developed in the late 18th and early 19th centuries with a small

Page 41

18

agricultural and textile community. Most of the surviving built structures in the settlement date from
this period although there is a re-used date stone (IB 1679) at Croft Head.
By the mid-18th century, Methodism was growing in the area and John Wesley is said to have
preached from the staircase at Bank House in April 1752. Methodism grew in the area and Blomley’s
Barn, on the left side of Woodhouse Lane, was requisitioned for regular services, holding over 50
people. Services were also held in rooms in cottages in Catley Lane Head or outside at the bottom of
the moor.
During the 19th century, cotton mills were built, including Broadley Wood Mill and Healey Hall
Bottoms (which converted from flannel production) near to Prickshaw and at Smallshaw Farm by
members of the Tweedale family, providing employment to many local people. A water-powered
Waste Mill is shown on the 1818 Greenwood map on Knacks Lane, near Prickshaw. A setted road
replaced what appears to have been an earlier simple track south from Prickshaw to the river.
The character of the moorland changed from a rural upland to a more industrial landscape as
gritstone quarrying and coal mining proliferated in the area. Improvements were made to Catley
Lane in 1818 and a new turnpike road opened at Norden. Ding Quarry appears on maps by the early
1840s and, by 1850, there were a further eight quarries along Rooley Moor Road, with more
developing during the 19th and early 20th centuries. Collieries included Rooley Moor Colliery,
another at the bottom of Hunger Hill and others towards the south east of Rooley Moor. There was
also a stone crushing plant alongside a siding on the railway by 1893.
The 1851 Ordnance Survey map is the first to show the area in any detail and shows the level of
industrial development in what had been an agricultural landscape, with large mill developments in
the valleys on either side and many scattered quarries and coal pits. It also shows the routes of
Rooley Moor Road and Woodhouse Lane in detail, two pubs in Catley Lane Head, the Moor Cock and
the Black Dog, with Fair View to the south, the mill at Smallshaw, Syke Bank (now derelict), Knacks
and Dunishbooth Farms towards Prickshaw and Hunger Hill Hall to the south-west towards Bank
House and White Lees.
By the mid-19th century, the cotton mills of North West of England were heavily dependent on raw
cotton grown by slaves in the southern states of the USA. The American Civil War broke out in an
attempt to abolish slavery and Abraham Lincoln blockaded the southern ports to prevent the export
of cotton. This lead to the ‘Cotton Famine’ of 1862-1863 which was a time of great hardship to both
mill owners, who recorded losses of around £30m, and to mill workers who were dependant on the
industry. The Cotton Famine left many of these workers unemployed and their families starving.
However, there was great support across Lancashire and particularly in Rochdale for the abolition of
slavery. Lancashire mill workers sent a letter of support to Abraham Lincoln in 1862 and he replied
personally, acknowledging the hardships the people had had to suffer. Local councils including
Rochdale organised their own ‘Cotton Famine Relief Funds’ to alleviate the suffering of unemployed
mill workers. By March 1863, ‘outdoor relief’ was being given to 19,374 people and, with many other
workers on short time, local action was not enough. Later that year, the Public Works Manufacturing
Districts) Act was passed allowing the town’s Board of Guardians to borrow money at a low-interest
rate to create projects in areas of high unemployment. One such project was for ‘improvements to
Catley Lane’ for which £500 was borrowed; this may be where the local styling of the ‘Cotton Famine
Road’ originated. In February 1864, the Board of Guardians had hoped to borrow twice that amount
and construction work was interrupted but had re-started by May with 25 men employed at Catley
Lane and at another project to build a workhouse at Marland.
Many of the quarries, coal mines and smaller mills fell out of use in the late 19th century and the
area around Rooley Moor Road fell into decline. Smallshaw Mill was last listed in directories in 1873.
New turnpike roads linking Bacup/Whitworth Road and Rawtenstall/Edenfield were built with easier
gradients for transporting large loads. However, a railway station was opened at Broadley, shown on

Page 42

19

the 1890 map as a platform with a signal post at the south end; a station building was added by
1908.
By the 1950s, much of Prickshaw was unoccupied and the settlement fell into disuse but, in 1993, a
sensitive restoration scheme led to Prickshaw being brought back into use. The scheme received
several awards, including Rochdale Council’s Environment Week Award (1993), The Rochdale Civic
Society Award (1993) and a Civic Trust Award (1993).
In around 1980, improvements were carried out at Fern Hill to bring the oldest part of the fold back
into use. The Council also carried out improvements to Rooley Moor Road and constructed a bus
turning circle just to the north of Catley Lane Head.
During the 20th and early 21st centuries, there has been further development in some areas but loss
of buildings in others. New buildings have been constructed at Woodhouse Fold Farm and Top of
Croft but Tweedale, Blomleys Barn, Hill Top and Greenbooth have gone.
Brown Hill was two cottages and is now one house and Doldrum Farm has been re-built. In Catley
Lane Head, there have been new buildings at Fern Hill and at Brown Hill Farm but Kit Booth has gone
as have two cottages opposite Fair View. The Methodist Church was demolished in around 1960 and
many cottages and the Black Dog have gone from the east side of the road in the centre of the
hamlet. The central building from Syke Bank has been demolished. Number 25 Smallshaw Road has
been constructed on the north side of the road. There have been new buildings at Knacks Farm, the
Waste Mill further north along Knacks Lane is used for residential and stabling purposes and Spring
Mill Print Works has gone.
The sites of Broadley Mill and Broadley Wood Mill are protected by the Healey Dell Nature Reserve
and Desk-Based Assessments by UMAU cover the history of these sites.
Figure 5 - Historic Maps

Page 43

20

Built Heritage and Architectural Character
Architectural character makes a significant contribution to the charm and identity of the Rooley
Moor Area. Buildings, walls, fishing ponds and the upland moors all help to define public areas,
which are attractive features within the local environment.
The area currently contains two conservation areas and 4 listed buildings. (See Figure 10)

Listed Buildings
Status

Building

Location

Grade 2

Prickshaw Cottages

Prickshaw Lane

Grade 2

Smallshaw Farmhouse

Smallshaw Road

Grade 2

Fern Hill First Farmhouse

Fern Hill Lane

Grade 2

Fern Hill Cottage

Fern Hill Lane

Further details can be found on:
http://www.english-heritage.org.uk/professional/protection/process/national-heritage-list-forengland/

Conservation Areas
Prickshaw and Broadley Fold Conservation Area

This historic Pennines hamlet lies on a relatively gentle southwest incline, surrounded by open,
uncluttered moorland. Access to the conservation area is via three principle routes: Prickshaw Lane
from the North, Station Road from the East and Knacks Lane from the south. The Pennine Bridleway
runs through the area.
The character of the settlement is largely a result of its historic development as a textile community
of the late 18th. Its character is typified by its vernacular architecture and materials as well as it’s
rural setting. This applies not only to the restored textile buildings themselves, but also to the
winding stone sett road, around which the settlement has developed over time. Today, the hamlet is
in relatively good condition, with all of its buildings sensitively restored and in residential use.

Catley Lane Head Conservation Area

The area is described as “a unique example of an historic Pennine hamlet”. It dates back to the 13th
century and includes one listed building. Catley Lane Head demonstrates vernacular architecture,
which reflects the historic industries along the line of historic routes. The evolution of the hamlet is
still evident in the built environment and landscape, including mill ponds and farmland. The general
character of the Conservation Area is typified by its use of vernacular architecture and materials and
its rural setting. This applies not only to the restored textile buildings themselves, but also to the
historic Cotton Famine Road. The plan form of the settlement seen today is a direct result of this
relationship between the development of industry in the area and built environment, with mill
ponds forming a focal point of the hamlet. Critical to its integrity are views from the Conservation
Area from within and views of the Conservation Area from outside its boundary. The conservation
area includes Brownhill Farm in the south, the listed Smallshaw Farm in the east, a significant section
of Rooley Moor Road up to Knacks Lane in the northwest and there are good views to the north and
west. The conservation area also includes three ponds, a stream, features such as setted roads and

Page 44

21

dry stone walls, and a number of vernacular houses. Catley Lane Head is the gateway to Rooley
Moor and a focus for those visiting the area.

Other Heritage Features
Other heritage features include The Cotton Famine Road - a predominant feature of the Catley Lane
Head Conservation Area and of the moorland landscape to the north, and Fern Hill hamlet which
includes two listed buildings.

Rooley Moor Road also known as the ‘Cotton Famine Road’

The road forms is a former pack horse route and comprises a long setted section of Rooley Moor
Road with stone kerbs and drainage channels at the sides. It is a historically important route from
the Roch Valley to the Irwell Valley in Rossendale and is a significant landscape feature, conspicuous
from a distance. A significant section of this former packhorse route was improved or rebuilt by the
mill workers of Rochdale who supported the civic rights of the slaves in the USA during the American
Civil War’. The varying sett sizes and laying styles seen along the length of the route suggests that
some areas predate the proliferation of quarries along its length in the late 18th and [early 19th]
centuries, while others were rebuilt or strengthened in order to carry the weight of grit stone being
carried to Rochdale and other towns. As such, the Cotton Famine Road constitutes an important
part of both national and international social history.

Fern Hill hamlet

This attractive pocket contains Fern Hill First Farm and farmhouse (a Grade II listed building
consisting of a 2-unit 18th century house with a 17th century wing) and the Grade II listed Fern Hill
Cottage, which dates from the early 18th century and is built on a 2-unit plan with a large central
entrance porch. There are also a number of historic stone outbuildings at Fern Hill that have been
converted for other uses in a sympathetic manner.

Natural Heritage and Environment
Wildlife and Habitats

The Rooley Moor area is made up of open moor, mire, bog pools, grassland, pasture and woods.
Plants in and around the area include heather, ferns, almond willow, bluebell, corn marigold, floating
water- plantain, red threadwort (liverwort), fingered cowlwort (liverwort), earth-cup flapwort
(liverwort), common kettlewort (liverwort), dotted thyme-moss, lesser cow-horn bog- moss and
slender haircap. Wooded areas contain oak, birch, beech and elm trees. Willow and birch scrub, ivy
and bilberry is in evidence as is wax cap fungi.
The area and its surrounds contain a significant colony of common lizards and it is considered that
some of the ponds could provide suitable habitat for frogs and the great crested newt. Stickleback
and white-clawed crayfish is known to occur in the area.
Badger, brown hare, mountain hare, otter and water vole are active in the area. Roe deer are aslo
becoming frequent visitors to the area.
Bats species include the common pipistrelle, daubenton’s bat, serotine bat and soprano pipistrelle.
Insects include dragonfly and bees. Moth species in and around the area include the cinnabar moth,
small phoenix moth, dark-barred twin-spot carpet moth and the chimney sweep moth.
There is a varied bird population in the area due to its diverse landscape comprising woodland,
water features and open moorland. Noteably, there are fifteen ‘red’ species (species most critical
and in decline) and twenty amber’ species (next most critical). Including other non-threatened
species there are approximately 75 different species present.

Page 45

22

The Whitworth Valley Anglers' fisheries at Lane Head and Broadley Wood contain around 16 fish
species including Bream, Barbel, Brown Trout (these are also in the River Spodden which forms our
Eastern boundary), Common Carp, Mirror Carp, Ghost Carp, Crucian Carp, Chub, Ide, Orfe, Perch,
Pike, Rudd, Ruffe, Stickleback and Tench.
Different breeds of cattle and sheep can also be seen where commoners exercise their rights to
graze.
The Area contains the following site of wildlife importance.

Healey Dell Site of Biological Importance and Local Nature Reserve

This Site of Biological Importance and Local Nature Reserve (see Figure 11) forms an attractive area
of dense natural woodland on steep banks around the River Spodden valley. The river forms part of
the Eastern border of the Neighbourhood Area. The Dell is a popular local visitor attraction due to
the quality of the scenery (which includes spectacular waterfalls), its biodiversity (which includes a
varied bird population and a resident population of Roe deer) and its industrial archaeology (the
area contained water powered ancient corn, wool and cotton mills). A disused 1800s railway line is
now a nature trail with magnificent views from a 100-foot high viaduct. There are extensive areas of
woodland protected by Tree Preservation Areas (TPO’s).

Wider Landscape

The neighbourhood Area falls within the wider Rooley and Knowl Moors character area defined in
the Councils Green Infrastructure Action Plan. This is a largely rural landscape with upland farms,
open moorland with areas of blanket bog and several isolated hamlets. The moors also include the
Scout Moor wind farm. The area is bordered on the north by Rossendale BC and Bury MBC to the
west. A number of reservoirs fed by Naden Brook and managed by United Utilities (UU) lie to the
west, the largest being Greenbooth. Below this there is an area of clough woodlands including
Wolstenholme Wood, which is an area of ancient woodland within the Doctor Dam and Holt Wood
site of biological importance (SBI). There are two other SBIs wholly within this wider area; Knowl
Moor and Fardoe & Naden Woods, along with part of Healey Dell SBI and Local Nature Reserve
(LNR). There is an extensive access network over the moors including the Pennine Bridleway and the
Rochdale Way. However signposting and interpretation is limited, particularly for connections to the
town centres. The Green Infrastructure Action Plan seeks to:
•

•
•

Maximise the tourism potential whilst protecting the fragile landscape by improved
signposting and interpretation of the landscape, particularly highlighting priority routes
connecting Ashworth Moor, Healey Dell LNR & reservoirs with urban neighbourhoods
Ensuring that the biodiversity is protected and continues to carry out important recreation
and environmental functions such as carbon capture within the peat moorland.
Explore opportunities to improve woodland management by encouraging the take up of
Forestry Commission (FC) grants and Countryside Stewardship by private landowners and
promoting Woodland Certification.

Also with elements of Healey Dell nature reserve and River Spodden and associated tributaries
feeding from Rooley Moor site, the potential expansion or enhancement of semi-natural
habitats and wildlife corridors offer great opportunity to improve the ecological quality of
existing conservation area, plus in combination provide multiple environmental benefits such as
improved flood risk, water quality and recreational value.

Page 46

23

Water, Flooding

Whilst the Neighbourhood Area does not contain any designated “main river” watercourses, the
River Spodden, which is a designated “main river” forms the eastern boundary of the area. Indicative
surface water flood risk mapping published by the EA suggests the risk of flooding is generally very
low. Areas of medium and high surface water flood risk do occur within the Neighbourhood Area but
these are concentrated along existing surface water flow paths and topographic lows such as gullies
or former quarry areas. Localised flooding caused by overflowing gulleys and ponds/reservoirs has
caused damage to road and path services. (See Figure 12) Old drainage channels and culverts require
regular upkeep and it is important that work is carried out sympathetically and in a sustainable
fashion.
The Environment Agency is keen to promote the positive integration of all water bodies that
emanate from Rooley Moor area, avoiding any potential risk of deterioration of River Spodden and
Naden Brook WFD watebodies, and take opportunities to better integrate and enhance these green
infrastructure assets through the preservation or creation of interconnected wildlife corridors or the
restoration of culverted tributaries, and use of above ground Sustainable Urban Drainage solutions
etc. It also keen to encourage any changes in land use practices that would slow the rate of rainfall
run-off as this could provide a contribution to reducing flood risk in communities downstream. The
Government has recently made some funding available for natural flood risk management or
“slowing the flow” projects. The Environment Agency is in the process of identifying possible
locations where communities at risk may benefit from natural flood management works. One of
many possible sites is the eastern part of Norden to the southern boundary of RMNA. Further
investigations will determine whether this area would be suitable for and benefit from NFM.

Leisure and Recreation
The fishing ponds at Catley Lane Head

The area comprises three small ponds around Smallshaw Road which provide an attractive feature in
the landscape. The ponds are used by anglers and enjoyed as an amenity by local residents, walkers
and riders. There is also disabled access so that the ponds are accessible to everybody. The ponds
also provide benefits for wildlife.

Healey Dell

The viaduct and the defunct railway line from Whitworth down to Shawclough is a popular walking
and safe cycling route offering the traveller the chance to view a variety of wildlife including a varied
bird population and the resident population of Roe Deer.

Bridleways and Paths

The area also offers easy access to other parts of the South Pennines and local way marked routes
including the Pennine Bridleway, the Rossendale Way and the Rochdale Way. The proximity of the
neighbourhood in relation to large urban areas means that the area provides a strategic recreational
resource and the opportunity to experience the inviting natural environment and the area’s
interesting heritage.
Rooley Moor offers great walking and horse riding opportunities. Rooley Moor Road is an integral
part of the Mary Towneley Loop, a nationally significant trail covering 47 miles (76km). Also, the area
provides excellent mountain bike challenges, from the long climbs up and down the road itself to the
purpose built mountain bike parks at Lee Quarry and Crag Quarry. (See Figure 7 - Definitive Rights of
Way)

Page 47

24

4. VISION AND OBJECTIVES
Our Vision for Rooley Moor

Rooley Moor will be renowned for its beautiful, well managed countryside, its landscape
qualities and its rich built heritage. It will have a strong residential community, a successful
farming community and will be treasured by regular visitors seeking to enjoy its improved
recreational opportunities, its scenery and views and its rich heritage and historical and cultural
associations. It will boast a national trail, a nationally renowned equestrian trail, improved
routes and visitor facilities and will be an important gateway into the South Pennine moorland.
Its conservation areas will have been enhanced, rural and derelict buildings will have been
restored and improved and in productive use. The design quality of new buildings, extensions
and conversions will be exemplary and will have maintained and restored traditional local
character. Carbon emission will have been reduced through the use of clean energies, light
pollution will be reduced, traffic and noise impacts will be effectively managed.

Our Plan Objectives
Objectives

Relevant Policies

Community
To promote a sustainable and harmonious residential, farming and
recreational community

All

To promote public appreciation of the area and its history, culture and
heritage, its landscape and natural assets.

H1, D3, HE1, LB1,
LB2, LB3,

Character, Identity and Design
To retain the openness of the area and its special rural character and
identity.

D3, HE1, LB1, E3

To ensure new development is of a high standard and respects and
reinforces local character.

HO1, D1, D2, D3,
HE1, RE1, R3, E1, E2

Natural Heritage
To protect and enhance local landscape quality and diversity (e.g.
moorland, farmland, woodlands and trees, valleys, water features, etc.).

D3, LB1, LB2

To protect and enhance sites and features of local biodiversity and
geodiversity importance.

LB3

Page 48

25

Objectives

Relevant Policies

Built Heritage
To protect and enhance the built heritage, (including conservation areas,
listed buildings, archaeological features and buildings and structures of
local interest) and to promote the retention and effective use of rural
buildings of character.

HO1, D1, D2, HE1

Recreational Opportunities
To promote recreational opportunities appropriate to the area for the
benefit of all (including those with mobility and sensory impairment) by
improving accessibility and routes, parking facilities, interpretation and
signage, and other visitor facilities.

R1, R2, R3, V1, V2

Sustainable Rural Economy
To support farming, appropriate farm diversification, other appropriate
rural business activities especially where they help to maintain the rural
economy, improve the appearance character of the area and contribute to
other objectives.

RE1

Environmental Protection
To promote sustainable development, environmental protection and
tackle the impacts of climate change.

Page 49

E1, E2, E3, T1

26

5. PLAN POLICIES
Introduction
The plan policies are grouped by topic.
Each policy is preceded by an introduction, which explains why the policy is needed to supplement
current borough-wide planning policies and national planning policy.
After each policy is a detailed ‘Explanation’ of its purpose and what it is intended to achieve.

Page 50

27

1. Housing in the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area
Housing

The plan area is within the green belt which means that new housing development is limited to that
which would be considered acceptable in the green belt when assessed against national policy.
Whilst the community acknowledges the limitations of the area to accommodate new dwellings and
support housing restraint, residents are keen to ensure that the area continues to function as a
residential and business community and that new or replacement residential units may be justifiable
where there is no harm to green belt, heritage interests or landscape character. This policy is
intended to provide a clear statement on the scale of new housing that would be acceptable in the
area and the circumstances in which new housing units would be acceptable.

Policy HO1 – Residential Development
Within the Plan area, new housing development will be restricted to that which is compatible with
green belt policy set out in national guidance and the Local Plan. The following types of housing
development are considered compatible subject to the provisos below and other relevant policies
of the plan:
a)
b)

c)

d)

e)

House extensions - provided they do not result in a disproportionate increase in the
volume of the original dwelling;
Replacement dwellings - provided they are of an appropriate scale, would not detract
from the openness to a greater extent than the original dwelling and would not be
materially larger than the dwelling they replace;
Housing conversion and the re-use of rural buildings – provided the building is of a
permanent and substantial construction, structurally sound and capable of conversion
without the need for major reconstruction, and the re- use would not result in the need
for additional farm buildings;
Rural workers dwellings – provided there is a proven need for accommodation by a full
time worker or one primarily employed in agriculture, forestry or rural based enterprise
activities, and the need could not be accommodated by another dwelling within or in
close proximity to the Neighbourhood Area; and
New dwellings within a previously developed (brownfield) site where the development
would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of
including land within it than the existing development, and where development would
secure environmental improvements or community benefits.

Other proposals for housing developments will only be permitted where, in accordance with the
National Planning Policy Framework, very special circumstances can be demonstrated.
All housing developments will be required to satisfy Policy D1 – Design, and where buildings are to
be converted to residential use, Policy D2 – Conversion and Re-use of Rural Buildings.
Explanation
As the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area falls within the green belt, where the construction of new
dwellings is considered inappropriate development, there will be very limited opportunities for new
residential units. Nevertheless, it is important for the community to thrive and invest in the area and
for residents to be able to extend their properties and replace buildings where this is satisfies criteria
set out in this and other policies. The policy reflects national policy on green belt and acknowledges
that new housing units could be established under the exceptions listed in paragraph 145 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – that is, the extension, alteration, and replacement of
dwellings where there would be no harm to the green belt. The policy expands on this by including
support for the conversion of rural buildings to housing and for the residential development of a

Page 51

28

brownfield site within the area where green belt openness can be retained and where development
might provide an opportunity to improve the area. The plan seeks to support the local farming
economy and this policy also acknowledges that there may be very special circumstances to justify a
new home, such as the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of
work in the countryside.
As regards the requirement for house extensions not to be ‘disproportionate’, guidance on this is
contained in the Council’s Guidelines & Standards for Residential Development Supplementary
Planning Document. (See Glossary for definition of ‘Original Dwelling’)
The policy acknowledges the circumstances in which new housing may be appropriate in the green
belt given local circumstances. Other examples of new housing are likely to conflict with green belt
and are likely to be refused unless very special circumstances can be demonstrated.

Page 52

29

2. Maintaining Local Identity and Improving the Quality of New Development
Design

Policy P3 of the Core Strategy seeks to promote high quality design and includes a number of design
principles, which should be adhered to where relevant. The design principles are expanded upon in
the Urban Design Guides published as Supplementary Planning Guidance. Consistent with these, the
Neighbourhood Plan identifies additional detailed criteria which focus on those matters where there
is potential to maintain and reinforce character and identity, address the community’s concerns
about new development and to ensure that design detail does not compromise building quality.

Policy D1 – Design
All proposals for new development (including alterations, extensions and redevelopment
proposals) in the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area will be expected to respect the special
character and appearance of the area.
In particular all development proposals will be expected to:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

i)

use high quality materials that complement the existing palette of materials used within
the area;
maintain sufficient external amenity space and space between groups of buildings to
protect their setting, visual privacy and to define public and private spaces;
demonstrate low carbon sustainable design as appropriate to the building and its use;
ensure safe access for vehicles, pedestrians, cyclists and other road users;
use appropriate materials in new structures, walls and hard landscaping to reinforce
local character and retain or reinstate appropriate design detailing and historic elements;
ensure that where possible, car parking is incorporated and sensitively integrated within
the curtilage to minimise visual impact;
ensure that modern innovative design responds to local character through the use of
appropriate materials, colour and design features;
ensure that elements such as bins and doorstep recycling, meter boxes, lighting, flues
and ventilation apparatus, renewable energy apparatus (e.g. solar panels), gutters, pipes,
walls, fences and gates are properly integrated into the design to avoid compromising
character and quality of the building and its setting; and
minimise opportunity for crime, and maximise natural surveillance.

Explanation
The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area takes its character from the open moorland landscape, valleys
and three small settlements of Fern Hill, Catley Lane Head and Prickshaw and Broadley and the
numerous individual farmsteads and vernacular rural buildings typical of the Pennine range dating
back to 17th century. There are only a few modern buildings in the area and there is very little in the
built environment that detracts from its wider distinctive rural character.
Whilst it is not the intention to resist new development and change in the area, it is important that
development respects the character and identity of the area and local amenity. Conservation Area
appraisals and heritage assessments show that even small scale development has the potential to
undermine the special character of the area if design, materials, detailing etc. do not reflect historic
building style and layout. (See ‘Note on the Area’s Architectural and Historic Character’, under Policy
H1 ‘Protection of Heritage Assets’ below.)
The key aim therefore is to ensure that new buildings and alterations respond positively to local
character, the design of the host building or adjoining buildings and their setting. Innovative design
is encouraged where it creates visual interest, secures a beneficial use for the building but has regard
to local building character and materials. Developers should have regard to paragraph 79 of the
NPPF, which advises local planning authorities that they should avoid new isolated homes in the

Page 53

30

countryside unless there are ‘special circumstances’. One such special circumstance (at bullet point
4) is the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the dwelling.
The criteria above reflect the requirements in Core Strategy Policy P3, ‘Improving design of new
development, the current Urban Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document and the
recommendations of local Conservation Area Appraisals. However, they focus on those detailed
matters where there is potential to maintain and reinforce character and identity, address the
community’s concerns about new development and to ensure that design detail does not
compromise building quality.
Some development proposals may not require planning permission (e.g. small residential extensions,
and agricultural buildings) whilst in conservation areas, more aspects of development will be subject
to planning controls. It is vital though that where the opportunity to secure good design exists these
matters are assessed so that design quality and expectations are raised.
With regard to criterion (f), it should be noted that development proposals will be expected to satisfy
the Council’s car parking standards as set out in the Rochdale Core Strategy. The integration of car
parking within the cartilage should have regard to the Council’s Residential Design Guide.
The design of new development should also have regard to other relevant policies of the plan, i.e. D2,
D3, HE1,LB1,LB2,LB.,

Conversion and Re-Use of Rural Buildings

The Core Strategy Policy E6 encourages the conversion of redundant farm buildings and mills but
does not incorporate specific criteria to ensure all rural conversions and re-use of buildings are
appropriate and acceptable. The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area community is keen to
encourage conversion and re-use in order to maintain or bring back rural buildings into good order
and productive use. However, it is also keen to ensure that conversions and uses are in keeping with
the area.

Policy D2 – Conversion and Re-use of Rural Buildings
Proposals for the conversion of an existing building in the countryside will be permitted
where:
a)
b)
c)
d)

e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)

the proposal does not have a materially greater impact on the openness of the area
and the proposal will not harm the character of the countryside;
the building is of a permanent and substantial construction, structurally sound and
capable of conversion without the need for major or complete reconstruction;
the building is suitable for the proposed use, including associated use of surrounding
land;
the conversion works and facing materials to be introduced would be in keeping with
the original building, and important architectural and historical features would be
retained;
the proposals would serve to preserve or enhance the setting of any nearby Listed
Buildings or Conservation Area they are within, or the amenity of nearby residents;
satisfactory vehicular access to the highways network can be achieved;
satisfactory off-street parking, bin storage and bin collection points can be provided
without adversely impacting on rural character;
the building has been inspected for the presence of protected species and if present, the
appropriate action to protect the species taken;
the proposal would not harm any agricultural or other enterprise occupying the land
or buildings in the vicinity; and
the re-use of the building would not be likely to result in additional farm buildings which
would have a harmful effect on the openness of the area.

Page 54

31

Explanation
The Government has made it easier to change agricultural buildings to other uses without planning
permission though the prior approval process, subject to meeting certain criteria. This policy applies
when planning permission is required.
The community is keen to maintain rural buildings in good condition and in productive use as this is
essential to retain the character of the area and to provide opportunities for new housing units,
agricultural diversification, visitor and recreational use, workshops and small businesses.
There are a number of redundant buildings, including farmhouses, barns, workshops which have
potential and which may deteriorate if an appropriate use cannot be found. In order to comply with
green belt policy though, it is important that conversions and restorations do not result in a
substantial rebuild of structures and that the proposals including alteration and associated
development or use of adjoining land e.g. hardstanding, boundary treatment, garden and storage
etc. do detract from the openness and purposes green belt. It is also important that conversions
which involve external alterations and / or other associated development are sympathetic to the
character of the building itself and its setting.
Criterion (h) recognises that in many cases, a survey to establish the presence of ‘Protected Species’
may be required to support a planning application (see also Policy LB3 ‘Sites of Wildlife Importance’.)
Guidance on the conversion of historic buildings can be obtained from Historic England.

Page 55

32

Protecting Character and Identity

Enhancing local identity and sense of place is a one of the Key Principles set out in the Borough
Urban Design Guide SPD consistent with Policy P2 of the Core Strategy. Understanding and
agreement about what constitutes character and identity is important in order to assess the impact
of development and change and to provide guidance on how character can be protected and
reinforced through the control of development and enhancements in the Area.

Policy D3 – Character Areas and Important Views
Any development must have regard to the special qualities of those distinct areas that help to
define and showcase local character. Also development should not cause any loss or diminution
of important views from a public right of way that currently provides open field aspects or views
of distinctive landscape features.
Character areas identified within this policy are:
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

Rooley Moor Road, also known as the Cotton Famine Road
Fern Hill hamlet
Catley Lane Head Conservation Area and fishing ponds
Healey Dell Nature Reserve, Spodden Valley and railway viaduct
Prickshaw and Broadley Fold Conservation Area

Views identified within this policy are:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

View of Fishing Lake looking south east from Smallshaw Road
View of main fishing spot next to Smallshaw Farm
View looking east to Prickshaw from the disused Cat Stones Quarry (the quarry is just
outside of the area boundary)
View looking south from Fern Hill
View east towards Hunger Hill from Woodhouse Lane
View from moorland edge of Rooley Moor Road looking south
View of Rooley Moor Road looking north to moorland edge
View of Healey Dell viaduct from the River Spoden footpath in Dunishbooth Wood
View west from junction of Knacks Lane and Rooley Moor Road

Explanation
The quality and local character of the landscape and the buildings is recognised by visitors and the
local community. The key-defining feature of the landscape is its openness, the mixture and
diversity of countryside comprising managed woodland nature reserves, open and elevated
moorland, steep and wooded valleys and waterscapes of different types and sizes. Its character also
derives from its buildings, structures and settlements, which blend easily into the landscape and
provide interest and tell the story of the area’s development and provide the homogeneity of local
building style. This policy identifies those ‘character’ areas, which most residents and visitors
associate with the area and value most. Of course conservation areas and their settings are
protected by policy HE1 and general landscape considerations are covered by policy LB1 above.
However, this policy seeks to identify those areas that have their own special character and sense of
place but which collectively reinforce the identity of the area overall area. The policy also aims to
define and protect those views that are important in order to fully appreciate the best of the local
landscape and building settlements.
The Area is blessed with a rich mixture and diversity of countryside comprising managed woodland
nature reserves, open and elevated moorland, steep and wooded valleys and waterscapes of
different types and sizes. Visitors to the Area will quickly see that the number, the variety and the
quality of views and viewpoints is almost without limit and he or she will quickly form their own
opinion about which might be their particular favourite. However, only the most critical and

Page 56

33

accessible views have been identified in this policy and they have been chosen by the Forum working
party to represent the choice of local people and visitors.
The character areas are shown on the Proposals Map and the direction of views are shown in
Appendix 3 along with photographs of views.
The Character Areas are described in Chapter 3 ‘The Neighbourhood Area’ as heritage assets or
landscape features.

Page 57

34

3. Safeguarding Heritage Assets
Heritage Assets

Policy P2 of the Rochdale Core Strategy seeks to protect the Borough’s heritage by conserving,
enhancing and promoting heritage assets including conservation areas, listed buildings and other
non-designated assets such as buildings, structures and archaeological sites. Consistent with the
Policy and the NPPF and related guidance, the Neighbourhood Plan seeks to provide a local list of
criteria that would ensure that developments meet the particular concerns of the community and
the special character of the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area.

Policy HE1 – Protection of Heritage Assets
Development affecting statutory and non-statutory heritage assets, (including those shown on the
Proposals Map) will be granted where it:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

conserves and enhances the appearance, character and setting of the asset itself;
incorporates the conservation of, or reinstates, key architectural or historic features and
elements;
uses materials and design features that respect the asset;
involves the removal of additions and modifications that are harmful to the asset;
contributes to the heritage asset’s significance in the local context and public appreciation
of that asset;
incorporates (where appropriate) high quality hard and soft landscaping in developments
in conservation areas and near to listed buildings;
involves a use compatible with its conservation significance; and
takes account of the findings and recommendations of a relevant conservation area
appraisal and is accompanied by a suitable heritage appraisal and design statement.

The demolition or removal of assets, or parts of, will only be granted in exceptional circumstances.
Explanation
Within the Rooley Moor area, there are two conservation areas, 4 listed buildings, and some locally
identified buildings, sites and significant structures including the Cotton Famine Road. An additional
conservation area is also under consideration. (These are shown on the Proposals Map.) Many
buildings and structures in the Borough pre-date the industrial revolution are constructed from
locally quarried stone and contribute to the areas local character and distinctiveness. These heritage
assets are an irreplaceable resource and it is essential to protect and enhance them. (See ‘Note on
the Area’s Architectural and Historic Character’, below.) In considering development proposals that
may affect the setting, character or appearance of a designated heritage asset, such as a listed
building or Conservation Area, the Council is required by law to have special regard to the desirability
of preserving the heritage asset, its setting and any features of special architectural or historic
interest. The impacts of any proposed development on non-designated heritage assets also need to
be taken into account when considering planning applications. Therefore all new development with
potential to affect heritage assets or their setting needs to be based on a thorough understanding of
the context, significance and local distinctiveness of the site and its surroundings, and should be of a
high quality in terms of its design and use of materials. Development will also need to be in
accordance with the national policy and relevant Historic England guidance, the Council’s
Conservation Area Appraisals and should be accompanied by a heritage statement.
All development needs to sustain, conserve and where appropriate enhance the heritage
asset and its setting and show consideration to the criteria in this policy. Development will only be
granted for the demolition or removal of heritage assets in exceptional circumstances and needs to
be clearly justified with comprehensive evidence. However, new development within conservation

Page 58

35

areas may be acceptable where it enhances or better reveals the significance of the conservation
area.
The Council is also developing a list of non-designated local heritage assets which include buildings,
sites, structures (such s flagstone walling), routes (eg. the Cotton Famine Road) places, areas or
landscapes of significance some of which will fall within the neighbourhood area. These heritage
assets don’t meet national standards for designation but make a significant contribution to
Rochdale’s landscape and merit consideration in planning decisions.
Proposals for conversions to traditional rural buildings and barns should also have regard to the
Council’s Guidelines & Standards for Residential Development SPD Adopted June 2016.
Note on the Area’s Architectural and Historic Character
The area is characterised by its well preserved rural vernacular architecture from 17th -18th
Century and the mix of hamlets, terraced housing (set within enclosed areas), farmhouses,
barns and other rural buildings within an open farmland / moorland landscape. The area
developed as a textile community from the 1870s and many of the buildings (e.g. in Prickshaw)
were ideally suited to cottage industries close to a major packhorse route above the boggy
valley bottoms and on a south facing slope which afforded good light to the intricate processes
of textile manufacture.
Dry-stone and flagged walls, gates, setted roads and architectural detailing such as stone or
slate roofs, sills, lintels and door surrounds contribute to local character and its historic
interest and these should be preserved and restored. The use of vernacular materials e.g.
sandstone, lime mortars and slate are a key component of its appearance and heritage and it is
important that new development uses these are far as possible. New development has the
potential to maintain character but also to detract from local architectural and historic
character by using inappropriate design and materials such as PVC windows, red brick,
concrete tiles, inappropriate road and footpath surfaces e.g. tarmac, etc. Also, new buildings
and structures such as dormer extensions, sheds, wooden fencing have a negative impact as
can satellite dishes and photo voltaic panels and wind turbines if insensitively sited and
designed.
There are significant buildings and structures some of which are listed (e.g. farmhouses). It is
often their siting in the landscape/topography and the views they provide and are associated
with that make them special. A particularly significant structure is ‘The Cotton Famine Road’ an important part of the area’s and arguably, also national and international heritage. This
historic feature extends 1,950 yards over the moorland landscape at 15,000 feet comprising
327,600 cobble setts constructed in the 1860s to alleviate the unemployment in the cotton
industry caused by the Union's embargo on the export of cotton from the Confederacy during
the American Civil War.
The setting of these significant structures and the views associated with them are therefore
vital considerations in the future of the area.
Note on Conservation Areas
Within the conservation areas, new development may be acceptable where it enhances or
better reveals the significance of the conservation area. For conservation areas to thrive as
rural residential and farming entities, some physical change and new development will be
appropriate. However, there are restrictions on permitted development, which means that
some work which may normally be carried out without consent will require planning
permission in a conservation area. These restrictions include work in the following categories:
•

The demolition or substantial demolition of a building within a conservation area will usually
require planning permission. Where the building does not contribute to the significance of

Page 59

36

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

the conservation area consent demolition may be acceptable, and where it does contribute
to the significance, justification for demolition will need to be robust.
The demolition of the whole or any part of any gate, fence, wall or other means of
enclosure.
Alterations and extensions to houses, including cladding materials, roof alterations, location
of outbuildings etc..
Location of chimneys and flues.
Location of microwave antennas and other telecommunications equipment including the
installation of satellite dishes on walls, roof slopes and chimneys that face and are visible
from highways.
Conversion of agricultural buildings to dwellinghouses.
temporary use of buildings or land for film-making purposes.
Location of microgeneration equipment, including solar panels on buildings or stand alone,
air source heatpumps, wind turbines.
Advertisements.
Alterations and extensions to commercial, retail, educational and hospital buildings.
Work to any tree with a trunk of more than 7.5cm in diameter (measured 1.5m from the
ground), including cutting them down or pruning.

Although the above restrictions apply, conservation areas are more likely to benefit from
funding applications as their special interest is specifically identified. They are also generally
valued by those living and working in them as special places.

Page 60

37

4. Supporting the Rural Economy
Core Strategy Policy E6 ‘Supporting and Diversifying the Rural Economy’ seeks to strengthen and
diversify the rural economy and to support activities where they enhance landscapes and provide
employment opportunities. It also encourages the re-use of redundant farm buildings. The policy
incorporates a number of controls to address design quality, the impact of proposals on amenity and
heritage landscapes, and seeks to avoid the fragmentation of farm units. However, other criteria are
considered necessary to meet the Forum’s concern to ensure that diversification activities do not
conflict with other objectives and policies of the Neighbourhood Plan.

Policy RE1 - Farm Diversification
Proposals for farm diversification which require planning permission will be permitted on
existing farm holdings provided that all the following criteria are met:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)

they would make a positive contribution to the continued viability of the farm holding;
they would retain or enhance the character of traditional farm buildings;
the agricultural diversification is subservient to the main agricultural use of the farm;
the use does not detract from recreational routes and the local visitor experience;
the scale and nature of the diversification proposals are appropriate for the location;
they do not create extensive areas of hardstanding, parking and outside storage; and
the volume and type of traffic that would be generated is appropriate to the accessibility
of the site and the standard of the local highway network.

Explanation
Agriculture is an important part of the rural economy and it contributes towards the character of the
local landscape and its future maintenance. Therefore it is important that agricultural businesses
are sustainable, and that well conceived proposals relating to the diversification of farm businesses
are supported in order to ensure the long-term viability of existing farm businesses. The local
farming community welcomes the support for appropriate farm diversification, especially equestrian
facilities.
A wide range of types of development may be appropriate for diversification including farm shops,
visitor related facilities, sporting and leisure activities (e.g. equestrian activities), arts and crafts,
digital media, renewable energy etc. A careful balance is however required to ensure that the scale
and character of farm diversification proposals do not conflict with wider countryside and
recreational objectives, do not introduce new amenity concerns or have a negative impact on the
natural environment or the highways network.
Existing buildings of substantial and permanent construction should be re-used, where possible, to
provide any accommodation needed in association with alternative uses. Proposals for the
Conversion or re-use of agricultural buildings will need to satisfy Policy D2 ‘Conversion and re-use of
rural buildings’. Proposals involving equestrian development/facilities will need to satisfy Policy R3
‘Equestrian Development’. Proposals for renewable energy schemes will need to satisfy Policy E1’
Energy Efficiency and Renewable / Low Carbon Energy’ and, where relevant, Policy E2 ‘Wind
Turbines’.
Note on Conversion and Re-use of agricultural buildings
Proposals for the conversion and re-use of agricultural buildings would be assessed against Policy D2
‘Conversion and Re-use of Rural Buildings’.

Page 61

38

5. Promoting Recreational Activities
Areas of Recreational Focus

Saved UDP Policy RE/7 ‘Recreational management areas’ identifies areas across the borough where
the Council will promote outdoor recreational uses including both specialist sports and active
outdoor pursuits and passive recreation (e.g., nature appreciation and related educational pursuits)
that are consistent with the conservation and enhancement of the local landscape and ecology.
These include Healey Dell Local Nature Reserve and environs (part of which falls within the
Neighbourhood Area, and Greenbooth and Naden Reservoirs (which fall just outside the
neighbourhood area). The Neighbourhood supports the policy and its eventual replacement in a
borough-wide Site Allocations or other Development Plan Document. The Neighbourhood Plan aims
to expand opportunities for appropriate recreation in the Neighbourhood Area and to focus on
walking, cycling, riding, nature appreciation, fishing, etc.). It also seeks to promote recreational
opportunities for disabled people (including riding facilities) and to promote leisure activities which
assist in educating the public in the geography, history, natural history, culture and architecture of
the area.

Policy R1 - Areas of Recreational Focus
As resources and opportunities permit, the recreational potential of the following areas (shown on
the Proposals Map) will be promoted and developed through effective management:
1) Healey Dell Nature Reserve and environs;
2) Fishing Ponds at Catley Lane Head; and
3) Key Recreational Routes and corridors
Elsewhere, opportunities for active leisure (e.g. walking, cycling, horseriding, fishing, nature
appreciation will be supported only if they can be successfully accommodated in the landscape
and do not have an adverse impact on other recognised interests, either on site, or in adjacent
areas. The types of recreational activities, visitor facilities, landscaping works and management
regimes will have regard to the particular character and potential of the area, local needs and
opinions and the effect on surrounding uses. Particular consideration will be given to the intensity
of use and factors such as access, car parking, public safety, residential amenity, noise, effects on
farming, the relationship with other users, nature conservation, water quality and the operational
needs of statutory undertakers. In addition to the above, development involving noisy sports (e.g.
dirt-biking) will not be permitted close to residential properties, areas of recreational focus, and
key recreational routes.
The areas listed in the policy represent the areas of greatest potential for outdoor recreation in
terms of their accessibility, existing attractions, features and facilities and the opportunities they
present for consolidating and expanding recreational activities. It is essential to ensure that
recreational development is sensitive to the natural character and attributes of the area and other
land uses in the vicinity e.g. it does not generate excessive noise, pollution or danger, or disruption
to residents and businesses. There will be discreet areas within the moorland landscape, valleys and
woodlands where recreational and leisure activities may be appropriate. These may be active
(appropriate sports, birdwatching and nature trails) or passive (activities focussed on education,
crafts e.g.). In each case it will important to consider the character and the opportunities areas offer
and how activities might be managed. In this regard, the Forum will work with the Council’s
Countryside Service, landowners, key national and regional agencies (including funders), community
and recreational interests.

Page 62

39

Recreational Routes

The Core Strategy seeks to improve access to key recreational routes in North Rochdale, and saved
UDP Policy RE/6 ‘Recreational Rights of Way’ identifies those key routes across the Borough which
ought to be protected, developed and improved. Within the Rooley Moor neighbourhood area,
these include the Rochdale stretch of the Pennine Bridleway and the Rochdale Way. The
Neighbourhood Plan policy below aims to include more detail on how routes and links should be
developed for recreational use within the area. Consistent with UDP Policy RE/6, the routes are
shown on the proposals map but in a way that reflects their local significance.

Policy R2 – Key Recreational Routes
The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum will work with Rochdale Council to develop and enhance,
in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and landowners, a system of strategic
recreational routes as identified on the Proposals Map.
Key routes comprise:
1) Rochdale Way,
2) Mary Townley Loop,
3) Pennine Bridleway.
Improvements will focus on those routes and corridors which connect the area to:
a) Rooley Moor, open moorland and local valleys;
b) The Cotton Famine Road;
c) Naden and Greenbooth Reservoirs
d) Prickshaw;
e) Healy Dell Nature Reserve and Spodden Valley;
f) Rossendale Way; and
g) nearby urban areas e.g. Norden and Shawfield.
The intention will be to secure the protection, development and improvement of these routes in
order to link areas of managed and accessible countryside, places of interest and to establish links
with routes outside the area. Where practical, schemes will be encouraged where they facilitate
the greater use of these routes by walkers, cyclists, horseriders and those people with impaired
mobility.
Proposals to improve or extend the existing footpath, cycleway and bridleway network in the
neighbourhood area will be supported and promoted where they:
a) provide greater access for all users (including older people, people with prams and
wheelchairs and others with disabilities);
b) provide better access to information about the route network, signage and waymarking,
and interpretation facilities;
c) secure repairs and improvements to surface condition and removal of obstructions;
d) provide safety improvements and traffic management measures to reduce conflicts
between users;
e) provide path furniture e.g. gates, seats, litter bins, etc. in appropriate locations;
f) do not harm residential amenities;
g) take into account the needs of agriculture and access to farms and other businesses;
h) are located and designed to minimise the risk of crime;
i) do not harm nature conservation interests and landscape quality;
j) do not harm heritage assets and their settings; and
k) do not detract from the individual character and function of the routes themselves.

Page 63

40

Explanation
The Neighbourhood Forum is keen to improve access to and within the area in line with the
Community’s wishes and consistent with other local and sub-regional strategies (i.e. the South
Pennines Heritage Strategy, the Rochdale Rights of Way Improvement Plan, Rochdale Township
Green Infrastructure Plan etc.) and the Borough’s Local Plan policies, especially Core Strategy Policy
G6 and UDP policies RE/6 and RE/7.
Whilst there is already a good network of established routes, there is a desire to build on this and
provide a superior network of routes and links based on those key recreational corridors which
provide other recreational opportunities and specialist activities (e.g. fishing, crafts, educational
pursuits), connect places and features of interest and promote appreciation of the local countryside
and its heritage.
The routes include strategic regional and cross-boundary rights of way, linking with long distance
trails and local links to places of interest e.g. Healey Dell Nature Reserve, Geenbooth reservoirs and
the wider moorland countryside to the north. Other routes through the area connect with the
Pennine upland moorland and Rooley Moor Road, part of which is known as the Cotton Famine Road,
forms a key gateway hub for these routes.
The increasing attraction of these routes for recreation and exercise, and to enjoy the local built and
natural heritage is evident. Whilst the Forum wishes to encourage greater use of the area by
walkers, horseriders, cyclists and people for whom mobility is a problem, it acknowledges that there
can be conflict between these different users, that visitor traffic can detract from residential amenity
and farming interests, and that unmanaged visitor traffic can detract from those qualities which
attract people to the area in the first place. Off road vehicles, bikes and quads are a growing
problem and there is evidence that they are starting to erode sensitive landscapes, conflict with
walkers and horseriders and introduce noise into a quiet and serene landscape. There may be
suitable locations outside the plan area which could be investigated for suitability and appropriate
access.
All recreational routes need to be fit for purpose, have clear unambiguous signage so that users are
aware of their limited rights, through traffic discouraged from using residential lanes /bridleways,
and incorporate traffic calming measures (speed bumps) where appropriate. It is the intention to
secure improvements with the assistance of the Borough Council, other agencies and organisations.

Equestrian Development

There has been an increase in popularity of horse related pursuits in the area due to the excellent
network of bridleways that can be accessed without the use of major roads and conflict with
vehicular traffic. Demand for new buildings and structures such as stables, livery facilities, arenas
and parking for visiting riders’ trailers and horseboxes is likely to increase also. Government policy
NPPF) states that whilst the construction of new buildings is not appropriate in the green belt, an
exception may be ‘the provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport and recreation as long as
it preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including land
within it’. This would include limited, sensitively sited and designed built equestrian facilities. Whilst
the community is keen to support and improve the quality of equestrian activities in the area, there
is a need to ensure that developments do not urbanise the green belt and harm the character of the
area. Therefore, further detailed policy guidance is considered necessary on how to assess
appropriate facilities and their impact. Core Strategy policy E5 ‘seeks to encourage the visitor
economy, Policy C8 supports improved sport and leisure facilities and policy G6 promotes access to
green infrastructure. However there is no specific proposal that supports equestrian activities
compatible with green belt and green infrastructure.

Page 64

41

Policy R3 - Equestrian Development
Proposals for new, or extensions or alterations to existing, private or commercial equestrian
facilities will be supported subject to the following criteria:
a) The development would preserve the openness of the green belt and not conflict with the
purposes of including land within it;
b) In the case of indoor facilities or commercial stables, priority is given to the re-use
and conversion of existing buildings or the proposal forms part of a farm
diversification scheme;
c) New built facilities will be required to demonstrate in a planning statement that the
proposal would constitute essential facilities for outdoor recreation and that there are no
suitable existing buildings to accommodate the activity;
d) The replacement of buildings already in equestrian use should be well related to existing
buildings and not materially larger than the building to be replaced;
e) Proposals for the extension or alteration of an existing building in equestrian use must not
result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;
f) The siting, design and materials would not have an unacceptable impact on visual
amenity or the character of the area and would satisfy the requirements of Policy D1.
g) Livery/paddock/stables/arena facilities should be well related to existing trees, hedges or
landscape features, avoiding prominent positions, and generally at least 30 metres away
from neighbouring residential properties;
h) Fencing of paddocks should respect the existing field pattern and contours, and the
removal of hedgerows to secure paddocks will be resisted;
i) Floodlighting will be resisted close to residential properties. Where floodlighting is
proposed, it should be designed to minimise light spillage from the lit area;
j) There should be proper screening for car and horse-box parking and appropriate
arrangements for the storage and disposal of manure which would not have an
unacceptable impact on surface or ground-water or residential amenity;
k) Provision is made for removing any equipment and re-instating the land once its use for
horses is no longer required or where the stables and associated development have been
disused for a period of twelve months within 10 years of their completion; and
l) Exercise arenas/ménages/rings should be unobtrusive within the landscape.
Particular consideration will be given to the cumulative effects of proposals on the local area and
the wider landscape and environment.
Proposals for parking facilities for visiting horse boxes and trailers will be supported where they
are sensitively located, close to the bridleway network and meet the criteria a), f) and j) above.
Proposals which improve the accessibility of equestrian facilities for all abilities and ages, including
disabled people and those requiring therapy will be supported.
Explanation
The sustainable growth and improvement in the quality of equestrian facilities in the area is
supported by the local community and equestrian groups. Equestrian facilities are clearly an
important aspect of farm diversification with nearly all farms having horses, stabling and livery yards.
Demand is likely to continue as a result of the popularity of the area with horseriders due to the
availability of excellent off-road routes. Horse riding organisations also predict an increase in
demand for facilities for the visiting rider, such as a public arena and car trailer parking facilities.
However, the green belt status of the area means that built facilities should be appropriate in scale
and should not reduce the openness of the green belt. The policy criteria above therefore aim to
ensure that proposals are ‘appropriate’ assist the rural and visitor economy and can be sensitively
absorbed into the landscape.

Page 65

42

Wherever viable, existing buildings should be re-used as new buildings in the countryside may conflict
with green belt policy. Also, extensions to buildings that are disproportionate may impact on the
openness of the green belt and building character.
The location of new buildings like stables, field shelters, and tack storage can change the character of
the land and views, particularly when poorly sited substantial and intrusive earthworks take place.
Also, ménages often require substantial fencing, lighting and equestrian equipment and apparatus
and, when poorly designed and sited, they can create clutter and have a negative impact on visual
quality of the setting and in some cases residential amenity. Careful design and layout will be
required to mitigate against these impacts. Equine buildings on sites which are open, exposed,
elevated or sloped are likely to have particular landscape impacts that may make it difficult to
achieve sensitive design solutions.
Sensitive lighting is necessary in accordance with Policy E3 ‘Light Pollution’. The management of
manure and waste should take account of the amenities of local residents and other uses as well as
environmental protection requirements.
Trailer storage and manure arrangements can create clutter and have urbanising influences in the
landscape. This should be addressed through good design and the careful location of these areas in
relation to existing landscape features and boundaries. Dedicated parking for visiting horseboxes and
trailers is needed to avoid inappropriate parking which detracts from visual and residential amenity
and highway safety.
The Forum acknowledges the opportunity to widen participation in equestrian sports and recreation
in the area by encouraging facilities for all ages and abilities. The provision of indoor and outdoor
facilities for disabled people for example should be capable of meeting the policy’s requirements.
Where this is not the case, but evidence can be provided to demonstrate that the facility is essential
and reasonable and no unacceptable harm would result, proposals may be considered acceptable. (A
planning statement would need to be submitted in support of such applications.)

Page 66

43

6. Encouraging and Managing Visitors
Visitor Facilities

The numbers of visitors attracted to the area by its natural beauty, recreational pursuits and
heritage attractions e.g. Cotton Famine Road is increasing and the community is keen to encourage
this. However, it acknowledges the need to manage visitors carefully to avoid conflicts with local
residents, farming and conservation interests. The Core Strategy Policy E5 seeks to encourage the
visitor economy in the South Pennine Moors and to enhance recreational routes but currently, no
policy exists to actively and sensitively promote visitor facilities in this important gateway location.

Policy V1 – Visitor Facilities
Visitor facilities will be promoted in appropriate locations where they extend opportunities for
countryside recreation and appreciation of the local and natural heritage.
The purpose of such facilities will be to:
a) provide managed and sustainable access to recreational routes and corridors and areas of
scenic, heritage or natural interest;
b) direct visitors to places of interest using appropriate routes and avoid intrusion into
sensitive areas;
c) make appropriate provision for car parking, cycle and horse parking, toilets and shelter,
educational and interpretative resources, picnic sites and play areas and equipment;
d) facilitate the use and enjoyment of the countryside for disabled people /people with
impaired mobility; and
e) assist the enhancement and appreciation of appropriate habitats and access to natural
greenspace.
The design and layout of schemes providing facilities must have regard to the character of the
landscape, farming and other land and utility management interests, nature conservation,
residential amenity, safety and security, and the needs of all users.
Facilities will be focussed at key locations such as Catley Lane Head, lower cobbled section of the
Cotton Famine Road (to Knacks Lane), Prickshaw, Broadley Fold pond, approaches to Healey Dell
and Greenbooth, and at key recreational route intersections, and attractions such as fishing
ponds.
Explanation
The growth in demand and opportunities for countryside recreation and leisure pursuits requires
appropriate facilities to be provided so that a high quality experience of visiting the countryside can
be open to as many people as possible regardless of their abilities and without increasing pressure on
sensitive habitats, landscapes and other land use interests. Therefore a range of sites and services
such as car parking, parking for horse trailers, amenities such as toilets and shelter, information and
activity based facilities need to be identified.
The popularity of routes in the area has resulted in random parking of vehicles and horse trailers in
sensitive locations and it would be desirable to identify discreet areas for parking to accommodate
the need and to avoid problems for residents, farms and other users of the area. The Rochdale
Township Green Infrastructure Strategy acknowledges that signposting and interpretation facilities
are limited. The Forum wishes to improve information about routes and places of interest in order to
best manage visitor access, avoid conflicts between cyclists, horseriders and walkers and to balance
recreational, farming and conservation interests. Opportunities to provide some facilities will be
limited by funding availability and the Forum will seek to identify opportunities and identify key
visitor focus areas and types of facilities with the Council and its partners. Those locations where
appropriate facilities would be desirable are shown on the Proposals Map.

Page 67

44

Policy V2 - Overnight Visitor Accommodation
Proposals for overnight accommodation will be supported where they are of an appropriate scale
and type for the area, involve the use of existing buildings and are acceptable in the green belt.
Appropriate types of accommodation would be bed and breakfast, self catering facilities, bed and
tack camping barns and sites used for camping. Ancillary facilities such as parking, cycle storage,
will be encouraged in suitable locations and should not detract from the setting of the building(s)
or the openness of the green belt.
Explanation
This policy is consistent with the desire to encourage visitors to the area whilst ensuring that
accommodation is small scale and appropriate for the area. There is expected to be increased
demand for the above accommodation from those using the local footpaths, bridleways and cycle
ways. Green belt policy restricts opportunities for new built overnight accommodation but the use of
existing vacant and underused buildings provides opportunities to secure their futute use and to
provide beds for visitors. Proposals for camping sites may have a significant visual impact and sites
will need to be small, absorbed discreetly into the landscape and be well screened. Caravanning will
not be appropriate given the particular characteristics of the area and its heritage and cultural
assets.

Page 68

45

7. Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Quality and Biodiversity
Landscape Protection

Core Strategy Policies G6 ‘Enhancing green infrastructure’ identifies broadly where green
infrastructure improvements should be focussed and G7 ‘Increasing the value of biodiversity and
geodiversity’ identifies priorities for biodiversity and geodiversity and where improvements can
focussed. However, these do not provide sufficient detail in terms of dealing with the potential
impact on the visual, physical or cultural landscape character of the Rooley Moor area and therefore
a local policy is required.

Policy LB1 - Landscape Protection and Enhancement
Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural attributes of the
landscape and contributes to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or maintenance of the
landscape likely to be affected.
Proposals with potential landscape and visual implications will be assessed having regard to the
extent to which they would:
a) make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into and
from the site and surrounding area);
b) remove incongruous landscape features;
c) assist the conservation of:
i. distinctive landscape elements (e.g., field, settlement or road patterns, built heritage
features);
ii. vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
iii. important views;
iv. the natural tranquillity of the moorland landscape; and
v. the informal recreation value of the landscape.
Development or recreational activities which harm the character or physical structure of the
landscape or which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of
an area will not be permitted/supported.
Explanation
This policy focuses primarily on the physical appearance of the landscape and its features. Other
policies deal with the protection and enhancement of the built heritage and the landscape’s
ecology/biodiversity and geodiversity.
The landscape is highly protected by virtue of its green belt status but even small scale developments
appropriate in green belt have the potential to either harm landscape character and quality or to
conserve or reinforce it. Also activities such as recreational pursuits can erode the very landscape
that attracts people to the area in the first place. Therefore this policy seeks to ensure that
development and activities respond to the landscape character and quality of the immediate setting
and the wider context and takes steps to conserve and enhance it where possible. It should be noted
that important views and areas of particular landscape character are identified in Policy D3 above.
There are a number of studies available which provide useful background on the area’s landscape
character. One such study was that commissioned to Julie Martin Associates to investigate the
potential effects of wind energy development on the character and quality of the landscapes of wider
South Pennines area. The note below picks out some of the key elements in the assessment of the
area within which Rooley Moor lies. However, a more detailed local landscape character assessment
would be helpful to assist in the implementation of Landscape policies and to provide guidance on
land management, the identification and conservation of key views to local landmarks and landscape
improvement schemes. Development proposals should demonstrate a good understanding of

Page 69

46

landscape impact and how the policy criteria have been satisfied through Design and Access
Statements or other supporting documentation.
Note on the area’s Landscape Character
The northern edge of Rooley Moor comprises unenclosed moorland sloping south to an
area of enclosed moorland with fields and robust farmhouses.
The land remains in agricultural use with both sheep and cattle grazing. Some farms are
part time holdings and diversification activities are essential to the viability of the farms.
Much of the grassland is intensively managed; only fragments of the semi-natural habitats
of acid grassland/damp grassland and moorland cover remain. The traditional stone walls
are often in a poor state of repair and are supplemented by post and barbed wire fencing.
Settlement comprises four main hamlets, Shawfield, Fern Hill, Catley Lane Head and
Prickshaw and Broadley Fold. There are also scattered individual farmsteads, rural
buildings, some isolated at the end of narrow lanes terminating at the moorland edge.
These farm complexes frequently include large sheds/barns and makeshift structures
associated with diversification activities. High quality stone underlies much of the area and
quarrying has long been an important land use with a large number of both active and
disused quarries at the junction with the moor. The area is characterised by a very dense
network of footpaths which cross the belt of high land between the valleys and the
moorland summits.*
The high scenic quality of the South Pennine moors has long been recognised and the
Rooley Moor landscape is particularly valued by locals and visitors. It is very sparsely
settled and this lends a sense of isolation and relative tranquillity which is rare and highly
valued, especially given the close proximity to urban areas to the south and east. The
landscape forms a key recreational resource for the nearby urban population and is valued
for its natural and cultural heritage features and cultural associations. However, some
parts of the landscape are adversely affected by lack of management, or by urban fringe
pressures such as fly-tipping and scrambling. The area has also been subject to pressure
from proposed wind farm developments.
Figure 6 – Landscape Categories

Page 70

47

Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows

Core Strategy Policy G6 ‘Enhancing Green Infrastructure’ expects development proposals to protect
ancient woodlands and hedgerows, support new woodland and tree planting and replace removed
trees at a ratio of 2:1. It also expects development proposals and improvements to protect existing
sites and create new sites and features of interest. Priority areas include the South Pennine Moors,
upland farmland, the countryside around towns and designated sites of ecological importance.
Policy G7 ‘Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity’ expects development to enhance
trees, hedges and wooded areas. This policy also sets out what is expected from new developments
and proposed improvements in terms of protection and enhancement of sites and features,
including peatland, ponds, trees, hedges, wooded areas etc.. However, consistent with the above, a
local policy statement is needed on woodland and tree planting.

Policy LB2 - Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
Development proposals must seek to avoid the loss of, and minimise the risk of harm to, existing
trees, woodland, and/or hedgerows.
New woodland planting schemes will be encouraged in valleys and cloughs, around but not on
open unenclosed moorland and skylines.
Schemes for small-scale tree planting will be permitted where they:
a) screen or enhance unattractive areas and provide screening /enclosure around groups of
buildings, parking areas etc.
b) connect fragmented areas of tree and woodland cover (especially ancient semi-natural
woodland); and
c) comprise appropriate native species.
Where trees and/or woodlands are to be lost as a part of development this loss must be justified
as a part of an Arboricultural Implications Assessment (AIA) submitted with the application.
Explanation
Development proposals may occur on land where there are individual trees, woodlands or hedgerows
that have a value for local character and amenity, recreation and nature conservation. The policy
advocates those healthy trees and hedges that can contribute to the design and quality of the
development and the environmental quality of the area in general should be protected and retained
through favourable management. Where development proposals affect trees or hedges, appropriate
surveys should be carried out to ensure that any nature conservation or historic value of trees,
woodland and hedgerows is fully considered and where necessary suitable mitigation is employed.
Where the removal of trees is unavoidable, replacement planting of trees of an appropriate species
and scale and in a suitable location will be expected in order to compensate for the loss.
As there is low woodland cover in the Borough, it is important to increase both the extent and quality
of new woodland. However it is important that tree planting is on the right site and is the right
species for local amenity and landscape character, and is not detrimental to existing habitat value or
landscape quality. The Forum will work with the Council to secure new woodland planting in
partnership with other agencies, e.g. Forestry Commission and will seek to carry out small scale
improvements through its own activities and in partnership with landowners and appropriate
agencies.
An arboricultural implications assessment should include a detailed tree survey and landscape plan
and justify why trees should be removed and indicate which trees are to be retained and the means
of protecting those trees during construction works.

Page 71

48

Sites of Wildlife Importance

Core Strategy G7 ‘Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity’ identifies priorities for
biodiversity and geodiversity and includes criteria which new development should satisfy. Saved UDP
Policy NE/2 ‘Designated sites of ecological, geological and geomorphological importance’ identifies
those sites of international, national and regional and local importance and requires that
development should not be permitted where such sites are adversely affected. The local community
supports these policies but wishes to ensure that new sites of wildlife importance are identified or
created and that development takes opportunities, where appropriate to create or enhance
opportunities for wildlife.

Policy LB3 - Sites of Wildlife Importance
The Forum, in partnership with landowners, businesses, residents and relevant agencies and
organisations will seek to extend coverage and quality of ‘sites of biological importance’ in the
area and support the establishment of wildlife networks and nature trails consistent with plan
objectives and other policies.
Where a proposed development is on or near to an identified site of biological Importance, an
assessment of impact will be required to show that the site or a relevant feature is not adversely
affected.
Developments requiring full planning permission will be expected to show that opportunities have
been considered to incorporate habitat features of value to wildlife within the development
(including within building design) unless it can be demonstrated that this is not practicable or
appropriate. Suitable mitigation/compensatory measures may be required as a result of the
impact of development. In addition, enhancement measures that contribute to the targets set by
the local biodiversity action plan are welcomed. Enhancement and the creation of new
opportunities could be achieved by:
a) including bird and bat boxes on new buildings;
b) using native plants in landscaping schemes;
c) using climbing plants on walls which can provide shelter and foraging opportunities for
wildlife;
d) adding a green roofs where appropriate to the building and setting; and
e) creating other new habitats such as tree cover, water features etc.
(Proposed development involving the conversion, modification, demolition or removal of buildings
may in some circumstances require a protected species survey. See the Council’s planning
application validation checklist.)
Explanation
Currently, there is only one designated site of biological importance within the neighbourhood area,
Healey Dell Nature Reserve, although another, Knowl Moor lies just outside the area. There will
undoubtedly be other habitats which through the flora and fauna present are of local and possibly
more than local significance and which it is desirable to protect. Valleys, moorland areas, ponds and
wooded areas may support habitats and species that need to be identified so they can be protected
and enhanced. The Forum intends to work together with local field naturalists, Rochdale Council and
the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit to identify areas so that they will be afforded protection.
Even small scale developments can contribute significantly to creating and enhancing local wildlife
habitat as illustrated in the policy. Developments requiring full permission would need to show some
contribution towards biodiversity unless it can be demonstrated that measures have been considered
but are not practicable or appropriate.

Page 72

49

Older buildings and structures in the area e.g. agricultural buildings (e.g. farmhouses, barns and
outbuildings), may contain protected species e.g., bats, badgers and owls and the Council’s validation
requirements will set out the circumstances in which a survey will be required to address protection.

Page 73

50

8. Protecting our Environment
Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation

Core Strategy Policies G1, G2 and G3 of the Core Strategy and national guidance on renewable
energy seek to increase the amount of energy from renewable technologies in the interests of
maintaining a secure energy supply, reducing gas emissions to slowing down climate change. Policy
G3 sets out criteria for assessing the suitability of wind power and other renewable and low carbon
energy developments proposals.
In the case of wind power developments, Policy G3 states that planning permission will only be
granted if
• the area is an area identified as suitable for wind energy developments in local or
neighbourhood plan, and
• following consultation, it can be demonstrated that the planning impacts identified by
affected local communities have been fully addressed and therefore the proposal has their
backing.
Policy E1 below seeks to provide some clarity in relation to the Rooley Moor area.
Also, a Climate Change Adaptation Supplementary Planning Document outlines actions for
developments to help climate change adaptation under eight broad headings: location, layout and
orientation, materials / structure, environmental performance, green roofs and walls, rainwater
harvesting, Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) and green and blue infrastructure. Therefore, it is
not appropriate to duplicate that detail in this Neighbourhood Plan. However, it is appropriate to
set out the types of low-carbon energy installations which may be suitable in the area and what key
requirements and safeguards are expected when planning permission is required.

Policy E1 – Energy Efficiency and Renewable / Low Carbon Energy
Proposals for individual and community scale energy from hydro-electricity, solar voltaic panels,
local biomass facilities and wood fuel facilities will be supported where:
a) the siting and scale of the proposed development is appropriate to the setting and
position in the wider landscape;
b) the proposal does not harm the architectural and historic character of the host building or
its setting;
c) the proposed development does not harm the setting of listed buildings and conservation
areas;
d) the proposed development does not create an unacceptable impact on the amenities of
local residents; and
e) the proposed development does not have an unacceptable effect on a feature of natural
or biodiversity importance.
In addition, solar panels should be sensitively designed and sited, having regard to:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

glint and glare, especially on neighbouring uses;
colour and shape of panels in relation to the host building;
the potential impact of supporting infrastructure e.g. cabling;
noise impact;
cumulative visual impact on the building and groups of buildings.

Applications for solar farms would be required to meet Policy G3 of the Core Strategy.
Proposals for Biomass energy systems will be assessed having regard to air quality impact, and
delivery and storage of fuel and the visual impact of flues.

Page 74

51

Explanation
The community expressed strong support for sustainable alternative and renewable energy systems
subject to some controls to minimise impact. Residents are generally opposed to large schemes
including windfarm and solar farm developments in this location and consider that small scale
installations are more appropriate. The increasing efficiency of solar panels and lower costs of
production mean that this is an increasingly attractive form of energy generation and there is
evidence of solar panels being used on older buildings in the area.
The policy criteria seek to ensure that, in combination with other policies in the plan, proposals do
not cause harm to visual and residential amenity, landscape, wildlife and heritage interests. In the
case of conservation areas and listed building, some energy developments or apparatus may not be
appropriate or will need to be subject to strict controls. Some biomass systems and combined heat
and power systems on a small scale do not require planning permission but in some cases flues will
require permission especially in relation to listed buildings and buildings in conservation areas.
Whilst it is considered that individual wind turbines may be acceptable, detailed criteria are
necessary to ensure visual and other impacts are addressed (see policy E2 below)

Policy E2 - Wind Turbines
In addition to the criteria contained in Core Strategy Policy G3 ‘Renewable and low carbon energy
developments’, proposals for wind turbines will be supported provided that the scale, height,
siting, appearance and operation of the turbine(s) would not detract from:
a) the setting of locally ‘listed’ buildings and heritage assets;
b) the scale of adjacent buildings and landscape features;
c) ‘character areas’ and important views as identified in Policy D3; and
d) key recreational areas and routes as identified in Policies R1 and R2;
Proposals will be expected to show they will not give rise to:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

unacceptable noise impact on sensitive users;
unacceptable shadow and reflective flicker;
unacceptable visual clutter in combination with other turbines or structures;
interference to the operation of any communications or broadcast equipment;
and
disturbance to peat, hydrology and underground services.

All proposals should be accompanied by a landscape and visual impact assessment which
demonstrates how visual impacts have been minimised / mitigated and how the proposed
turbine(s) will fit into the landscape. Arrangements for the decommissioning of turbines at the
end of their operational life should be subject to a planning condition or legal agreement with the
Council.
Explanation
The Council’s ‘Landscape Capacity Study for wind energy in the South Pennines’, prepared by Julie
Martin Associates recommends that in considering whether a wind turbine development can be
accommodated in the landscape, a range of criteria may be considered including; landscape
character, potential for landscape or visual harm, sensitive siting, design, additional mitigation /
landscape enhancement and cumulative impact.
The local community has expressed the view that large scale developments involving groups of
turbines within the neighbourhood area would harm the character and appearance of the area and
its value for recreation. Developments of small groups of turbines will also not be appropriate and
will be considered a departure from policy; therefore an exceptional case and suitability would need

Page 75

52

to be demonstrated. However, the community acknowledges that high wind speeds in the area
suggest that small scale individual turbines could be effective in generating sustainable power for
dwellings and rural businesses and that, sensitively sited, these may be appropriate and not cause
harm. The unsympathetic siting of turbines however, could harm amenity, detract from important
views and landscape features, and detract from the quiet enjoyment of the area and some
recreational pursuits. Proposals should be accompanied by an assessment of planning impacts,
especially landscape and visual impacts, and the assessment should show how the site has been
selected and provide evidence that there is local community backing. Developers are expected to
submit visualisations supporting planning applications to explain the proposals and their impact.
These may include models, computer generated wireline images, photomontages, 3D modelling, and
virtual reality and immersive technologies.
It is important that at the end of their operational life, turbines are removed and the land suitably
restored. This is best secured through a legal agreement before permission is granted and the use of
a bond to fund decommissioning.
Proposals would also be considered against other Plan policies, particularly D1, D3, HE1, LB1 and LB3.

Light Pollution

The NPPF (paragraph 180) states that planning policies “should limit the impact of light pollution
from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation”. Core
Strategy Policy G9 ‘Reducing the impact of pollution, contamination and land stability’ requires that
development does not lead to an unacceptable increase in air, water, noise, light and other
pollution. However, a more detailed policy is required to ensure that pollution from artificial
externally visible light sources is minimised and that dark skies within the area are not compromised.

Policy E3 - Light Pollution
Development proposals involving external lighting as part of a new or existing development will
be permitted where the applicant can demonstrate that the lighting scheme is the minimum
necessary for security, safety, working or recreational purposes and that it minimises the potential
pollution from glare or spillage. Any proposals to install lighting in areas that are currently dark at
night will be resisted. (Dark at night is defined as more than 50m from an existing street light or
residential property or farmstead.)
Explanation
Lighting in itself is not a problem; it only becomes a problem where it is excessive, poorly
designed, badly installed or poorly maintained. Light pollution can affect both urban and rural areas,
but it is a particular problem in the countryside where dark skies at night are one of the special
intrinsic qualities of the rural landscape. Artificial lighting can obscure the stars, introduce an urban
character into rural areas, intrude on residential amenity and affect the ecology and wildlife of an
area. Light pollution also represents a waste of energy and resources. As such, where planning
permission for artificial lighting is granted the Council will require schemes to be designed to avoid
unnecessary glare and light spillage.

Minerals and Waste Matters, including Fracking

This Neighbourhood Plan does not address minerals and waste matters, and specifically methane
gas extraction by fracking or any other method. Despite many members of the community having
strong views on potential fracking and further quarrying in the area, it is important to be clear that
the Neighbourhood Plan has no jurisdiction over minerals and waste policy and therefore can have
no direct influence over planning applications for minerals extraction. Gas extraction on a large scale
cannot be considered on a neighbourhood area-wide basis and is a matter for Greater Manchester
wide planning as part of its policies on minerals and waste. Applications would be considered
against Policy 6 (Unconventional Gas Resources) of the Greater Manchester Joint Minerals DPD.

Page 76

53

9. Traffic Impact
The Core Strategy policy T1 ‘Delivering Sustainable Transport’ seeks to make best use of transport
assets, improve safety and to work with communities to minimise the impact of traffic. Policy T2
seeks to improve accessibility and to focus transport improvements in priority regeneration areas
but does not specifically address the types of accessibility and traffic issues experienced in Rooley
Moor. Policy DM1 requires that developments provide satisfactory vehicle access with adequate
parking, manoeuvring and servicing arrangements and policy DM2 ‘Delivering planning contributions
and infrastructure’ sets out what developer contributions should cover.
The purpose of this policy is not to duplicate the above but to stress the need for development to
mitigate traffic impact in line with those policies in recognition of the nature of traffic impact in the
area and the community’s concerns, and to secure, where appropriate, contributions to highway and
traffic management improvements agreed with the community and the Council.

Policy T1 - Traffic Impact
Any new development within the Neighbourhood Area likely to have a significant traffic impact on
existing roads, lanes and rights of way will only be supported if that impact can be mitigated via
developer contributions to measures agreed with residents and the highway authority. Traffic
impact includes effects of adverse road safety, conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and horseriders, access to residential properties and farms, congestion and pollution on both the main roads
and rural lanes.
The Forum will support traffic management measures in the area that address:
a) speeding of vehicles Rooley Moor Road to Catley Lane Head, and Prickshaw/Broadley Fold;
b) parking on the cobbled section of Rooley Moor Road and between the junction with
Knacks Lane and the Catley lane Head bus terminus; and
c) risks to highway and pedestrian safety on surfaces shared by vehicles, cyclists, pedestrians
and horse-riders.
Explanation
The primary vehicular access to the area is from Rooley Moor Road, a ‘B’ road with traffic calming
measures imposed just outside the plan boundary. Inside the plan boundary, the road narrows inside
the boundary with an intermittent footpath leading to the main Catley Lane Head gateway to the
Moor. Traffic speeds are considered a problem here and traffic calming measures need to be
explored. A limited network of lanes serve the residential hamlets, farms, network of lanes and
provide access for residents, farm vehicles and other commercial and delivery vehicles, visiting
walkers, horse-riders, cyclists and their cars and trailers. Therefore, as car ownership grows, and
visitors to the area continue to increase, conflict between different types of traffic, parking and road
safety issues will also increase. Whilst there is a low level of recorded road traffic accidents in the
area, the community’s reasonable perception is that traffic speed, poor signage, lack of off-road
parking and conflict between traffic types are likely to increase risk. The measure of ‘significant’
impact will be for the Council as local highway authority to judge having regard to the circumstances
of the development, its specific location and the views of local residents.
Most developments in the area will be relatively minor and will not be large traffic generators.
However, the road infrastructure and the form of development in this rural area means that even low
levels of additional traffic generated may combine to cause ‘significant’ road safety problems at
certain locations. This is due to restricted road widths (especially where large vehicles pass on single
track roads, restricted sight lines at the junctions of unadopted roads, parking pressures, excessive
speed of some vehicles, and poor quality road surfaces. It is therefore important to ensure that the
impact can be mitigated as appropriate the through suitable access arrangements, off-road parking,

Page 77

54

improvements to highways and footpaths and traffic management measures. In some cases it will
be more appropriate for developments to contribute financially towards identified schemes
(commensurate with the impact of the development) in order to make the development acceptable
and provide wider benefits.
The Forum will explore residents concerns about traffic speed on roads and lanes, manoeuvring of
large vehicles, on-street parking, etc. with the Council and agree suitable measures which could be
implemented through Council funding and developer contributions. The Forum’s Action Plan (Chapter
7) will seek to identify potential highway improvements and traffic management measures agreed
with the Council.

Page 78

55

Page 79

56

6. PROPOSALS MAP

Page 80

Page 81

58

7. DELIVERY AND IMPLEMENTATION, MONITORING AND REVIEW
Implementing the Plan
The Neighbourhood Plan will be delivered and implemented over the next ten years by different
stakeholders and partners. It is not a rigid “blue-print” and provides instead a framework to guide
future change and improvements through its vision, objectives and policies. Flexibility will also be
needed as new challenges and opportunities may arise over the plan period. It is therefore
important that the plan is monitored to assess how well policies are being implemented so that the
plan may be reviewed at an appropriate time.
The Plan will be implemented through different delivery mechanisms, by different organisations and
stakeholders and using different funding sources.
Firstly, the statutory planning process will direct and control private developer and investor interest
in the Neighbourhood Area taking account of the Plan’s policies and the wider Local Authority and
National Planning Policy Framework. Secondly, some infrastructure and environmental
improvements will be secured through investment in, and the management of, public services,
assets, and land. In the context of the prevailing economic climate and public funding there is a
recognition that public investment in the area will be challenging to secure.
Thirdly, the voluntary and community sector will have a role to play in terms of local community
infrastructure, events, environmental improvements, heritage and recreational pursuits. The
Neighbourhood Forum will have a strong role to play in this regard.
In terms of the key areas of action, the following table summarises how the Plan will be delivered
and implemented.
‘Policy area’ refers to the section of grouped policies. ‘How’ indicates the mechanisms for delivery
and the source(s) of funding. ‘Who’ sets out the main bodies, agencies and partners who will be
involved in the delivery. ‘Review Indicator’ is the means by which the policy can be monitored to
assess if it is being implemented successfully.
Neighbourhood Plan Policies
Policy Area

How?

Who?

Review Indicator?

Housing in Rooley
Moor

Development
management
decisions, private
sector investment.

RMBC, Private
homeowners,
developers.

Planning approvals for
net additional
residential units,
applications for
conversion, re-use of
rural buildings.

Maintaining Local
Identity and Improving
the Quality of New
Development

Development
management
decisions,
implementation of
Borough Urban Design
Guide, use of RMBC
review panel (Places
Matter) and annual
design awards, private
sector investment.

RMBC, private
homeowners,
developers, Historic
England and other
heritage agencies.

Planning applications
refused on grounds of
poor design.

Page 82

Safeguarding Heritage
Assets

Development
management
decisions, private and
public sector funding.

RMBC, Historic
England and other
heritage agencies.

Conservation Area
reviews, number of
new Listed Buildings
etc., enhancements to
heritage assets,
planning applications
approved/refused.

Supporting the Rural
Economy

Development
management
decisions, private
sector funding /
investment.

RMBC, farm and
related rural
businesses.

Planning approvals,
jobs created.

Promoting
Recreational Activities

Development
management
decisions, public
sector, private and
voluntary sector
funding.

RMBC, private sector,
local businesses, local
communities and
voluntary sector, Link
for Life, Pennine Edge
Forest, Forestry
Commission,
Groundwork Trusts,
Neighbourhood
Forum.

Applications relating to
recreational uses,
recreational
enhancements and
improvements projects
(e.g. rights of way,
visitor facilities).

Encouraging and
Managing Visitors

Development
management
decisions, private
sector, public sector
and voluntary sector
funding.

RMBC, Pennine Edge
Forest, United Utilities,
Forestry Commission,
Groundwork Trusts,
local business, private
sector, Neighbourhood
Forum.

Implemented visitor
facilities, new units of
overnight
accommodation,
visitor survey.

Protecting and
Enhancing Landscape
Quality and
Biodiversity

Development
management
decisions, Council
environmental
programmes, GM and
Rochdale Biodiversity
Action Plans, Local
Environmental
programmes.

RMBC, Natural
England, Environment
Agency, HCA, Pennine
Edge Forest, voluntary
sector organisations
e.g. Groundwork.

Planning applications,
tree loss/increase,
number and extent of
TPOs, SBI updates
(number and grade).

Protecting our
Environment

Development
management
decisions,
Supplementary
Planning Documents.
Funding through
developers, private
sector, energy
companies.

RMBC, developers,
private sector, energy
companies,
landowners.

Planning applications
approved/refused for
energy installations
and light pollution.

Page 83

60

Traffic Impact

Traffic management
measures, improved
signage, public sector,
private and voluntary
sector funding.

RMBC Highways, GM
Police enforcement,
Neighbourhood
Forum.

Road traffic accidents,
perceived safety and
parking improvements.

Residents and businesses in the area have commented on the importance of the green belt in
maintaining openness but also allowing ‘appropriate’ development. Other concerns have been the
need to address localised flooding problems and pollution issues. Planning policies in the current
Core Strategy provide sufficient controls to address these matters under planning legislation and
therefore no additional policies have been included in the Neighbourhood Plan. However, the
implementation of Council policies on green belt, flood risk, pollution in general will be monitored
and reviewed annually alongside those of the Neighbourhood Plan. (See table below)
Core Strategy Policies
Policy Area

How?

Who?

Review Indicator?

Green Belt

Core Strategy policies,
Decisions on planning
applications.

Rochdale Council,
developers,
landowners

Planning applications
approved for
inappropriate
development in the
green belt.

Flood Risk

Decisions on planning
applications, regional
and local Flood
Management Plans,
and Strategies, Green
Infrastructure Plans
and Strategies,
national, regional and
local public funding.

Rochdale Council,
United Utilities,
Environment Agency,
landowners.

Flooding events, flood
alleviation measures
implemented and
Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment review.

Pollution

Decisions on planning
applications, air/noise
quality management
monitoring

Rochdale Council,
central government,
developers and local
businesses.

Events and
environmental health
monitoring.

Page 84

61

The role of the Neighbourhood Forum
The Neighbourhood Forum’s stated objectives are to:
•
•
•

promote high standards of planning and architecture;
educate the public in the geography, history, natural history, culture and architecture; and
secure the preservation, protection, development and improvement of features or areas of
historic or public interest.

In terms of delivering the Plan, the Forum’s role and actions are explained detail below.
Control of New Development
The Council as Local Planning Authority will determine planning applications for new development in
the area in accordance with the Plan’s policies and other policies in the Local Development Plan. In
this regard, the Forum will work with the Local Authority as a consultee and with developers where
appropriate.
Built Heritage and Local Character
The Forum will work with the Council, landowners, private investors and heritage groups and
organisations to ensure that land management and new development is in keeping with the Plan’s
policies.
Local Facilities
The Forum will work with local organisations and the Borough Council to improve facilities and
services for local people.
Recreational Assets
The Forum will work with the Borough Council, local landowners, visitors, walkers and equestrian
organisations and groups to improve outdoor recreational facilities and their accessibility in the
neighbourhood area and to resolve issues.
Rural Economy
The Forum will work with local businesses and the farming community to ensure a prosperous and
sustainable rural economy.
Traffic and Accessibility
The Forum will work with Rochdale Council Highways Department to find ways to ensure the safety
of roads, lanes, and rights of way, including bridleways by addressing signage, speeding and parking
issues in the Neighbourhood Area.
Landscape and Environment:
The Forum will work with local wildlife and conservation groups to promote wildlife and to ensure
the local countryside is protected and preserved.
Promotion of the Area:
Consistent with the Plan’s policies, the forum will continue to promote the local heritage, landscape
quality, and recreation al opportunities through its dialogue, events, publicity and actions.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The Rochdale Core Strategy explains that a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will be introduced to
force developments to contribute to infrastructure improvements in a standardised way. Financial
contributions are required, where appropriate, from developers to mitigate the impact of the
development on essential infrastructure through the use of developer obligations. A CIL levy will
ensure that the burden of contributions for infrastructure costs, e.g. public utilities, policing, waste
services, the highways network, healthcare, education, is spread more widely.

Page 85

62

It should be noted that where there is a neighbourhood development plan in place, the
neighbourhood is entitled to 25% of CIL revenues from new development taking place in the plan
area. Although green belt restrictions on new development will limit potential CIL contributions,
some funding could be available to address local issues such as improvements to highways and
rights of way.

Reviewing the Plan
To be effective, Neighbourhood Plans need to be kept up-to-date. Policies will age at different rates
depending on local circumstances, and it is necessary to monitor how well the policies are
performing and whether they remain relevant. It is therefore proposed to consider the results of
annual monitoring to assess the effectiveness of policies and it is likely that at least a partial review
of the Plan will be required after 5 years.

Page 86

63

8. ACTION PLAN
The table overleaf summarises those projects or actions currently identified by the Forum (in
consultation with residents) which will help to deliver the Plan and improve the quality and
wellbeing of those living in and visiting the Area. Against each Action, the table sets out which other
organisations and partners/stakeholders would be involved and where sources of funding may be
available. The Action Plan is a living document and will be reviewed and developed further over the
Plan period, taking account of opportunities that arise and funding availability.

Page 87

64

ACTION PLAN
Policy Ref

Item

Action

By Whom

Funding

Page 88

Policy H1 – Housing

None identified

Policy D1 – Design

None identified

Policy D2 – Conversion and
Re-use of Rural Buildings

None identified

Policy D3 - Character Areas
and Important Views

Seek removal of electricity pylons
undergrounding of power lines

Contact Electricity North West and
National Grid to list Rooley Moor Area
for action

RMNF

Electricity
North West
and National
Grid

Policy HE1 – Protection of
Heritage Assets

Repairs to the cobbled road through
Prickshaw village to Station Road

Commission survey to establish
requirements

RMNF

TBA

Repairs to the cobbled road from Catley
Lane Head village to the junction at
Knacks Lane

Commission survey to establish
requirements

RMNF

TBA

Repairs to footpaths, kerbs and drains
throughout the area

Raise footpath levels and repair ditch
drainage on Rooley Moor Road and
Knacks Lane

Volunteer
action, RMBC
Highways

TBA

Installation of traditional heritage style
street furniture

Commission survey to establish
requirements

RMBC
Highways

TBA

Page 89

Policy RE1 – Farm
Diversification

None identified

Policy R1 - Areas of
Recreational Focus

Healey Dell

Increase public awareness

RMBC &
RMNF

TBA

Prickshaw

Increase public awareness

RMBC &
RMNF

TBA

Cotton Famine Road

Increase public awareness

RMBC &
RMNF

TBA

Fishing Ponds

Increase public awareness

RMBC, RMNF
& WVAS

TBA

Promotion of history and significance of
Cotton Famine Road

Secure HLF funding to promote
shared heritage

RMNF

HLF & RMBC

Identify and publicise circular routes for
walking, riding, running and cycling

Part of HLF project

RMNF

HLF & RMBC

Develop improved links in cycle
network

Document proposal

RMNF

TBA

Policy R3 - Equestrian
Development

Establish equestrian rendezvous event

Work with equestrian community to
hold a rendezvous event in Catley
Lane Head on Sunday 27th may 2018

RBBA, RMNF &
RMBC

TBA

Policy V1 – Visitor Facilities

New litter bins at Catley Lane Head

Formal request to RMBC

RMNF

TBA

Develop community / visitor centre /
cafe

Proposal to utilise S106 or CIL funds

TBA

TBA

Improve parking facilities

Request to Lord of the Manor to
identify opportunities

TBA

TBA

Policy R2 – Key Recreational
Routes

66

Page 90

Policy V2 - Overnight Visitor
Accommodation

None identified

Policy LB1 - Landscape
Protection and Enhancement

Address waterlogging of Rooley Moor
and water run off through Woodhouse
Lane and Rooley Moor Road

Commission survey to establish
appropriate measures

RMNF &
RMBC

TBA

Improve effectiveness and
sustainability of moorland drainage
systems, including ditches, gullys,
ponds etc.

Identify opportunities and work with
relevant agencies, organisations,
landowner etc. Possibly voluntary
work

RMNF, RMBC,
Environment
Agency,
landowners

RMBC, EA

Policy LB2 - Trees,
Woodlands and Hedgerows

Implement tree planting schemes for
Healey Dell

Station Road and Knacks Lane
hedgerow repairs

Forum
volunteers
and RMBC

Forestry
Commission
grants

Policy LB3 - Sites of Wildlife
Importance

Identify sites of biological importance
and support the establishment of
wildlife networks and corridors

RMNF to commission survey (subject
to costs and funding)

RMNF, RMBC,
Landowners &
stakeholders

?

Policy E1 – Energy Efficiency
and Renewable / Low Carbon
Energy

None identified

Policy E2 - Wind Turbines

None identified

67

Policy E3 - Light Pollution

Ask residents to reduce light pollution
in dark sky areas of the neighbourhood

Public awareness and voluntary
participation

Residents

Voluntary

Traffic calming measures for the rural
section of Rooley Moor Road leading to
Catley Lane Head

Request traffic survey to support the
installation of warning signs (riders /
walkers / cyclists) and radar speed
notification sign

RMBC
Engineers

RMNF have
restricted
fund of £700
from GMP

Reduce / remove unauthorised traffic
using Prickshaw as a cut through

Introduce signage to advise
‘Authorised Traffic Only”

RMBC
Engineers

Prickshaw
Boradley Fold
Fern Hill
Policy T1 - Traffic Impact

Page 91
68

APPENDIX 1 - EVIDENCE AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
As a statutory planning document, a neighbourhood development plan needs to be
supported by robust evidence to underpin its policies and proposals. The Neighbourhood
Forum has used a range of sources as evidence including national and local planning
guidance, the evidence base for the Borough’s Local Plan, existing data relating to the
Rooley Moor area and data gathered by group members.
Policies were also informed by the results of local consultation.

National and Local Planning Guidance
Document

Source

National Planning Policy
Framework

Web Link
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads
/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/740441/National_Pla
nning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf

Rochdale Unitary
Development Plan and
Background Document
(June 2006)

Rochdale
M.B.C

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning-and-building/localplanning-policy/unitary-development-plan

Rochdale Borough Core
Strategy (October 2016)

Rochdale
M.B.C

http://rochdale.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-planningpolicy/the-local-plan/core-strategy/Pages/default.aspx

Urban Design Guide
Supplementary
Planning Document
(Sept 2007)

Rochdale
M.B.C

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2008-09-12-residentialdesign-guide-v2.pdf

Guidelines and
Standards for
Residential
Development
Supplementary
Planning Document
(June 2016)

Rochdale
M.B.C

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2016-06-21-ldf-spdresidential-development-adopted-june-2016-v2.pdf

Biodiversity and
Development
Supplementary
Planning Document
Adopted January 2008
(Updates added
February 2017)

Rochdale
M.B.C

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2017-02-21-biodiversitydevelopment-spd-updated-v2.pdf

Climate Change
Adaptation
Supplementary
Planning Document
(June 2012}

Rochdale
M.B.C

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2013-01-04-ldf-spdclimate-change-adopted-v2.pdf

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2008-09-12-urban-designguide-v2.pdf

Page 92

Consultation and Engagement
Document

Source

Web Link

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Plan
Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Forum

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Plan
Community
Questionnaire

‘PPS Planning –
Manchester’ for Rooley
Moor Neighbourhood
Forum

http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/Questionnaireanalysis-11-09-final.pdf

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Forum
Website

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Forum

http://www.rmnf.org.uk/about/neighbourhoodplanning/

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Form
(Minute of meetings)

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Forum

http://www.rmnf.org.uk/resources/meetings/

Report and Analysis
August 2017

Research, Reports and Studies
Document

Source

Web Link

Census 2011

Office for National
Statistics

http://www.ukcensusdata.com/rochdalee08000005#sthash.ly5F50kw.dpbs

Agricultural Land
Classification

Natural England

https://mappinggm.org.uk/gmodin/?lyrs=ne_agr
icultural_land_class_gm#os_maps_light/13/53.4
561/-2.2726

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Area,
Rochdale, Heritage
Appraisal (Oct 2015)

Jenny Wetton
Conservation for
Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Forum

http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/05/Rooley-Moor-HAJWC-compressed-images-23.10.15.pdf

Catley Lane Head
Conservation Area
Appraisal (April 2017)

Rochdale M.B.C.

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2017-12-12catley-land-head-apraisal-v1.pdf

Prickshaw and Broadley
Fold Conservation Area
Appraisal

Rochdale M.B.C.

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2014-07-24prickshaw-broadley-fold-ca-appraisal.pdf

Mapping GM Metadata

Greater Manchester
local authorities

https://mappinggm.org.uk/gmodin/

Rochdale Township

Rochdale M.B.C.

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2014-12-01-

Page 93

70

Green Infrastructure
Action Plan (September
2013)

rochdale-gi-action-plan-v2.pdf

South Pennines Wind
Energy Landscape Study
(October 2014)

Julie Martin Associates

http://lucmaps.co.uk/SPWED/mainmenu.html

Bury, Rochdale and
Oldham Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment (2009)

Rochdale M.B.C, JBA
Consulting

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2010-03-09ldf-bro-sfra-volume1-user-guide-november2009-v2.pdf

Healey Dell Visitor
Information

Friends of Healey Dell

Rooley Moor Wind
Farm Environmental
Impact Assessment Ecology

Coronation Power

https://www.rossendale.gov.uk/planx_downloa
ds/Chapter_8_Ecology.pdf

Other Plans and Strategies
Document

Source

Web Link

Borough Renaissance
Masterplan (2010)

Rochdale M.B.C.

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/p
df/2013-12-02-rochdalemasterplan-2010.pdf

Local Biodiversity Action Plan

Greater Manchester
Biodiversity Project

http://www.gmbp.org.uk/site/i
ndex.php?option=com_content
&task=view&id=9&Itemid=27

North West River Basin
Management Plan (2015)

DEFRA , Environment Agency

https://www.daerani.gov.uk/publications/northwestern-river-basinmanagement-plan-2015-2021

Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for
England’s wildlife and
ecosystem services

DEFRA

https://www.gov.uk/governme
nt/publications/biodiversity2020-a-strategy-for-england-swildlife-and-ecosystem-services

Natural Character Areas (Area
36 Southern Pennines (NE323)
2012

Natural England

http://publications.naturalengl
and.org.uk/publication/511867

Magic Map

MAGIC

http://www.natureonthemap.n
aturalengland.org.uk/

Page 94

71

APPENDIX 2 - AREA PROFILE MAPS
FIGURE 7 – MAP OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES

Page 95

72

FIGURE 8 – MAP SHOWING ACCESSIBILITY

Page 96

FIGURE 9 – MAP OF DEFINITIVE RIGHTS OF WAY

Page 97
74

FIGURE 10 – AGRICULTURAL LAND CLASSIFICATION MAP
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan –
Agricultural Land Classification

Page 98
75

FIGURE 11 - MAP SHOWING CONSERVATION AREAS AND LISTED BUILDINGS

Page 99
76

FIGURE 12 – MAP SHOWING HEALEY DELL SITE OF BIOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE (SBI) AND LOCAL NATURE RESERVE (LNR)

Page 100
77

FIGURE 13 – MAP SHOWING WATER NETWORKS AND FLOOD ZONES

Page 101
78

APPENDIX 3 - CHARACTER AREAS AND IMPORTANT VIEWS

Page 102
79

Page 103

80

CHARACTER AREAS
A - Cotton Famine Road

B - Fern Hill hamlet

C - Catley Lane Head Conservation
Area

Page 104

D - Healey Dell Nature Reserve

E - Prickshaw and Broadley Fold
Conservation Area

Page 105

82

IMPORTANT VIEWS
1 - View of Fishing Lake looking south
east from Smallshaw Road

2 - View of the main fishing spot next
to Smallshaw Farm

3 - View looking east to Prickshaw
from the disused Cat Stones Quarry

Page 106

83

4 - View looking south from Fern Hill

5 - Views east towards Hunger Hill
from Woodhouse Lane

6 - View from moorland edge of
Rooley Moor Road looking south

7 - View of Rooley Moor Road
looking north to moorland edge

Page 107

84

8 - View of Healey Dell viaduct from
the River Spoden footpath in
Dunishbooth Wood

9 - View west from junction of
Knacks Lane and Rooley Moor Road

Page 108

85

APPENDIX 4 - GLOSSARY
BIODIVERSITY - The degree of variation of life forms flora, fauna and habitats) within an ecosystem.
CHANGE OF USE – A material change in the use of land or buildings that is of significance for
planning purposes, e.g. Residential to Business use.

COMMUNITY INFRATSTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) – A levy imposed by a local authority on new
developments to provide necessary physical or other infrastructure, e.g. transport
improvements, new schools, flood defences, health care etc.

CONDITIONS – Planning conditions are provisions attached to the granting of planning permission.
CONSERVATION AREA – An area of special architectural or historic interest, the character and
appearance of which are preserved and enhanced by local planning policies and guidance.
CORE STATEGY – The Core Strategy is a key document in the Local Plan (or Local Development
Framework – see below) which provides the strategic planning framework for the borough’s future
development needs up to 2028

DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENT - A document providing guidance on how design and access
has been thought about in a scheme proposed for planning permission. Most developments
require a design and access statement.
DEVELOPMENT – The carrying out of buildings, engineering, mining or other operations in, on, over
or under land, or the making of any material use of any buildings or land.
DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT – Spatial planning documents that are subject to independent
examination that, together with the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) form the development plan (LDF)
for a local authority area.
FARM DIVERSIFICATION - Farm diversification is when a farm branches out from traditional
farming by adding new money making activities. This can be in place of or in addition to its
traditional farming pursuits. Farm diversification can involve anything, from food production,
equestrian activities, starting a bed and breakfast in the barn or setting up a local tourist attraction.

FLOOD ZONE – An area identified by the Environment Agency as being at risk from flooding (flood
zone 3 having the greatest risk).
GREEN BELT – Areas of land where development is tightly controlled. The purposes of green belt are
to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas; to prevent neighbouring towns from
merging into one another; to assist safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; and to assist
in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other land.
GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE – Green infrastructure is the physical environment within and between
urban areas, specifically the network of open spaces, waterways, woodlands, green corridors and
open countryside.
GREENFIELD LAND – Land which has not previously been developed or land where evidence of
previous development has gone.
HERITAGE ASSET – A building, monument, site, place or landscape identified as having a degree of
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage
assets include designated assets and assets defined by the local planning authority.

Page 109

86

INFRASTRUCTURE – A collective term for services such as roads, electricity, sewerage, water, health,
waste facilities and community facilities.
LANDSCAPE CHARACTER ASSESSMENT – Grouping landscape into areas with similar character,
based on physical and human influences. The assessment describes the physical, cultural and
perceptual character of the landscape and identifies important and sensitive features.
LISTED BUILDING – Buildings that are identified for their special architectural or historic interest.
Listed building consent is required to ensure that these features are protected. Listed buildings are
graded Grade I, Grade II * and Grade II.
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – A collection of planning documents containing spatial and other
policies that regulate or control development across the Borough.
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT – The collective term in the Planning Act for Development Plan
Documents and the Statement of Community Involvement.

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK (LDF) – The term used to describe the local planning
authority’s folder of published local development documents.
LDF ALLOCATIONS DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT – Part of the LDF identifying exactly how
much and what type of development will be going where and roughly when this will occur,
accompanied by a Proposals Map for whole of an area.
MITIGATION – Measures taken to reduce adverse impacts of development and land-use changes.
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF)- The NPPF was published in July 2018, it sets
out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It
replaces most of the Planning Policy Statements and Planning Guidance Notes issues by government
within a single and more succinct document.
NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – The development plan written by a community which
has come together through a Parish Council or Neighbourhood Forum to shape new development by
saying where development should be located, what it should look like and what areas/ features
should be protected from development or the adverse effects of development. Introduced in the
Localism Act 2011.
ORIGINAL DWELLING - The house as it was first built or as it stood on 1 July 1948.
PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS – Rights to carry out certain limited forms of development
without the need to make an application for planning permission.
PLANNING OBLIGATIONS – see Section 106 Agreements.

PREVIOUSLY DEVELOPED LAND (BROWNFIELD LAND) – Land which is or was occupied by a
permanent structure (excluding agricultural or forestry buildings) and associated fixed surface
infrastructure, and that has not lost evidence of this previous use.
RENEWABLE AND LOW CARBON ENERGY – Renewable energy covers those energy flows which
occur naturally and repeatedly in the environment – from the wind, the fall of water, the
movement of the oceans, from the sun and also biomass. Low carbon technologies are those
that can help to reduce carbon emissions. ‘Biomass’ is a renewable energy source from living or
recently living plant and animal materials which can be used as fuel.

Page 110

87

SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS – Allows a Local Planning Authority to enter into a legally binding
agreement or planning obligation, with a land developer over a related issue (often to funded
necessary improvements in the area).
SITE OF BIOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE (SBI) – A protected area of ecological significance in terms of
flora, fauna, geological features and listed in a register produced on a county wide basis. Sites
are graded A, B or C, depending on their scientific significance.
STATEMENT OF CONSULTATION – sets out how the Neighbourhood Forum has undertaken
community participation and stakeholder involvement in the production of the Neighbourhood
Plan. It is required to fulfil requirements set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, and specifically Regulation 22(1) part (c).
STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT (SEA) – A generic term used to describe
environmental assessment as applied to policies, plans and programmes. The European SEA
Directive (2001/42/EC requires a formal environmental assessment of certain plans and policies
including those in the field of planning and land-use.
STRATEGIC FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT (SFRA) – A spatial assessment of flood risk from all
sources identifying where flood risk is greatest in a local authority area. It is used to inform
where certain types of development activity e.g. housing may, or may not be appropriate and
will provide background information for detailed site flood risk assessments and planning for
flood incidents.
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD/SPG) – Part of the LDF that may cover a range
of issues, thematic or site specific, and provides further detail of policies and proposals in a
'parent' LDF document, e.g. on Design or a large redevelopment area.
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT – Defined by the World Commission on Environment and
Development as ‘meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their needs’. The planning system should ensure that growth and
development is sustainable.

Page 111

88

APPENDIX 5 - ADDENDUM
The RMNF trustees reviewed consultee comments for the pre-submission draft neighbourhood plan
on 7th June 2018 and wish to note the following important elements within the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Area:
•
•

The southern views from Fair View Cottages (grid reference SD 87321 15615) are important.
Two WWII Pillboxes (Grid Reference SD 87128 15913 and SD 87684 15600) and the following
three scheduled monuments should be noted as heritage assets:
1) BROADLEY STATION - MONUMENT NUMBER: 499065
2) TRIPLE BANK AND DITCH - MONUMENT NUMBER: 1525509
3) EARTHWORK BANK AND DITCH - MONUMENT NUMBER: 1525508

Page 112

89

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan
2018 - 2028
Consultation Statement
Regulation 15
November 2018

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
113
November

Page 1

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Contents
1. Introduction and Background ....................................................................................................................... 3
2. Consultation Activities...................................................................................................................................... 5
3. Timeline & Plan Preparation ...................................................................................................................... 15
4. Detailed Consultation..................................................................................................................................... 19
5. Key Responses................................................................................................................................................... 20
6. Draft Neighbourhood Plan and Pre-Submission Consultation .................................................... 21
Appendix A – Example letter to organisation............................................................................................ 23
Appendix B – Example letter to residents................................................................................................... 24
Appendix C - January 2017 - RMNF Email Update .................................................................................. 25
Appendix D - Stakeholder & Regulation 14 Consultation List of Organisations Consulted &
Responses Data....................................................................................................................................................... 27
Appendix E – Response from Environment Agency ............................................................................... 31
Appendix F – Response from Environment Agency ............................................................................... 33
Appendix G - Response from Natural England ......................................................................................... 35
Appendix H - Stakeholder & Regulation 14 Consultation List of Organisations Consulted &
Responses Data For Neighbourhood Plan Pre-Submission Consultation ..................................... 40
Appendix I Resident Responses For Neighbourhood Plan Pre-Submission Consultation .... 46
Appendix J - Response from Historic England .......................................................................................... 59
Appendix K Responses to Resident Comment Dated 27 March 2018 ............................................ 63
Appendix L - Response from National Grid ................................................................................................ 65
Appendix M - Response from United Utilities ........................................................................................... 67
Appendix N - Response from The Coal Authority .................................................................................... 69
Appendix O - Planning Decision Process Map (High Level) ................................................................ 71

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
114
November
2018

Page 2

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

1. Introduction and Background
This statement has been prepared by the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan Group on behalf of the
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum (RMNF) to accompany its submission to Rochdale Metropolitan
Borough Council (RMBC) of the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan (the plan), under section 15 of the
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012.
The plan has been prepared by the RMNF, a qualifying body, for the whole of the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Area, as designated by Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council at the Rochdale
Township Committee meeting on 9 March 2016.
The plan proposal relates to planning matters in the designated neighbourhood area and covers the
period from 2018 to 2028. It does not contain policies relating to excluded development as laid out in
the Regulations.
The following statement will address each of the four ‘basic conditions’ required of the Regulations and
explains how the plan meets the requirement of paragraph 8 of schedule 4B to the 1990 Town and
Country Planning Act.
The Regulations state that a Neighbourhood Plan will have met the basic conditions if it:
•
•
•
•

has regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of
State;
contributes to the achievement of sustainable development;
is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan for the area ;
is compatible with European Union (EU) and European Convention on Human Right (ECHR)
obligations.

This statement has been prepared in accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012 Part 5 Paragraph 15 (2) which defines a consultation statement as a document that:
•
•
•
•

contains details of the persons and bodies who were consulted about the proposed
neighbourhood development plan;
explains how they were consulted;
summarises the main issues and concerns raised by the persons consulted; and
describes how these issues and concerns have been considered and, where relevant, addressed
in the proposed neighbourhood development plan.”

This statement shows how the Forum has engaged and consulted local people, businesses, land and
property owners and users of the area throughout the various stages of the plan before submitting it to
RMBC for consideration. The early stages of consultation sought to increase awareness of the plan
preparation process, its purpose, identify the issues it seeks to address and the likely policy directions it
needed to consider. Once consultation had been carried out on a draft version of the plan, this
statement was updated to include further details of the draft consultation and the results of that
consultation.
The plan has been prepared under the auspices of the 2011 Localism Act, which gave neighbourhood
forums and other relevant bodies the ability to prepare statutory Neighbourhood Plans to help guide
development in their local areas. These powers give local people the opportunity to shape new
development, as planning applications are determined in accordance with national planning policy and
the local development plan and any other material planning considerations. Once finally ‘made’, the
plan will form part of this planning policy framework.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
115
November

Page 3

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

This statement provides details of the way in which the plan has been prepared, and the different
consultation and engagement methods that have been used to ensure that not only local people, but
also a wide range of statutory and other bodies, have had the opportunity to have their input into the
plan. This was intended to ensure that as broad a range of people and organisations as possible were
able to have input into developing a consensus on the way forward for the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood
Area.
This statement clearly demonstrates there has been extensive community engagement that has
informed the content of the plan.
From the outset, RMNF and the Neighbourhood Plan Group (the steering group for the plan) were keen
to ensure that the plan reflected the views of the local community as evidenced through feedback from
questionnaires, surveys, and consultation events.
The preparation for publication of the plan has therefore included a considerable consultation effort
throughout the process that was driven by the Neighbourhood Plan Group, acting on behalf of RMNF.
From the beginning, it was identified that active and effective consultation would be critical in producing
a plan that should ultimately win the support of the residents of the Neighbourhood Area.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
116
November
2018

Page 4

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

2. Consultation Activities
Summary timeline of the key consultation stages
Communication Key - Channel to business and households: F = Flyers / P = Posters / M = Magazine / NL = Newsletter / NP = Newspaper / E = email / O = Online / MT = Meeting/ PF = Printed Form
RMNF Online Communication Channels:
• RMNF website: https://www.rmnf.org.uk
• RMNF Facebook Page: https://www.facebook.com/groups/rooleymoorneighbourhoodforum
• RMNF Twitter Page: https://twitter.com/InfoRmnf
Date

Event

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

Links

Littleborough
Neighbourhood
Forum meeting

Coach House, Lodge
Street,
Littleborough
OL15 9AE

5

E, MT

Initial contact to understand the
neighbourhood forum & plan process

Thursday 21 May
2015 at 7.00 pm

Spotland and
Falinge Area
Forum

Spotland Methodist
Church, Rooley
Moor Road,
Rochdale OL12 7ES

66

E, O, MT

Proposal to create the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Forum is agreed by
residents at this meeting

June 2015

Research and
Information
Gathering

Various

E, O

Data gathering in preparation for meeting
with council planning officers

Meeting with
RMBC planning
officers

Number One
Riverside, Smith
Street, Rochdale
OL16 1XU

7

E, O, MT

Concept of Rooley Moor Neighbourhood
Area and Neighbourhood Forum agreed
with residents and RMBC. Web and social
media sites created

For a map of the neighbourhood area see:
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/04/rooley-moor-neighbourhoodarea.jpg

4

E, O, MT

Applications submitted to RMBC for
designation of area and forum

Copies the applications are held off line and can be provided
on request

April 2015
Tuesday 14 April
2015 at 7.30pm

May 2015

Page 117

For meeting minutes see:
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/g3538/Printed
%20minutes%2021st-May2015%2019.00%20Spotland%20and%20Falinge%20Area%20F
orum.pdf?T=1

July 2015
Tuesday 07 July
2015
15:00 - 16:30

Meeting Room 315
Tuesday 14 July
2015

Meeting

Owd House, Fern
Hill Lane, Rochdale
OL12 6BW

August 2015
16 August 2015

Regulation 15 Draft

E, O

November 2018

Page 5

Consultation Statement
Date

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Event

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

Links

Rochdale
Township
Committee

Training and
Conference Suite,
First Floor, Number
One Riverside,
Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

34 and
approx. 60
members
of the
public

O, MT

Application for neighbourhood area and
forum. Mr A Rawsterne, member of the
proposed Neighbourhood Forum
addressed the Committee in respect of
the application.

Meeting minutes:
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/g3608/Printed
%20minutes%2016th-Sep2015%2018.15%20Rochdale%20Township%20Committee.pdf
?T=1

September 2015
Wednesday 16
September 2015

DECIDED – That (1) the proposed Rooley
Moor Neighbourhood Area boundary, as
described in the submitted report, be
approved as the basis for public
consultation;
(2) the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood
Forum application be approved as a basis
for consultation.

Page 118

Thursday 17
September 2015
7.00pm

RMNF Inaugural
AGM

Committee Rooms 1
and 2
Rochdale Town Hall,
The Esplanade,
Rochdale OL16 1AB

22

E, O

Our fist meeting to appoint trustees,
agree our objects and constitution, etc.

Online advert:
https://www.rochdaleonline.co.uk/events/35226/events-inrochdale/rooley-moor-neighbourhood-forum-agm
Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20150917-RMNF-AGMMinutes.pdf

October 2015
Monday 16 October
2015

Consultation
opens

40+

E, O

Consultation opens for designation of a
neighbourhood forum and
neighbourhood area

See: https://consultations.rochdale.gov.uk/strategicplanning/rooley_moor_neighbourhood_area_october_2015/

Friday 23 October
2015

Heritage report
published

40+

E, O

Heritage report commissioned by RMNF.
Email notification to trustees officer,
members, councillors and others

See: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/05/Rooley-Moor-HA-JWCcompressed-images-23.10.15.pdf

Consultation
closed

40+

E, O

Consultation for designation of a
neighbourhood forum and
neighbourhood area closed. Email
notification to trustees officer, members,
councillors and others

November 2015
Wednesday 30
November 2015

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 6

Consultation Statement
Date

Event

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

40+

E

Email notification to trustees officer,
members, councillors and others

Links

February 2016
Tuesday 16
February 2016

Forums
charitable
status
confirmed

Thursday 25
February 2016

Spotland and
Falinge Area
Forum

Spotland Methodist
Church, Rooley
Moor Road,
Rochdale OL12 7ES

33

MT

Forum update provided at the Spotland &
Falinge Area Forum

Meeting minutes:
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/g3541/Public
%20minutes%2025th-Feb2016%2019.00%20Spotland%20and%20Falinge%20Area%20F
orum.pdf?T=11

Rochdale
Township
Committee
Meeting

Training and
Conference Suite,
First Floor, Number
One Riverside,
Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

29 + 25
members
of the
public

E, O, MT

Area and Forum formally designated by
the Local Authority at the Rochdale
Township Committee. Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Forum meeting.

Meeting minutes:
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/g3611/Printed
%20minutes%2009th-Mar2016%2018.15%20Rochdale%20Township%20Committee.pdf
?T=1

RMNF Meeting

Spotland Methodist
Church, Rooley
Moor Road,
Rochdale OL12 7ES

24

E, O, MT

Community update meeting

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20160317-RMNF-Minutes.pdf

Thursday 14 April
2016

Trustees
Meeting

Owd House, Fern
Hill Lane, Rochdale
OL12 6BW

7 + Email
update to
all forum
members

E, O, MT

Meeting to discuss:

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20160414-RMNF-TrusteesMeeting-Minutes.pdf

Wednesday 27 April
2016

Launch Event
Meeting

Owd House, Fern
Hill Lane, Rochdale
OL12 6BW

9

E, MT

March 2016
Wednesday 9
March 2016

Page 119

Thursday 17 March
2016

April 2016

Regulation 15 Draft

Heritage Lottery Fund, Bank Account
(opened), Locality Grant, BBC & Launch
Event, Conservation and other matters

November 2018

Meeting to discuss launch event plans.

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/20160427-RMNF-Launch-EventMeeting-Minutes-Draft.pdf

Page 7

Consultation Statement
Date

Event

June 2016

RMNF Survey Letter and
questionnaire
to residents and
organisations

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

Links

40+

E, O, PF

Letters were delivered by hand to
residents and emailed to organisations.
See Appendix A & B for example letters
Initial data gathering asking basic
questions:

For letter attachments – area map see:
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/04/rooley-moor-neighbourhoodarea.jpg

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Page 120

Thursday 16 June
2016

What do you like about the
Rooley Moor area?
What don’t you like?
What do you want to change?
What are the five main issues
in the area that the plan needs
to tackle?
What are the 5 key
opportunities in the area that
the plan can take to improve
the area and promote heritage
and landscape protection and
sustainable recreation and
tourism activities

Minutes and actions with comments from
the BBC

Example questionnaire see: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/06/RMNF-Questionnaire.pdf

We received 2 written responses and 14 through
SurveyMonkey. Data can be provided on request

Launch Event
Meeting

818 Rooley Moor
Road, Lane Head,
Rochdale. OL12 6BN

7

E, MT

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/20160616-Launch-Event-MinutesActions_with-BBC-comments-and-additions.pdf

Friday 1 July 2016

Launch Event
Meeting

818 Rooley Moor
Road, Lane Head,
Rochdale. OL12 6BN

11

E, MT

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/20160701-Launch-Event-MinutesActions.pdf

Friday 22 July 2016

Launch Event
Meeting

818 Rooley Moor
Road, Lane Head,
Rochdale. OL12 6BN

10

E, MT

Meeting minutes; http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/20160722-Launch-Event-MinutesActions.pdf

Friday 5 August

Launch Event
Meeting

Spotland Methodist
Church, Rooley
Moor Road,
Rochdale OL12 7ES

19

E, MT

Last meeting before the event

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/20160805-RMNF-–-Launch-EventMeeting-Actions.pdf

Saturday 13 August
2016

Interview on
radio
Manchester

Phone call

Unknown

O

At approximately 8:45am Alison
Butterworth interviewed Alan Rawsterne
about the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood
Forum and its connection with the Cotton
Famine Road

Listen to the interview: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/bbc-radiomanchester/

July 2016

August 2016

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 8

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Date

Event

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

Links

Sunday 14 August
2016

Launch event

Win’s Field,
Rooley Moor Road,
Catley Lane Head,
Rochdale OL12 6BN

300+

E, O, F, P, NP

The event included a public consultation
exhibition and basic questionnaire

Example questionnaire: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/06/RMNF-Questionnaire.pdf
Advert: http://cloggin.co.uk/content/rooley-moor-cottonfamine-road-launch-event
Rochdale OnLine article:
https://www.rochdaleonline.co.uk/news-features/2/newsheadlines/104596/cotton-famine-road-plaque-unveiling
and
RMNF article: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/rooley-moorneighbourhood-launch-event-and-cotton-famine-roadplaque-unveiling/

October 2016
Thursday 6 October
2016

RMNF AGM

Page 121

Spotland Methodist
Church, Rooley
Moor Road,
Rochdale OL12 7ES

20

E, O

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum AGM
including a presentation from PPS
Planning

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/10/20161006-RMNF-AGMMinutes.pdf

Unknown

E, O, TV

Interview with members of Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Forum about the Black &
British – ‘A Forgotten History’ program
featuring the Cotton Famine Road and our
neighbourhood launch event

Watch the news article: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/11/COTTONFAMINE_GILL_1830_23_1
1_103_2169459.mp4

18

E, O, MT

40+

E, O

Email sent to RMNF members and all
contacts

End of year email from the Chair – See:
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/rmnf-2016-a-view-from-the-chair/

E, MT

Discussion for information

Meeting agenda: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/20170105-RMNF-Meeting-WithMichael-Brook.pdf

November 2016
Wednesday 2
November 2016

BBC Local News

December 2016
Wednesday 7
December 2016

RMNF Meeting

Sunday 11
December 2016

Update from
the Chair

Owd House, Fern
Hill Lane, Rochdale
OL12 6BW

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum Meeting –For meeting
minutes see: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/12/20161207-RMNF-MeetingMinutes.pdf

January 2017
Thursday 5 January
2017

Meeting with
Michael Brook
(RMBC
Communication
s Officer)

Regulation 15 Draft

Number One
Riverside, Smith
Street, Rochdale,
OL16 1XU

November 2018

Page 9

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Date

Event

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

Links

Wednesday 11
January 2017

Neighbourhood
Plan Group
Meeting

Croft Head Barn,
Knacks Lane,
Prickshaw Village,
Rochdale OL12 6BD

6

E, O

Discussion to start the neighbourhood
plan process (attendees: John, Roy,
Morley, Cecile, Andy and Alan)

Meeting agenda: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20170111-RMNF-Policy-forNeighbourhood-Plan-Agenda.pdf

Friday 27 January
2017

Email update to
all forum
members

40+

E

Email sent to RMNF members and all
contacts

See Appendix C

O

News item posted on the RMNF website

Read the online update: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/rmnfneighbourhood-plan/

February 2017
Neighbourhood
Forum Update

Wednesday 15
February 2017

Neighbourhood
Plan Group
Meeting

Croft Head Barn,
Knacks Lane,
Prickshaw Village,
Rochdale OL12 6BD

6

MT

Review draft neighbourhood plan (cross
referencing policies to Core Strategy and
NPPF) and amend / publish in readiness
for meeting with Council on 23rd Feb 17

Neighbourhood
Plan Group
Meeting with
RMBC

Number One
Riverside, Smith
Street, Rochdale,
OL16 1XU
Meeting room 308

6

E, MT

Discussion about a draft neighbourhood
plan for the Rooley Moor Area.

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20170223-Rooley-MoorNeighbourhood-Plan-Group-Meeting-Minutes.pdf

Thursday 9 March
2017

Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood
Plan & Events
Group meeting

Owd House, Fern
Hill Lane, Rochdale.
OL12 6BW

12

E, MT

Update and actions following meeting
with RMBC planners

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20170309-Rooley-MoorNeighbourhood-Plan-Events-Group-Meeting-Minutes.pdf

Wednesday 22
March 2017

Events Planning
Meeting

818 Rooley Moor
Road, Catley Lane
Head, Rochdale.
OL12 6BN

12

E, MT

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/Rooley-Moor-NeighbourhoodForum-Mtg-Mins-22-March-2017.pdf

Wednesday 26 April
2017

Events Planning
Meeting

818 Rooley Moor
Road, Catley Lane
Head, Rochdale.
OL12 6BN

11

E, MT

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20170426-RMNF-MeetingMinutes.pdf

Sunday 30 April
2017

Update from
the Chair

40+

E

Page 122

Sunday 5 February
2017

Thursday 23
February 2017

March 2017

April 2017

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Email sent to RMNF members and all
contacts, with minutes from 26/04/17
attached

Page 10

Consultation Statement
Date

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Event

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

Links

Monday 8 May
2017

Neighbourhood
Plan Group
Meeting

Croft Head Barn,
Knacks Lane,
Prickshaw Village,
Rochdale. OL12 6BD

6

MT

Meeting included Paul Simpson from PPS
Planning

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20170508-RMNF-Plan-GroupMeeting-Minutes.pdf

Monday 29 May
2017

Community
questionnaire
consultation
opens

250+

E, O, PF

Two paper copies of our community
questionnaire is despatched to all
households in our Neighbourhood Area.
Survey Monkey is used to place the
questionnaire online

Example questionnaire and details of stakeholder
consultation: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/05/RMNF-Neighbourhood-PlanPolicy-Leaflet-Questionnaire-Final-Update.pdf

May 2017

Tuesday 30 May
2017

Presentation to
Rochdale
Rotary Club

Success to the
Plough, Bolton Road
Marland, OL11 3LW

25 approx.

MT

Alan Rawsterne & Andy Meek
presentation about RMNF and the
neighbourhood plan

E, O

Data is consolidated for analysis and
report

–

June 2017
Friday 30 June 2017

Page 123

July 2017

Community
questionnaire
consultation is
closed
Community
questionnaire
analysis

Analysis is completed and sent to our
planning consultant for review and report

Download community questionnaire analysis (unprotected
Excel spreadsheet including calculations):
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/RMNF-Neighbourhood-PlanQuestionnaire-Analysis.xlsx

August 2017
Wednesday 9
August 2017

Event planning
meeting

Thursday 10 August
2017

Event Publicity

Friday 11 August
2017

Event Publicity

Regulation 15 Draft

Spotland Methodist
Church, Rooley
Moor Road,
Rochdale OL12 7ES

Rochdale OnLine

12+

MT

Informal meeting to finalise
arrangements. Meeting minutes not
required

Unknown

O

RMNF event included with other local
events

Online publicity: https://www.rochdaleonline.co.uk/newsfeatures/2/news-headlines/111821/our-guide-to-what-youcan-do-in-and-around-the-borough-this-weekend

Unknown

O

RMNF specific article

Online publicity: https://www.rochdaleonline.co.uk/newsfeatures/2/news-headlines/111850/mayor-to-unveil-a-newsign-at-catley-lane-head

November 2018

Page 11

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Date

Event

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

Links

Sunday 13 August
2017

RMNF Event

Win’s Field,
Rooley Moor Road,
Catley Lane Head,
Rochdale OL12 6BN

300+

E, O, F, P, NP

The event included a public consultation
exhibition and detailed questionnaire

Event flyer: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/RMNF-Event-Flyer-13th-August2017.pdf
Online advert:
https://www.rochdaleonline.co.uk/events/48533
Neighbourhood plan exhibition content see:
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/09/RMNF-Community-QuestionnaireSummary-draft.pdf
Publicity after the event:
https://www.rochdaleonline.co.uk/news-features/2/newsheadlines/111881/community-event-celebrates-the-historyof-catley-lane-head-and-cotton-famine-road

September 2017

Page 124

Monday 25
September 2017

October 2017

Streetwise
Magazine

7100
homes

NL

October issue – Page 68 & 69 RMNF
Update

Copy available on request

Community
Consultation
Update

40+

E

Email sent to RMNF members and all
contacts, with a copy of the consultation
report attached

Read the update: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/communityconsultation-update/

Streetwise
Magazine

7100
homes

NL

November issue – Page 68 & 69
Community Questionnaire Results

Copy available on request

See the consultation report: https://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Questionnaire-analysis-11-09final.pdf

November 2017
Thursday 2
November 2017

RMNF AGM

Spotland Methodist
Church, Rooley
Moor Road,
Rochdale OL12 7ES

15

E, O, MT

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum AGM

RMNF AGM meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20171102-RMNF-AGMMinutes.pdf

Friday 17
November 2017

Meeting with
PPS Planning

Owd House, Fern
Hill Lane, Rochdale.
OL12 6BW

2

E, MT

Review of outstanding neighbourhood
plan actions

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20171117-Neighbourhood-PlanMeeting-with-Paul-Simpson.pdf

Friday 24
November 2017

Meeting with
the Lord of the
Manors’ Agent Andrew
Crossley

Crossleys Estate
Agents, 104
Yorkshire St,
Rochdale OL16 1JY

6

E, MT

Introductions and discussion

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/20171124-Minutes-of-RMNFMeeting-with-LotM-Agent-Andrew-Crossley.pdf

January 2018

Streetwise
Magazine

7100
homes

NL

February issue – Page 84 & 85 RMNF
Update

Copy available on request

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 12

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Date

Event

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

Links

Monday 30 January
2018

Presentation to
Rochdale 41
Club and
Tangent Club

Rochdale Golf Club,
The Clubhouse,
Bagslate, Rochdale
OL11 5YR

40+

MT

Alan Rawsterne & Andy Meek
presentation about RMNF and the
neighbourhood plan

February 2018

Streetwise
Magazine

7100
homes

NL

March issue – Page 68 RCT & RMNF - HLF
Collaboration

Copy available on request

March 2018
Monday 26 March
2018

Start of sixweek presubmission
consultation for
draft
neighbourhood
plan.

250+

E, O, F, NL, PF

Letter posted to residents supported by
email to residents, stakeholders and
statutory consultees

Example letter: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Resident-Stakeholder-ConsulteeCommunication.pdf
Draft Plan: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/20180315-Rooley-MoorNeighbourhood-Development-Plan-CommunityConsultation.pdf
Online comments form:
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/survey/rmnf-neighbourhood-planconsultation-feedback-2-2/

Page 125

April 2018
Thursday 12 April
2018

Hard copy comments form to print:
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Rooley-Moor-NeighbourhoodPlan-Comments-Form-V5.pdf
Streetwise
Magazine

7100
homes

NL

May issue – Page 68 - RMNF Update

Copy available on request

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/06/20180412-Trustees-MeetingMinutes.pdf

Trustees
Meeting

Croft Head Barn,
Knacks Lane,
Prickshaw Village,
Rochdale. OL12 6BD

6

E, MT

Meeting to keep trustees informed of
neighbourhood plan progress and discuss
other matters

Monday 16 April
2018

Meeting with
Mid Pennine
Arts

1 Neptune St,
Burnley BB11 1SF

3

E, MT

To inform MPA of our neighbourhood
plan and discuss other matters

Saturday 21 April
2018

Community
Consultation
Event

Spotland Methodist
Church, Rooley
Moor Road,
Rochdale OL12 7ES

14

F, E, MT

Event from 10am to 2pm – 14 people
(including 3 members of the
neighbourhood plan group) sign in to the
event

Tuesday 24 April
2018

Presentation to
Heywood
Rotary Club

The Pack Horse Inn,
Elbut Lane, Birtle,
Bury BL9 7TU

20+

E, MT

Alan Rawsterne gave presentation about
RMNF and the neighbourhood plan

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Online advert: https://www.rmnf.org.uk/neighbourhoodplan-drop-in-event-saturday-21st-april-2018/

Page 13

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Date

Event

Venue

Attendees

Communication

Comments

Links

Friday 27 April 2018

Meeting with
Michael Brooke
(RMBC)

Number One
Riverside, Smith
Street, Rochdale,
OL16 1XU

4

MT

Informal meeting to provide update for
neighbourhood plan and heritage lottery
project

Croft Head Barn,
Knacks Lane,
Prickshaw Village,
Rochdale OL12 6BD

6

E, MT

Meeting to review consultation
responses, agree RMNF response and
identify any required changes to plan

Meeting minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/06/20180607-Trustees-MeetingMinutes-Final.pdf

May 2018
Friday 4 May 2018

End of six-week
pre-submission
consultation for
draft
neighbourhood
plan.

June 2018
Thursday 7 June
2018

RMNF Trustees
Meeting

Page 126

Monday 18 June
2018

Community
Brief

40+

E, O

Email sent to RMNF members and all
contacts

See the brief: https://www.rmnf.org.uk/rmnfneighbourhood-plan-community-brief/

July 2018

Streetwise
Magazine

7100
homes

NL

August / September issue – Page 68 & 69
Neighbourhood Plan Community Brief

Copy available on request

August 2018
Wednesday 15
August 2018

Meeting with
the Lord of the
Manors’ Agent Andrew
Crossley

Rooley Moor Road
and Knacks Lane
junction, Catley
Lane Head. OL12
6BN

10

E, MT

Discussion about various neighbourhood
issues

Meeting Minutes: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/20180815-Minutes-of-Meetingwith-LotM-Agent-Andrew-Crossley.pdf

Thursday 25
October 2018

RMNF AGM

Spotland Methodist
Church, Rooley
Moor Road,
Rochdale OL12 7ES

13

E, O, MT

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum AGM

Meeting minutes: https://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/10/20181025-RMNF-AGMMinutes.pdf

November 2018

Streetwise
Magazine

7100
homes

NL

December / January issue - Page 78 –
RMNF Update

Copy available on request

October 2018

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 14

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

3. Timeline & Plan Preparation
The preparation of this Draft Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan and its consultation has included the
following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

A review of other plans and relevant documents
Survey work and questionnaires
Interviews with key consultees
Publication and circulation of questionnaires
Regular local consultation events/exhibitions to publicise the progress of the plan and seek local
opinions
Frequent newsletters via email, and publicity on social media and local press
Regular meeting of the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group
Regular meetings and engagement with Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council planners;
notably their Neighbourhood Plan Officer
Liaison and engagement with Rochdale Borough Council Officers
Targeted consultation with interest groups to obtain information and explore issues (specifically
landowners, equestrian groups and farming/business interests – See Appendix D for a list of
Stakeholder & Regulation 14 Organisations Consulted)

Timeline
April 2015, we started our initial research to understand the neighbourhood forum & plan process, by
attending a Littleborough Neighbourhood Forum meeting.
May 2015, a proposal to create the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum is made and agreed at the
Spotland and Falinge Area Forum.
June 2015, research and Information gathering continues in preparation for meeting with council
planning officers.
July 2015, a meeting is held with RMBC planning officers to discuss the concept of the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Area and Neighbourhood Forum. Our web and social media sites go live and a meeting
with residents was held at Owd House, OL12 6BW to provide an update.
August 2015, applications are submitted to RMBC for designation of area and forum.
September 2015, Rochdale Township Committee considers the applications for neighbourhood area and
forum. It was decided that:
(1) the proposed Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area boundary, as described in the submitted
report, be approved as the basis for public consultation; and
(2) the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum application be approved as a basis for consultation.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
127
November

Page 15

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

On Thursday 17 September 2015 we held our Inaugural AGM to appoint trustees, agree our objects and
constitution, etc.

October 2015, consultation opens for designation of a neighbourhood forum and neighbourhood area.
A Heritage report commissioned by RMNF is published.
November 2015, consultation for designation of a neighbourhood forum and neighbourhood area
closed. Email notification to trustees officer, members, councillors and others
February 2016, our forums charitable status is confirmed. A neighbourhood forum update is provided at
the Spotland & Falinge Area Forum
March 2016, our Area and Forum are formally designated at the Rochdale Township Committee. RMNF
hold a community update meeting.
April 2016, a number of forum members got together to organise our forum ‘Launch Event’. The BBC
expressed an interest in having our forum support a documentary programme that included the history
of our area. To maximise publicity for our forum, area and plan we took the opportunity to have our
launch event at the same time the BBC were filming. This resulted in radio and TV publicity.
June 2016, a covering letter and basic questionnaire was delivered by hand to residents and emailed to
relevant organisations and stakeholders in the area (See Appendix A & B for example letters) to notify
them that a Neighbourhood Plan was to be prepared and that initial views were invited. Residents and
users of the area were asked:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

What do you like about the Rooley Moor area?
What don’t you like?
What do you want to change?
What are the five main issues in the area that the plan needs to tackle?
What are the 5 key opportunities in the area that the plan can take to improve the area and
promote heritage and landscape protection and sustainable recreation and tourism activities?

The letter also asked for volunteers to assist the Forum in the Plan’s preparation.
Regulation 15 Draft

Page
128
November
2018

Page 16

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Organisations were asked about:
1. The organisation’s interests are in relation to the area and what, areas of policy making would
be relevant to them.
2. What issues and opportunities should be tackled.
Appendix D identifies interested organisations from a database used by Rochdale Metropolitan Borough
Council and records consultation responses received.
As well as written and email consultations, face-to-face meetings were arranged, and a number of public
consultation events were staged. Press, local newsletters and notice boards, and social media, were all
used to publicise the various stages of the process. The consultation arrangements for the plan are all
fully recorded in the Summary Timeline of Consultation detailed below.
Examples of the various publicity materials are shown in Appendix A.
The Forum’s web and social media sites were also used to provide news and to publicise the process.
In total we received 2 written responses and 14 through SurveyMonkey (data can be provided on
request). The responses had a common theme concerning the areas landscape and heritage, this reenforced confidence in the forums objects and helped to form the detailed questionnaire.
July 2016, we held a Launch Event Meeting.
August 2016, our final Launch Event Meeting before the event
Saturday 13 August 2016, Interview on radio Manchester Phone call at approximately 8:45am Alison
Butterworth interviewed Alan Rawsterne about the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum and its
connection with the Cotton Famine Road
Sunday 14 August 2016 Launch event with over 300 people attending. The event included a public
consultation exhibition and we used this opportunity to ask people to complete our basic questionnaire
from which our detailed Community Questionnaire was derived from the responses we received.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
129
November

Page 17

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

October 2016, RMNF AGM including a presentation from PPS Planning
November 2016, BBC Local News, Interview with members of Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum
about the Black & British – ‘A Forgotten History’ program featuring the Cotton Famine Road and our
neighbourhood launch event
December 2016, RMNF Meeting followed by an update from the Chair that was emailed to RMNF
members and all contacts.
January 2017, meeting with Michael Brook (RMBC Communications Officer) discussion for information
only.
Neighbourhood Plan Group Meeting to discuss starting the neighbourhood plan process (attendees:
John, Roy, Morley, Cecile, Andy and Alan) an email update was sent to all RMNF members and contacts
February 2017, Neighbourhood Forum Update News item posted on the RMNF website.
Neighbourhood Plan Group Meeting to review draft neighbourhood plan (cross referencing policies to
Core Strategy and NPPF) and amend / publish in readiness for meeting with Council on 23rd Feb 17
Neighbourhood Plan Group Meeting with RMBC Discussion about a draft neighbourhood plan for the
Rooley Moor Area.
March 2017, we held two Neighbourhood Plan & Events Group meetings, the first meeting had an
update and actions following meeting with RMBC planners.
April 2017, Events Planning Meeting followed by an update from the Chair email sent to RMNF
members and all contacts, with minutes from events planning meeting attached.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
130
November
2018

Page 18

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

4. Detailed Consultation
May 2017 we had a Neighbourhood Plan Group meeting
that included Paul Simpson from PPS Planning, we
agreed the final content of the Community
Questionnaire with questions covering 19 different
topics and on Monday 29 May 2017 the consultation
opened with 250+ paper copies of our community
questionnaire being despatched with two copies for each
household in our Neighbourhood Area. Survey Monkey
was also used to place the questionnaire online
Statutory and other organisations were consulted and
were invited to comment on the Questionnaire also.
Please click on the following link to see the Community
Questionnaire: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/05/RMNF-Neighbourhood-PlanPolicy-Leaflet-Questionnaire-Final-Update.pdf
At the end of May Alan Rawsterne & Andy Meek gave a
presentation about RMNF and the neighbourhood plan
to Rochdale Rotary Club.
June 2017, on Friday 30 June 2017 the Community Questionnaire consultation is closed and data is
consolidated for analysis and reporting.
July 2017, the Community Questionnaire analysis is completed and sent to Paul Simpson, our planning
consultant, for review and report. Please click on the following link to see the analysis:
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/RMNF-Neighbourhood-Plan-QuestionnaireAnalysis.xlsx
August 2017, we had an informal meeting to finalise arrangements for our Community Event. On
Sunday 13 August 2017 the RMNF Community Event was held in Win’s Field, Catley Lane Head, over
300+ people attended and the event included a Neighbourhood Plan exhibition, for exhibition content
please see: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/RMNF-Community-QuestionnaireSummary-draft.pdf also posted on the Forum website.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
131
November

Page 19

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

5. Key Responses
September 2017, we issued a Community Consultation Update
by email to all RMNF members and contacts, with a copy of the
consultation report attached. See: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Questionnaire-analysis-11-09final.pdf

The report explains how the Questionnaire was conceived and
distributed, what the responses were and the implications of
those responses for the considering what policy approaches
were needed.
The Questionnaire was helpful in exploring what policy
approaches would be supported. The individual comments and
suggestions that were received were useful in understanding the
responses made.
The Neighbourhood Plan Group decided that before some views
and issues (arising from the Questionnaire responses) could be
addressed and policies formulated, it would be necessary to
approach key groups to explore the issues, obtain more
information and discuss options for tackling issues. Groups
included the following:
•
•
•

local farmers and farm based businesses - to discuss
policies on farm diversification, promoting recreation and visitors, and conservation.
Equestrian groups - to advise on demand for and practical potential for equestrian facilities)
The major landowner (Lord of the Manor) to discuss the implications of landscape conservation,
rural diversification and recreational improvements on land access and management.

November 2017, we had the RMNF AGM and later in the month a meeting with PPS Planning to review
of outstanding neighbourhood plan actions. At the end of this month we had a meeting with the Lord of
the Manors’ Agent, Andrew Crossley, to facilitate introductions and discussion about various issues
including our neighbourhood plan.
January 2018, Alan Rawsterne & Andy Meek gave a presentation about RMNF and the neighbourhood
plan Presentation to Rochdale 41 Club and Tangent Club at Rochdale Golf Club.
February 2018, the neighbourhood plan group consider the draft plan is ready for its Pre-Submission
consultation.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
132
November
2018

Page 20

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

6. Draft Neighbourhood Plan and Pre-Submission Consultation
March 2018, Monday 26 March 2018 was the start of six-week pre-submission consultation for our draft
neighbourhood plan. Letter posted by hand to all RMNF residents supported by email to residents,
stakeholders and statutory consultees. Please click on the following link to see the neighbourhood plan:
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/20180315-Rooley-Moor-NeighbourhoodDevelopment-Plan-Community-Consultation.pdf
The Neighbourhood Planning Regulations (Regulation
14) require the plan to be the subject of a six-week
consultation before it is submitted to the local
authority for independent examination. This
requirement includes the following:
• Publicise the plan in a manner which brings it
to the attention of the people who live, work
or run businesses in the neighbourhood area this should include details of:
- the proposed neighbourhood plan
- where and when it may be viewed
- how to make comments on the plan and
the date by which comments must be
received (at least six weeks from the date
on which is was first publicised).
• Consult statutory consultation bodies whose
interests may be affected by the plan as
advised by the local Council, together with
significant landowners, local businesses, local
community organisations and interest groups.
• Send a copy of the proposed plan to the local authority.
Arrangements for publicity and consultation included:
• publicity in the local press and media;
• publicity on the Forum website and the Rochdale Council’s web site;
• a locally circulated leaflet to inform people that a draft plan has been prepared, where it can be
viewed and how to make comments on it;
• making printed copies of the plan available at the local library and Council offices at library in
No.1 Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale OL16 1XU and Spotland Library, Ings Lane, Rochdale OL12
7AL
• making the plan available electronically and on-line via links from the Forum’s and Council’s web
sites; and
• making copies available to those who can’t access digital or displayed copies.
In addition, information is available about the content of the plan, particularly the Plan objectives and
the focus of the policies in the plan. This is to assist those people who will not want to read through the
whole of the document but want to understand the intentions of the plan and the range of policies
included. To do this a summary can be obtained as a printed or downloadable document from the
Forum web site.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
133
November

Page 21

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

April 2018, there was a Trustees Meeting to keep trustees informed of neighbourhood plan progress
and discuss other matters, we met with Mid Pennine Arts to inform MPA of our neighbourhood plan and
discuss other matters
On Saturday 21 April 2018 we held a Community Consultation Event in Spotland Methodist Church,
Rooley Moor Road, Rochdale OL12 7ES

Tuesday 24 April 2018, Alan Rawsterne gave presentation about RMNF and the neighbourhood plan to
Heywood Rotary Club
May 2018, Friday 4 May 2018, end of six-week pre-submission consultation for draft neighbourhood
plan.
June 2018, RMNF Trustees Meeting to review consultation responses, agree RMNF response and
identify any required changes to plan. See Appendix H for detail. The RMNF Trustees take account of
comments received and agree to submit the plan, a ‘Community Brief’ email is sent to RMNF members
and all contacts.
Submission of the plan to the local planning authority, 18th June 2018 – Our neighbourhood plan is
submitted to RMBC for consideration.
August 2018, Meeting with the Lord of the Manors’ Agent - Andrew Crossley to facilitate update and
discussion.
October 2018, RMNF AGM including a neighbourhood plan update.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
134
November
2018

Page 22

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix A – Example letter to organisation
Dear Sir / Madam,
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum CIO (RMNF) is a registered charity and I am writing to
inform you that RMNF, with the co-operation of Rochdale Borough Council, is starting a
process to prepare a Local Neighbourhood Plan for the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area
(please see map below). Neighbourhood Planning is a right for communities introduced through
the Localism Act 2011. This means we can work together to shape development in our area
through the production of Neighbourhood Plan that is likely to focus on heritage and recreation.
Our designated area is North of Rochdale town centre and includes part of Healey Dell Nature
Reserve and areas of special architectural or historic interest including a section of the Cotton
Famine Road, Catley Lane Head, Fern Hill, Shawfield, Prickshaw and Broadley Fold.
What is it all about?
We are at the initial stage of consulting with residents, land & property owners, businesses and
other organisations, including statutory consultees and key organisations within and adjoining
our Neighbourhood Area, on how our area should be planned over the next 10 to 15 years.
When completed, our Neighbourhood Plan will from part of the statutory development plan for
Rochdale Borough Council and will be used to promote conservation and guide development and
land-use decisions (including planning applications) in our area.
You are probably aware it is a government requirement for the community to be involved in the
Neighbourhood Planning process. We would be grateful for your input at this initial stage and
are happy to meet with you if you think that would be helpful. We would like to know what your
organisation’s interests are in relation to our area and what, if any, area of policy making would
be relevant to you. We require this information so we can ensure you are notified at key statutory
consultation stages as work on our plan progresses. We would also like to know if you have any
views on what you think our plan should be seeking to achieve.
What we need you to do:
It would help us if you would include RMNF on your list of consultees and keep us informed of
any plans you may have in our area, and please let us know if your contact details have changed
so we can keep our contact details up to date.
We look forward to your co-operation and interest and value your ideas and opinions. We are
also keen to get your views on what issues and opportunities, that should be tackled, exist in our
area. To help us identify what is important to our community, and so we can start to develop our
plan, we would be grateful if you could complete and return the questionnaire below. Details of
how to return it are included on the form. We expect to provide feedback on the results of this
initial consultation towards the end of October 2016.
Yours faithfully,
Alan Rawsterne RMNF Secretary On behalf of the Trustees, Officers and Members of RMNF

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
135
November

Page 23

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix B – Example letter to residents
Dear Resident,
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum Launch Event:
We would like to invite you to the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum (RMNF) launch event
that will take place in Catley Lane Head between 11am and 5pm on Sunday 14th August 2016.
RMNF is a registered charity and the launch event is an opportunity to have some fun and tell
you a little more about our forum’s objectives. Please keep and eye on our website
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/ or watch local press for more information.
What is it all about?
RMNF, with the co-operation of Rochdale Borough Council, is starting a process to prepare a
Local Neighbourhood Plan for the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area (please see map overleaf).
Neighbourhood Planning is a right for communities introduced through the Localism Act 2011.
This means we can work together to shape development in our area through the production of
a Neighbourhood Plan that is likely to focus on heritage and recreation. Our designated area is
North of Rochdale town centre and includes part of Healey Dell Nature Reserve and areas of
special architectural or historic interest including a section of the Cotton Famine Road, Catley
Lane Head, Fern Hill, Shawfield, Prickshaw and Broadley Fold.
We are at the initial stage of consulting with residents, land & property owners, businesses and
other organisations, including statutory consultees and key organisations within and
adjoining our Neighbourhood Area, on how our area should be planned over the next 10 to 15
years.
When completed, our Neighbourhood Plan will from part of the statutory development plan for
Rochdale Borough Council and will be used to promote conservation and guide development
and land-use decisions (including planning applications) in our area.
It is a government requirement for the community to be involved in the Neighbourhood
Planning process and RMNF is keen to get your views on what issues and opportunities exist in
our area that should be tackled.
What we would like you to do
We are keen to get your views on what issues and opportunities, that should be tackled, exist in
our area. To help us identify what is important to our community, and so we can start to
develop our plan, we would be grateful if you could complete and return the questionnaire
below by 14th August 2016. Details of how to return it are included on the form. We expect to
provide feedback on the results of this initial consultation towards the end of October
2016.
We would also love to hear from you if you are not already a member and wish to join our
Forum or get actively involved if you feel you have skills, local knowledge, time and enthusiasm
to help with the plan preparation process.
Best Regards,
Alan Rawsterne RMNF Secretary On behalf of the Trustees, Officers and Members of RMNF
Regulation 15 Draft

Page
136
November
2018

Page 24

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix C - January 2017 - RMNF Email Update
Hi Everyone,
We’ve started the year with a number of things going on, so I thought it would be a good idea
to issue an update.
Wind Farm Decommissioning Bond
Some members of our Forum have approached the Open Spaces Society (OSS) to raise the issue
of a decommissioning bond for the Scout Moor Wind Farm Expansion Ltd (SMWFEL)
application. If the Secretary of State (SoS) is minded to approve this application, then the basic
idea of a bond is to ensure there is sufficient money available at the end the wind farms life, to
ensure the site can be returned to its ‘pre’ wind farm condition. Currently there is no
requirement for onshore wind farm developers to put a bond in place and the OSS are being
asked to petition the SoS to put a condition in place requiring a bond that tracks inflation and
can not disappear when the wind farm becomes redundant. This issue is bigger than just
SMWFEL and perhaps a decommissioning bond should be a requirement for all future
developments of this type.
If a decommissioning bond is something you agree with, you can help to make a difference by
raising this issue with your MP and local Councillors. For SMWFEL the Inspector must make his
recommendations to the SoS by the end of February 2017, so time is of the essence for you to
make contact with your local and government representatives.
RMNF Neighbourhood Plan
Our thanks to Cecile, John, Roy and Alan who have formed our Neighbourhood Plan Group.
They have started to work on a proposal and will share information with you as soon as they
are able.
You are welcome to attend the next meeting at 10:30 am Wednesday 15th February 2017, just
email Alan (info@RMNF.org.uk) and he will let you have the details. We appreciate not
everyone who wants to be involved will be able to make a morning meeting, but we will
endeavour to accommodate everyone who wants to be involved – your views are VERY
important to this process.
A progress review meeting with the Council is planed for Thursday 23rd February 2017 and we
will let you know the outcome shortly after.
Defibrillator
After much debate RMNF Trustees decided not to adopt the phone box in Catley Lane Head.
Our forum would have had to take on the costs and responsibility for insurance, maintenance
and repair (which would have to be in accordance to industry guidelines), and we would NOT
have got title to the land beneath the phone box.
We would also have required volunteers to look after the cleanliness of the phone box and to
undertake the governance requirements for any installed equipment (the defibrillator).
The main reason the phone box was identified to house a defibrillator, was the provision of an
unmetered power supply, required to keep the defibrillator charged and warm. The contract to
Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
137
November

Page 25

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

adopt the phone box did not guarantee a supply of electricity in perpetuity and in the event of
the supply being withdrawn or a breakdown, a separate power supply would need to have been
arranged. This could take up to £1800 to effect and would have bankrupted our forum.
Vandalism was another issue we considered. The cabinet for the proposed defibrillator was not
lockable and the cost of any damage, decommissioning of the phone box, disconnecting the
power supply, etc. would have had to be covered by the forum.
There is, however, still an opportunity to apply for a defibrillator if someone is willing to
provide a location (outside wall of a house) and a free supply of electricity. Please let me know
if you are willing to do this, so I can put you in touch with the appropriate people.
RMNF Events
We are going to put a team together to plan another event in August. Please email Alan
Rawsterne (info@RMNF.org.uk) if you’d like to be involved and he will arrange a date time and
place for a meeting.
I think that’s about everything for now, please let me know if you have any questions.
Best regards,
Andy Meek
RMNF Chair

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
138
November
2018

Page 26

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix D - Stakeholder & Regulation 14 Consultation List of
Organisations Consulted & Responses Data
No response date = no response
Organisation:

Date sent
(or meeting held):

Amec

Basic questionnaire
June 2016 & Detailed
questionnaire May
2017

Bolton Council

- Ditto -

British Gas

- Ditto -

BT Group plc

- Ditto -

Bury Council

- Ditto -

Calderdale Council

- Ditto -

Civil Aviation Authority

- Ditto -

Electricity North West Ltd

- Ditto -

Environment Agency

- Ditto -

GMPCC

- Ditto -

Response Date:

Notes:

10/08/2016 &

See Appendix E

04/08/2017

See Appendix F

23/06/2016

Good Morning
Thank you for your email, which I have
passed to the Commissioners PA who will
be in contact with you shortly.
Kind Regards, Janette Cross
(Note: no further response received. PCC
no longer exists)

Greater Manchester
Local Enterprise
Partnership

Regulation 15 Draft

- Ditto -

Page2018
139
November

Page 27

Consultation Statement
Greater Manchester
Local Nature Partnership

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan
- Ditto -

22/06/2016

Dear Mr Rawsterne
Thank your for your invitation, which our
CEO, Anne Selby, has forwarded to me for
initial response. I’m reattaching your
letter for the benefit of colleagues copied
into this reply.
With 25 local government districts to
cover, along with the adjacent Irish Sea, it
can be difficult for us to take up every
invitation that we receive. However, I
understand that we have had some
specific involvement in the Rooley Moor
neighbourhood of Rochdale Borough, and
the adjacent are in administrative
Lancashire’s Rossendale Borough, through
engagement with the Scout Moor wind
turbine array development? I’m copying in
colleagues who were more directly
involved, and I’ll also check with a trustee
and active volunteers who live in the area
in case they would wish to take up your
invitation.
In respect of ‘Neighbourhood Planning
and Wildlife’, we are currently without
specific guidance for planners, members
and the public on our own website.
However, the following link to a page on
Sussex Wildlife Trust’s website holds good
in general terms; except, of course, that
reference to the Sussex Biodiversity
Record Centre should be replaced by
reference to the Greater Manchester
Local Record Centre, hosted by the
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit.
I’m hopeful that we will have similar, but
bespoke content to refer to on our own
website, but revisions and updates to that
are awaiting a related complete revamp of
The Wildlife Trusts’ national IT set-up this
autumn.
I’ll let you know of any feedback from
colleagues and local volunteers.
Kind regards
Dave
David Dunlop Policy & Advocacy
Tel: 01772-317 238 (voicemail)
Mob: NONE
E-mail: ddunlop@lancswt.org.uk
twitter: @LaWT @LivingSeasNW

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
140
November
2018

Page 28

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Greater Manchester
Planning and Housing
Team

- Ditto -

Heywood, Middleton and
Rochdale Clinical
Commissioning Group

- Ditto -

Highways England

- Ditto -

Historic England

- Ditto -

Homes and Communities
Agency

- Ditto -

Lancashire County
Council

- Ditto -

Manchester City Council

- Ditto -

Mobile Operators
Association

- Ditto -

Enquiries from Local
Planning Authorities
CTIL (on behalf of
Vodafone and Telefónica)

- Ditto -

MBNL (EE and Three):

- Ditto -

EE

- Ditto -

Three:

- Ditto -

Mono Consultants Ltd

- Ditto -

National Grid

- Ditto -

Natural England

- Ditto -

Network Rail

- Ditto -

NHS England, Lancashire
Area

- Ditto -

Office of Rail and Road

- Ditto -

Oldham Council

- Ditto -

Rochdale Borough
Council

- Ditto -

Rossendale Borough
Council

- Ditto -

Salford City Council

- Ditto -

Stockport Council

- Ditto -

TalkTalk

- Ditto -

Regulation 15 Draft

Organisation no longer exists - see
contacts below

1/7/2016

Page2018
141
November

See Appendix G for response letter

Page 29

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Tameside Metropolitan
Borough Council

- Ditto -

The Coal Authority

- Ditto -

Trafford Council

- Ditto -

Transport for Greater
Manchester

- Ditto -

United Utilities Water
PLC

- Ditto -

Virgin Media

- Ditto -

Wigan Council

- Ditto -

Lord of the Manor Crossley Estates

- Ditto -

24/11/2017

10/01/2018
29/01/2018

Peel Energy

- Ditto -

Hutton Energy

- Ditto -

CORONATION (OIL &
GAS) LIMITED

- Ditto -

Fern Hill Bed & Breakfast

- Ditto -

Fern Hill Farm Livery
Stables

- Ditto -

Fernhill Construction
Rochdale

- Ditto -

Pennine Prospect

- Ditto -

Friends of Healey Dell

- Ditto -

Hill Farm

- Ditto -

Whitworth Valley Angling
Society

- Ditto -

Regulation 15 Draft

For meeting minutes see:
http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/20171124Minutes-of-RMNF-Meeting-with-LotMAgent-Andrew-Crossley.pdf
Requests for meetings – sent policy
document as per minutes above

09/02/2018

Response 22/02/2018 asking for dates

23/02/2018

Responded with dates – await response

Page
142
November
2018

Page 30

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix E – Response from Environment Agency
Response received by email 10 August 2016

Company: Environment Agency
Questionnaire
What do you like about the Rooley Moor area?
This is a large area of semi-natural greenspace that feeds part of the River Spodden and
Naden Brook catchments and that provides great scope for enhancing green infrastructure
functioning, and ecosystem services the area currently provides, providing greater
environmental links, and potentially expanding Healey Dell Local Nature Reserve on east of
Rooley Moor site.
What do you want to change?
The Environment Agency would welcome as part of new Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan
that there be an initial ecosystem services assessment (https://www.theies.org/sites/default/files/reports/ecosystem_services.pdf ) of this large site to help shape
and guide future development in area in a sustainable manner.
Main Issues Bearing in mind the above, what are the five main issues in the area that the
plan needs to tackle?
The Rooley Moor area sits on the edge of two River Roch catchment waterbodies that are
currently failing their statutory ecological objectives as outlined in North West River Basin
Management Plan
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/50046
8/North_West_RBD_Part_1_river_basin_management_plan.pdf ), and the ability for new
neighbourhood plan provides one of the avenues to positively shape future development,
and ensure the positive integration of all aquatic/ semi-natural assets within Rooley Moor
area, to the benefit of both people and wildlife within and beyond the Rooley Moor area.
Key Opportunities Name 5 key opportunities in the area that the plan can take to improve
the area and promote heritage and landscape protection and sustainable recreation and
tourism activities.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
143
November

Page 31

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

With Healey Dell Local Nature Reserve and River Spodden Valley on the east, and
Greenbooth reservoir, Knowl Moor and Naden Brook watercourse to west, a sustainable
and well designed strategic plan provides an opportunity to enhance the ecological
connectivity and resilience of existing greenspace within Rooley Moor area with
neighbouring wildlife and recreational resources, as advocated in Government Biodiversity
Strategy
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69446
/pb13583-biodiversity-strategy-2020-111111.pdf ).
Also with elements of Healey Dell nature reserve and River Spodden and associated
tributaries feeding from Rooley Moor site, the potential expansion or enhancement of seminatural habitats and wildlife corridors offer great opportunity to improve the ecological
quality of existing conservation area, plus in combination provide multiple environmental
benefits such as improved flood risk, water quality and recreational value.
We would welcome as part of neighbourhood plan that this promote the positive
integration of all waterbodies that emanate from Rooley Moor area, avoiding any potential
risk of deterioration of River Spodden and Naden Brook WFD watebodies, and take
opportunity to better integrate and enhance these green infrastructure assets as part of
future development i.e., preservation or creation of interconnected wildlife corridors or
new creation of new priority habitat (http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-5706 ), restoration of
culverted tributaries, and use of above ground Sustainable Urban Drainage
(https://www.rspb.org.uk/Images/SuDS_report_final_tcm9-338064.pdf ) solutions etc.
Any changes in land use practices that would slow the rate of rainfall run-off would be
welcomed as this could provide a contribution to reducing flood risk in communities
downstream.
We trust you find these comments useful.
Regards
Sylvia Whittingham
Planning Officer

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
144
November
2018

Page 32

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix F – Response from Environment Agency
Response received by email 04 August 2017

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council
Planning Policy

Our ref:
L01

PO Box 32

Your ref:

SO/2009/106223/AP-05/IS1-

Rochdale
Date:

Lancashire

04 August 2017

OL16 1JH
Dear Sir/Madam
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan
Thank you for referring the above Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan to the Environment
Agency. We would wish to make the following comments.
The boundary defined by the area map on your website does not contain any designated
“main river” watercourses. However, the River Spodden, which is a designated “main river”
does form the eastern boundary of the area. “Main rivers” are those that the Environment
Agency has flood risk jurisdiction and powers to undertake maintenance or improvements
works on.
The Government has recently made some funding available for natural flood risk
management or “slowing the flow” projects. We are in the process of identifying possible
locations where communities at risk may benefit from natural flood management works.
One of many possible sites is the eastern part of Norden to the southern boundary of
RMNA. Further investigations will determine whether this area would be suitable for and
benefit from NFM. Further information on NFM can be found at:https://www.gov.uk/government/news/schemes-across-the-country-to-receive-15-million-ofnatural-flood-management-funding
I trust you find this information useful.
Please keep me updated on the plan progress.
Yours faithfully
Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
145
November

Page 33

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Mrs SYLVIA WHITTINGHAM
Planning Advisor
Direct dial 0203 0251059
Direct e-mail sylvia.whittingham@environment-agency.gov.uk

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
146
November
2018

Page 34

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix G - Response from Natural England

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
147
November

Page 35

Consultation Statement

Regulation 15 Draft

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page
148
November
2018

Page 36

Consultation Statement

Regulation 15 Draft

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page2018
149
November

Page 37

Consultation Statement

Regulation 15 Draft

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page
150
November
2018

Page 38

Consultation Statement

Regulation 15 Draft

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page2018
151
November

Page 39

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix H - Stakeholder & Regulation 14 Consultation List of Organisations Consulted & Responses
Data For Neighbourhood Plan Pre-Submission Consultation
Monday 26 March 2018 - Email letter and Links to Neighbourhood Plan pre-submission consultation (six week period) and other relevant documentation

No response date = No Response
Organisation:

Response
Date:

Comments:

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

Action Required

Amec
Bolton Council

Page 152

British Gas
BT Group plc
Bury Council
Calderdale Council
Civil Aviation Authority
Electricity North West Ltd
Environment Agency
GMPCC
Greater Manchester Local
Enterprise Partnership
Greater Manchester Local
Nature Partnership
Greater Manchester
Planning and Housing Team

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 40

Consultation Statement
Organisation:

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Response
Date:

Comments:

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

Action Required

26/03/18

See Appendix J

Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA ) and a
Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA) screening
report to be made available on
the RMF website

N

See:
https://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/Rool
ey-Moor-SEA-and-HRAScreening-Report.pdf

Heywood, Middleton and
Rochdale Clinical
Commissioning Group
Highways England
Historic England

Page 153

Homes and Communities
Agency
Lancashire County Council
Manchester City Council
Mobile Operators
Association

Organisation no longer exists - see
contacts below

Enquiries from Local
Planning Authorities
CTIL (on behalf of Vodafone
and Telefónica)
MBNL (EE and Three):
EE
Three:
Mono Consultants Ltd

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 41

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Organisation:

Response
Date:

Comments:

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

National Grid

29/03/ 18

See Appendix L below

N

Natural England

27/03/18

Our ref. 242596

N

Action Required

Dear Sir/Madam
Thank you for your consultation regarding the
Rooley Moor Pre-Submission Neighbourhood
th
Plan dated 26 March 2018.

Page 154

Natural England is a statutory consultee in
neighbourhood planning and must be consulted
on draft neighbourhood development plans by
the Parish/Town Councils or Neighbourhood
Forums where they consider our interests would
be affected by the proposals.
We have reviewed the attached plan
however Natural England does not have any
specific comments on this draft neighbourhood
plan.
If the Neighbourhood Plan changes and there is
the potential for environmental impacts,
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)
screening exercises may need to be undertaken.
Please also see attached Annex which contains
useful information when preparing a
Neighbourhood Plan.

Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA ) and a
Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA) screening
report to be made available on
the RMF website

See:
https://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/Rool
ey-Moor-SEA-and-HRAScreening-Report.pdf

Yours faithfully
Jacqui Salt
Natural England Consultation Service, Hornbeam
House, Crewe Business Park, Electra Way, Crewe,
Cheshire, CW1 6GJ
Enquiries line: 0300 060 3900
Email: consultations@naturalengland.org.uk
www.gov.uk/natural-england

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 42

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Organisation:

Response
Date:

Comments:

Network Rail

26/03/18

Network Rail has no comments to
make.

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

Action Required

N

Regards
Diane Clarke AssocRTPI
Town Planning Technician LNW
Network Rail
Floor 1

Page 155

Square One
4 Travis Street
Manchester, M1 2NY

NHS England, Lancashire
Area
Office of Rail and Road
Oldham Council
Rochdale Borough Council
Rossendale Borough Council
Salford City Council
Stockport Council
TalkTalk

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 43

Consultation Statement
Organisation:

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Response
Date:

Comments:

04/05/18

See appendix N

16/04/18

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

Action Required

Tameside Metropolitan
Borough Council
The Coal Authority

N

Trafford Council
Transport for Greater
Manchester
United Utilities Water PLC

Page 156

Please see attached United Utilities
response to the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Development Plan
consultation.
Should you have any questions, then
please contact me.
Regards,
Ellie Levenson

Review policy H01

N

We do not consider any
amendment necessary. Whilst
UU’s comments are valid we do
not consider them to be unique
to just Rooley Moor and
specific issues around
flood/surface water would
ideally be dealt with during the
planning application process as
a statutory consultee.

Planning Assistant
Developer Services and Planning
Operational Services
United Utilities
T: 01925 731322 (internal 31322)
unitedutilities.com
See appendix M below

Virgin Media

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 44

Consultation Statement
Organisation:

Response
Date:

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan
Comments:

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

Action Required

Wigan Council
Lord of the Manor Crossley Estates

See details recorded in Appendix D

Peel Energy
Hutton Energy
CORONATION (OIL & GAS)
LIMITED
Fern Hill Bed & Breakfast

Proprietor made individual
representation, included in Appendix I

Page 157

Fern Hill Farm Livery Stables
Fernhill Construction
Rochdale
Pennine Prospect
Friends of Healey Dell
Hill Farm
Whitworth Valley Angling
Society

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 45

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix I Resident Responses For Neighbourhood Plan Pre-Submission Consultation

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan Pre- Submission Consultation Control Document
Six Weeks Consultation Period from Monday 26th March 2018 to Friday 4th May 2018
*Comment reference “HCR” denotes “Hard Copy Representation” and comment reference “OLR” denotes “On-Line Representation”.
Original hard copy and on-line representations are available upon request if supported with a valid reason for viewing the documents.
**Comments have been summarised to remove any references that might identify the person making the comments

Specific Comments
Comments (Include Policy
Number, etc.)**

HCR006

Page 41 - Only one mention of offroad vehicles given the severity of
the issue seemed surprising.

Page 158

Comment
Reference*

Support or
Object
(S/O)
S

Page 52 - I don’t remember the
stats now but it came across as
surprising that there was strong
support for renewables.
Page 52 - Can we be more specific
about what constitutes
unacceptable noise? I.e. A simple
ETSU standard would not be
enough, need to take into account
the emerging research on low
frequency noise.

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

This is an enforcement issue that is outside the
scope of the neighbourhood plan. It is worth
noting that the forum does try to engage with
landowners and enforcement authorities in an
attempt to remedy this issue.

N

General comment.

N

This is outside the scope of the neighbourhood
plan and requires a change of national policy. The
forum can lobby for change if that were deemed
appropriate.

N

Action Required

Page 46

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Comment
Reference*

Comments (Include Policy
Number, etc.)**

Support or
Object
(S/O)

OLR008

Page 21 Listed Buildings - I think it
would be helpful to clarify current
naming of these buildings

S

Page 159

Page 33 Character Areas / Views Fully supportive of the recognition
of Fern Hill and other "character"
areas, and identifying all the
significant views in the area. I think
this is a really positive addition to
current planning policy references.
Page 65 Action Plan - I would like to
add to the action plan, if it is
possible, to remedy new planting of
non-native species, which is out of
keeping with the character and
heritage of the area.

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

Agree.

Y

Noted.

N

It’s desirable for native species to be planted at
existing properties. This is probably best
approached as a general request rather than a
requirement.

N

Action Required

Change FERN HILL FARMHOUSE
to FERN HILL FIRST FARMHOUSE
as described on the Historic
England website:
https://www.historicengland.or
g.uk/listing/the-list/mapsearch?postcode=OL12%206BW
&clearresults=True

Page 47

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

General Comments
Comments**

HCR001

Object to local people making
decisions on other people known to
them. Happy with decisions and
planning to continue and be made
by Town & country Planning

O

Planning decisions reside with the local planning
authority (LPA). Please refer to Appendix O and the
“Planning Decision Process Map”.

N

HCR002

The proposed neighbourhood plan
would add a bureaucratic hurdle
for businesses. I’m happy with the
existing planning rules and see no
need to change the independence
of it.

O

Planning decisions reside with the local planning
authority (LPA). Please refer to Appendix O and the
“Planning Decision Process Map”.

N

Page 160

Comment
Reference*

Regulation 15 Draft

Support or
Object
(S/O)

November 2018

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

Action Required

The Neighbourhood plan makes it easier for some
types of business to develop by reflecting the
views of the community and removing hurdles.

Page 48

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Comment
Reference*

Comments**

Support or
Object
(S/O)

HCR003 &
OLR001

I support the neighbourhood plan
and it’s policies. In some areas the
plan does not go far enough to
identify other “Character Areas”
and “Important Views”.

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

S

Note the southern view from Fair View, two Pill
Boxes and three scheduled monuments.

Y

O

Planning decisions reside with the local planning
authority (LPA). Please refer to Appendix O and the
“Planning Decision Process Map”.

N

Action Required

Add an addendum to the
neighbourhood plan.

In my opinion Fair View and
Dunishbooth should be noted as
character areas with important
views. I believe the plan should
also note the additional heritage
assets of two WWII Pillboxes and
three scheduled monuments:

Page 161

1.
2.

3.

BROADLEY STATION MONUMENT NUMBER:
499065
TRIPLE BANK AND DITCH MONUMENT NUMBER:
1525509
EARTHWORK BANK AND
DITCH - MONUMENT
NUMBER: 1525508

Would like to see better photos of
character areas and views, which
should include Fair View cottages.
HCR004

I object to the neighbourhood plan
in its entirety. We are already
covered by Town & Country
Planning regulations through the
local authority – an independent
body

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Page 49

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Comments**

HCR005

I strongly object to this plan as I
believe this will result in neighbour
against neighbour. I believe
decisions should be left to an
unbiased council which has served
us well for many years

O

Planning decisions reside with the local planning
authority (LPA). Please refer to Appendix O and the
“Planning Decision Process Map”.

N

OLR002 &
HCR007

Since we live in within this area it
would be nice to be asked our
opinion before any proposal is
submitted Just typical of power
crazed people try to sneak there
view through under the radar
without a proper consultation or
discussion We will be surprised if
this makes it onto the website

O

27/03/18 Letter sent, see appendix K.

N

It would be helpful to know what changes could be
made for you to support the plan.

N

Page 162

Comment
Reference*

Support or
Object
(S/O)

I disagree with the policy in its
entirety and do not support any of
the policy

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

OLR003

No Comments

S

N

OLR004

No Comments

S

N

OLR005

No Comments

S

N

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Action Required

Page 50

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Comments (Include Policy
Number, etc.)**

OLR006

I am very pleased to support the
aspirations, the purposes and the
aims of this Forum. I support all of
the policies stated within the Draft
Plan and I hope that it attracts the
community support needed to
allow it to be adopted into
Rochdale's strategic plans for the
future. As never before, the
preservation of our heritage is so
important for future generations.

S

We have listed a number of general
observations & queries which will
be sent under separate cover in the
form of a word document.

O

Page 163

Comment
Reference*

OLR007
& HCR008

Support or
Object
(S/O)

Our concerns mainly centre upon
the removal of jurisdiction from an
independent body (Planning Dept)
to one that is potentially
significantly influenced by parties
with a vested & potentially
prejudicial interest. We
wholeheartedly support the
control of industrial scale
development but feel this Plan
could be viewed as intrusive on a
domestic level.

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

RMNF Response

Change to
plan
Required
Y/N

Action Required

N

Noted under reference HCR008.

Planning decisions reside with the local planning
authority (LPA). Please refer to Appendix O and the
“Planning Decision Process Map”.

N

N

Page 51

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Our motivation in respect of the
Forum is to help enhance the
presentation of our Village &
promote a sense of Community but
the RMN Plan is a step too far for
us.

Page 164

P7 Section 1 - This Plan is to be
enshrined in Planning legislation so
needs to be fully representative of
the views of the populous. The
Policies of the plan will be “used to
make decisions on planning
applications in the neighbourhood
area” – this therefore has very
wide ranging implications

Noted.

N
Agreed.

N
P8 para 1 - As above, this plan will
guide planning decision making
process

Agreed.

What was the consultation process,
the questionnaire?

See the consultation statement – printed copies
available Riverside and Spotland Libraries – online
at: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/04-RMNF-ConsultationStatement-V6.pdf

P9 para 1&2 - Key Objectives are
presumably laid down in the
constitution but it is not really
representative of my personal
motivation for involvement in the
Forum

It is an individual’s responsibility to understand the
constitution and keep abreast of the forums
activities. The objects of the forum have remained
unchanged since the inception of the forum and as
such you might want to question whether you
should be a member of an organisation with which
you fundamentally appear to disagree.

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

N

N

Page 52

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

P11 Mid Stage - What was the
rate of return of the 228
questionnaires?

P12 Current Stage - Who is on the
panel considering the
representations on the
consultation & what is the decision
making process on amendment?

Please see the questionnaire analysis – printed
copies are available at Riverside and Spotland
Libraries or online at: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Questionnaire-analysis11-09-final.pdf
Members of the forum were invited to join the
neighbourhood plan group whose first meeting
was on the 11/01/17. The group members are:
Andy Meek, John Newcombe, Cecile Biant, Morley
Morgan and Alan Rawsterne. Roy Thorniley was a
member of the group, but subsequently retired,
Roy remains a member of the forum. Paul Simson
is a planning consultant who supported the
process; the forum was awarded a grant to
commission a consultant.

Page 165

The decision making process for amendment is
review by the plan group with a recommendation
to the trustees. The trustees will be asked to make
the final decision about submitting the plan, at
which point the council will review the document
and seek independent examination.
P14 Plan Docs
- Where are the
areas designated to “manage
development”?

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

N

There are no areas designated for development.
The majority view of people who responded to the
questionnaire was the area could stand a little
development – I.E. restoration of derelict buildings,
change of use of existing buildings, etc.

N

N

Page 53

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

P22 Heritage Features – Fernhill
Hamlet is mentioned here but it is
not supported by the residents of
Fernhill who would prefer it not to
be specifically identified.

Page 166

Fernhill farmhouse is not a listed
building so can this please be
corrected or made clear.

P26 Recreational Opp’s – What
forms will the additional parking
facilities take? Will this serve to
benefit the area in a positive way?
P28+29 - is this a restatement of
planning policy?

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

We are not sure you can say, “it [presumably the
neighbourhood plan] is not supported by Fernhill
residents” as we are aware of some Fernhill
residents who do support the plan. We are not
sure if your response was from you as an individual
or as a spokesperson for some Fern Hill residents?
If you are acting as a spokesperson we strongly
recommend you advise each individual that they
have the right to respond individually and as such
any concerns would carry more weight if each of
those residents explained their issues and
proposed remedy.
Agreed, this will be changed to FERN HILL “FIRST”
FARMHOUSE as described on the Historic England
website:
https://www.historicengland.org.uk/listing/thelist/mapsearch?postcode=OL12%206BW&clearresults=True
That would depend on a planning application at
which point we would be able to respond.

The policy refers to national (Government) and
local (Council) greenbelt planning policy and also
reflects the majority view of people who
responded to the questionnaire.

N

Y

Also noted at OLR008

N

N

Page 54

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

P30 Design - para g) innovation
does not need this additional
condition placing on it, I would
expect the planners to be capable
of deciding this.
para h) seems to be rather onerous
and is this part of the Forum’s
remit?

Planning decisions reside with the local planning
authority (LPA). Please refer to Appendix O and the
“Planning Decision Process Map”.

This reflects current Council Policy. Each
application would be taken on merit; as such the
forum does not have a remit other than to reflect
the view of people who responded to the
questionnaire.

Page 167

P31 Conversion & Re-Use – para b)
why should we resist major
reconstruction if done in a sensitive
manner & in keeping with the
area? This should not be a barrier
to reinvigorating the area

Please refer to the explanation on page 32. This is
a requirement to comply with Government / Local
Council greenbelt policy by trying to ensure that
the footprint of a development does not expand
overly from the original building and encroach into
greenbelt.

para’s d) & h) appear to be a
restatement of planning guidelines

Agreed.

para g) is this a bit over zealous?

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Agreed, but, Off street parking, bin storage and
collection points are a nice to have, especially if
you want to maintain the look and feel of an area.
This wouldn’t necessarily stop a development if
this wasn’t achievable – It would depend on the
application and our Local Council planning
decision.

N

N

N

N

N

Page 55

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page 168

P33 Character Areas & Important
Views – The residents of Fernhill
would prefer the hamlet to not be
specifically identified as a character
area and request this be removed.

Your comments do not necessarily reflect the
opinion of all Fern Hill residents. As such we
suggest you make individuals aware they have a
right to respond and any concerns they may have
would carry more weight if each explained their
issues and proposed remedy.

N

Ditto, from the section on
important views. Resident
comment on the important views
should be sort & approved to
ensure satisfaction with their
inclusion.

The purpose of the pre-submission consultation is
to allow residents to comment.

N

P35 Heritage Assets – in the
explanation section, why are we
extending the consideration of the
effect on non-heritage assets in the
penultimate paragraph, is this
necessary?

This complements Policy P2 of the Rochdale Core
Strategy, which seeks to protect the Borough’s
heritage. Perhaps you can expand on your
concern?

th

P36 4 para – Is this not too
prescriptive and invasive by
seeking to impose onerous
restrictions on new development
that could be viewed as restrictive?
P36\37 Note on Conservation Area
– Is this merely restating Planning
Policy?

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

Are you referring to the paragraph commencing,
“Dry-stone”? If you are the “Note” has a qualifying
statement, “as far as possible”. It would be for our
Local Council planning department to make this
determination whilst considering Policy P2 of the
Rochdale Core Strategy.
We believe this is Local Planning Council policy.

N

N

N

Page 56

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

The note about the trees appears
to be very onerous & will apply to
many self-seeded trees that could
potentially be detrimental to the
environment they are situated in.
P38 Policy RE1 – If the proposals
are in addition to existing policy,
this seems extremely onerous &
setting the bar very high to
encourage rural regeneration of
the farming community.

We expect this is an existing Local Council
guideline that facilitates planners making a
determination between a sapling and a tree.

You may want to consider the opposite view; the
policy is very supportive of the rural economy, in
the event of a farmer wanting to diversify and
apply for planning permission there would be no
need to consult with the forum. If you were to
suggest section F was counter intuitive when
compared to Policy HO1 (Page 28, section D) an
amendment would seem appropriate.

Page 169

P38 Explanation Para 2 – subjective
assessment criteria for the “careful
balance….. scale and character”

This would be for the Local Council planning
department to determine.

P42 Equestrian Development – Is
this is additional legislation to
supplement existing Planning
Legislation? Seems very onerous
and restrictive towards any future
development proposals.

This is existing legislation with a slight revision.
Rochdale & Bury Bridleways consulted on this
policy, the outcome was an improvement in the
ruling for removal of a ménage, currently 6
months, to a proposed neighbourhood policy of 12
months. Other than the increased period of disuse,
the policy would have no effect on exiting
ménages.

Have the farming community been
consulted on this?

The forum chair, Andy Meek, has been approached
and awaits a response. The farming community
can, of course, make representations through the
consultation process.

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

N

Y

Remove the condition, “they do
not require new dwellings
within the rural area to support
the enterprise;”

N

N

N

Page 57

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

P62 Control of New Development –
who will represent the Forum in its
role as consultee?
P63 Reviewing the plan – who will
undertake the review & how will
the proposed amendments &
updates be incorporated? What
are the checks & balances to the
amendment process?

Page 170

P68 Policy E3 – Light Pollution – I
am not aware that there is an issue
currently. Have representations
been made?

Regulation 15 Draft

November 2018

The trustees.

N

The planning group would review and make a
recommendation for the trustees to approve or
reject. Only upon trustee approval would the plan
be submitted to the council. And, subsequently (if
approved by the Council) independent
examination, 6-week consultation and then a
referendum of all eligible residents who live in the
area.

N

We not aware of any issues or representations.
The policy is intended for any development in a
“Dark Sky” location and has no effect on existing
developments.

N

Page 58

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix J - Response from Historic England

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
171
November

Page 59

Consultation Statement

Regulation 15 Draft

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page
172
November
2018

Page 60

Consultation Statement

Regulation 15 Draft

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page2018
173
November

Page 61

Consultation Statement

Regulation 15 Draft

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page
174
November
2018

Page 62

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix K Responses to Resident Comment Dated 27 March 2018
Dear

,

Re: Neighbourhood Planning – Your Consultation Response Dated 27th March 2018.
Thank you for your comments:
“Since we live in within this area it would be nice to be asked our opinion before any
proposal is submitted Just typical of power crazed people try to sneak there view
through under the radar without a proper consultation or discussion We will be
surprised if this makes it onto the website”
Please be assured this is a democratic process and Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area &
Forum is designated by Rochdale Borough Council. Neighbourhood planning was
introduced by the Localism Act 2011 and forms part of the Government’s commitment to
let local people have more of a say on local planning, hence the formation of RMNF to
achieve this in our area.
It would appear from your comments you feel that you have not had the opportunity to be
involved in the process of formulating the proposed Neighbourhood Plan for our area. A
copy of our community questionnaire, inviting you to give your views, was posted to you
on the 19 May 2017. The questionnaire was also made available online and publicised
through our website, social media and Rochdale Online. Respondents had the opportunity
to be anonymous, so it’s difficult to know exactly who did or did not respond.
Regarding this Plan, please note it is a “Pre-Submission” draft and we are inviting
comments from residents, stakeholders and statutory consultees. The consultation period
has only just opened and you have until Friday 4th May 2018 to review the plan and make
any comments you wish. When the consultation period has closed our Neighbourhood Plan
group will consider all the comments that have been made and make any required
adjustments to the plan – Only then, will the plan be submitted to the Council for
consideration.
You are correct that your comments of the 27th March 2017, or any other comments you
make will not be posted on our website. They will, however be made available at the end of
the consultation period in the “Consultation Statement” and whilst this document will be in
the public domain your name and address details will not be published.

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
175
November

Page 63

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

We hope you are assured this is a democratic process and will review the “Pre-submission”
Plan and let us know which bits you support or object to. Where you have an objection, it’s
important you tell us what change we could make to overcome your objection.
Yours sincerely,
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
176
November
2018

Page 64

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix L - Response from National Grid

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
177
November

Page 65

Consultation Statement

Regulation 15 Draft

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page
178
November
2018

Page 66

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix M - Response from United Utilities

Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
179
November

Page 67

Consultation Statement

Regulation 15 Draft

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Page
180
November
2018

Page 68

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix N - Response from The Coal Authority

Resolving the impacts of mining

Coal Authority

T 0345 762 6848

200 Lichfield Lane

T +44(0)1623 637000

Mansfield

www.gov.uk/coalauthority

Nottinghamshire
NG18 4RG

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum
BY EMAIL ONLY: info@RMNF.org.uk
4 May 2018

Dear Sir/Madam
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan – Pre-Submission
Thank you for the notification of the 26 March 2018 consulting The Coal Authority on the
above NDP.
The Coal Authority is a non-departmental public body which works to protect the public
and the environment in coal mining areas. Our statutory role in the planning system is to
provide advice about new development in the coalfield areas and also protect coal
resources from unnecessary sterilisation by encouraging their extraction, where practical,
prior to the permanent surface development commencing.
As you will be aware the Neighbourhood Plan area lies within the current defined coalfield.
According to the Coal Authority Development High Risk Area Plans, there are recorded
risks from past coal mining activity including; 28 mine entries and recorded and likely
unrecorded coal mine workings at shallow depth.
Regulation 15 Draft

Page2018
181
November

Page 69

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

It is noted that the Neighbourhood Plan does not propose to allocate any land for
development and on this basis we have no specific comments to make. However, if in the
future the Neighbourhood Plan allocates sites for future development in the areas of coal
mining legacy then consideration will need to be given to the risks to surface stability
posed by these features in accordance with the National and Local Planning Policy. In
addition any allocations on the surface coal resource will need to consider the impacts of
mineral sterilisation.
In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended)
please continue to consult The Coal Authority on planning matters using the specific email
address of planningconsultation@coal.gov.uk.
Yours faithfully

M elanie Lindsley
Melanie Lindsley BA (Hons), DipEH, DipURP, MA, PGCertUD, PGCertSP, MRTPI
Team Leader - Planning Liaison

T 01623 637 119
E planningconsultation@coal.gov.uk

Regulation 15 Draft

Page
182
November
2018

Page 70

Consultation Statement

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix O - Planning Decision Process Map (High Level)
Contact the RMBC planning department for advice
Apply online (via Planning Portal) or in paper format to RMBC planning department

Outline application
(submit “reserve
matters” later)

Full application

Submit application with correct fee and necessary supporting documents

RMBC planning department validates application and requests any missing documents

RMBC planning department acknowledges valid application
RMBC planning department publicises and consults on application
Consultees, members of the public, neighbours, Councillors, Specialist Council Departments, etc. are
able to comment (Object / Support / Neutral) – Note: information is in the public domain

Is there a
neighbourhood plan

Application considered
against the Local Plan

Yes

Consider
Neighbourhood
Plan

No
Application considered by Planning Officer or Planning Committee

Permission
refused

Change proposal and
submit new
application

Application
not decided
in 8 weeks

Right of appeal to the Secretary
of State

Permission
refused

Regulation 15 Draft

Permission
granted with
conditions

Permission
granted

Start work within time limit,
and comply with any
conditions

Permission
granted

Page2018
183
November

Page 71

Basic Conditions Statement
Regulation 15
June 2018

Prepared by Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum
June 2018

Page 184

1

Contents
1. Introduction & Background ............................................................................................................... 3
2. Legal Requirements .............................................................................................................................. 3
3. Basic Conditions ..................................................................................................................................... 4
Strategic Environmental & Habitat Regulations Assessment ............................................. 4
SEA Determination ................................................................................................................................ 5
HRA Determination ............................................................................................................................... 6
NPPF & Policy Summary ..................................................................................................................... 6
4. Contribution to the achievement of sustainable development ....................................... 19
4.1 Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan vision and strategic objectives ....................... 19
4.2 Sustainability Review ................................................................................................................ 21
5. European Convention on Human Rights ................................................................................... 23
Appendix 1 ...................................................................................................................................................... 24

Page 185

2

1.

Introduction & Background

This Basic Conditions Statement sets out how the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan (the plan) has
been prepared to meet the basic conditions. It has been prepared and submitted as a supporting
document for consideration by the Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner.
Late in 2015 members of Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum (RMNF) decided they wished to
create a neighbourhood plan for the proposed neighbourhood area. Following designation of the
forum and area in March 2016, an extensive period of consultation with local and national
stakeholders, local organisations, businesses, landowners, and residents was undertaken, finally
concluding in May 2018.
As well as written and email consultations, face-to-face meetings were arranged, and a number of
public consultation events were staged. Press, local newsletters, noticeboards and social media,
were all used to publicise the various stages of the process.
During the later stages of the consultation period, the RMNF plan group developed a draft
neighbourhood plan and in March 2018 the RMNF Trustees approved the plan to be sent out for
Regulation 14 consultation for a six-week period. Comments received were considered and
addressed where necessary, and the RMNF Trustees approved the final Regulation 15 draft plan
for submission Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) in June 2018.
The consultation arrangements for the Plan are all fully recorded within the submitted
Consultation Statement.

2.

Legal Requirements

This statement has been prepared by RMNF to accompany its submission, to RMBC, of the plan
under section 15 of the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012.
The plan has been prepared by RMNF, a qualifying body designated by RMBC on 9 March 2016.
The designated neighbourhood area is shown outlined in red on the map at Appendix 1.
The plan proposal relates to planning matters in the designated neighbourhood area and covers a
10-year period from 2018 to 2028. It does not contain policies relating to excluded development as
laid out in the Regulations.
The Regulations state that the plan will have met the basic conditions if:
a. The Neighbourhood Plan is being submitted by a qualifying body
• A qualifying body, namely Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum, is submitting the
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan.
b. What is being proposed is a neighbourhood plan
• The plan proposal relates to planning matters (the use and development of land) and
has been prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and processes set
out in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011)
and the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012.
c. The proposed Neighbourhood Plan states the period for which it is to have effect
• The proposed Neighbourhood Plan states the period for which it is to have effect. That
period is from the Plan being made (2018) up to 2028 (the same end date as the
Rochdale Core Strategy 2012-2028).

Page 186

3

d. The policies do not relate to excluded development
• The Neighbourhood Plan proposal does not deal with county matters (mineral
extraction and waste development), nationally significant infrastructure or any other
matters set out in Section 61K of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
e. The proposed Neighbourhood Plan does not relate to more than one neighbourhood area
and there are no other neighbourhood plans in place within the neighbourhood area.
• The Neighbourhood Plan proposal relates to the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area
and to no other area. There are no other Neighbourhood Plans relating to that
neighbourhood area.

3.

Basic Conditions

The plan has been prepared in conformity with the policies set out in the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF – July 2018) and to ensure it is in general conformity with the development plan
for the area, namely the adopted RMBC Core Strategy Document (Local Plan) 2012-2028. There has
been close consultation with Officers from RMBC throughout the plan process; notably the
Planning Officer specialising in Neighbourhood Planning.
Only a draft neighbourhood Plan or Order that meets each of a set of basic conditions can be put
to a referendum and be made. The basic conditions are set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to neighbourhood plans by section 38A of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The basic conditions are:
a. having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary
of State it is appropriate to make the order (or neighbourhood plan)
b. having special regard to the desirability of preserving any listed building or its setting or
any features of special architectural or historic interest that it possesses, it is appropriate
to make the order. This applies only to Orders
c. having special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of any conservation area, it is appropriate to make the order. This applies only
to Orders
d. the making of the order (or neighbourhood plan) contributes to the achievement of
sustainable development.
e. the making of the order (or neighbourhood plan) is in general conformity with the strategic
policies contained in the development plan for the area of the authority (or any part of
that area)
f. the making of the order (or neighbourhood plan) does not breach, and is otherwise
compatible with, EU obligations
g. prescribed conditions are met in relation to the Order (or plan) and prescribed matters
have been complied with in connection with the proposal for the order (or neighbourhood
plan)

Strategic Environmental & Habitat Regulations Assessment
To meet the ‘basic conditions’ that are specified by law, a Neighbourhood Plan must be compatible
with EU obligations. Furthermore, as at 9th February 2015 Regulation 15 of the 2012
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations was amended to require that when a plan is submitted to the
Local Planning Authority it should include either an environmental report prepared in accordance

Page 187

4

with the applicable regulations or where it has been determined as unlikely to have significant
environmental effects, a statement of reasons for the determination.
A SEA screening report was prepared by RMBC to determine whether or not the content of the
draft Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) in
accordance with the European Directive 2001/42/EC and associated Environmental Assessment of
Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004. A Habitat Regulations Assessment screening report was
also undertaken for the Neighbourhood Plan to determine whether a Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA) is required in accordance with Article 6(3) of the EU Habitats Directive and with
Regulation 61 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended).
Requirement for Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)
Article 6 (3) of the EU Habitats Directive (Council Directive 92/43/EEC) and Regulation 61 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) requires that an appropriate
assessment of plans and programmes is carried out with regard to the conservation objectives of
European Sites (Natura 2000 sites) and that other plans and projects identify any significant effect
that is likely for any European Site. In the context of Neighbourhood Planning, a Habitats
Regulation Assessment (HRA) is required where a Neighbourhood Plan is deemed likely to result in
significant negative effects occurring on protected European Sites (Natura 2000 sites) as a result of
the plan’s implementation. There are no European Sites within the neighbourhood area or in close
proximity.

SEA Determination
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)
a. the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan does not seek to allocate sites or propose a greater
degree of development to that already set out in the RMBC Core Strategy or Draft
Allocations Plan; the emphasis is on maintaining the village as a sustainable community
through limited development to meet local aspirations. It seeks designation of moorland
and the securing of valuable visual amenities
b. protection is afforded to important community facilities such as conservation areas and
the Cotton Famine Road. The Plan seeks to support and encourage development of
farming and recreational activities
c. the report concluded that the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan does not require a full
SEA
d. Natural England and the Environment Agency agreed with the report’s conclusion

Page 188

5

HRA Determination
Rochdale Council undertook a Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA), it concluded:
a. the Local Plan (Core Strategy) already provides the mechanism by which potential adverse
impacts upon the UNVGP SPA / Ramsar site may be addressed.
b. the Neighbourhood Plan is consistent with the RMBC Core Strategy; with reference to the
Habitat Regulations.
c. Natural England agreed with the conclusion of the report.
h.

NPPF & Policy Summary
The tables below set out a summary of each policy and the relevant provisions of the NPPF dated
July 2018 and the RMBC Local Plan that applies, respectively. Each policy in the Neighbourhood
Plan was carefully written to conform to these national and local planning guidance and policies,
therefore the cross-references to relevant sections of the NPPF and RMBC Local Plan are set out in
the following table. Comparison between all three of these documents therefore demonstrates the
conformity of the Neighbourhood Plan, as summarised in the commentary.
The paragraphs referred to are considered to be the most relevant to the policy and are not
intended to be a comprehensive list of every possible relevant paragraph.
The objectives of RMNF guided the whole process and are reproduced in section 4.1.

Page 189

6

National Planning Policy Framework
Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy HO1 –

Within the Plan area, new housing development will be
restricted to that which is compatible with green belt
policy set out in national guidance and the Local Plan.

This policy reflects national policy on green belt and
acknowledges that new housing units could be
established under the exceptions listed in paragraph 145
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – that
is, the extension, alteration, and replacement of dwellings
where there would be no harm to the green belt. The
policy expands on this by including support for the
conversion of rural buildings to housing and for the
residential development of a brownfield site within the
area where green belt openness can be retained and
where development might provide an opportunity to
improve the area. The plan seeks to support the local
farming economy and this policy also acknowledges that
there may be very special circumstances to justify a new
home, such as the essential need for a rural worker to live
permanently at or near their place of work in the
countryside.

All proposals for new development (including alterations,
extensions and redevelopment proposals) in the Rooley
Moor Neighbourhood Area will be expected to respect
the special character and appearance of the area.

This policy has regard to paragraph 79 of the NPPF, which
advises local planning authorities that they should avoid
new isolated homes in the countryside unless there are
‘special circumstances’. One such special circumstance
(at bullet point 4) is the exceptional quality or innovative
nature of the design of the dwelling.

Residential
Development

Page 190
Policy D1 –
Design

7

National Planning Policy Framework
Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy D2 –

The community is keen to maintain rural buildings in
good condition and in productive use as this is essential
to retain the character of the area and to provide
opportunities for new housing units, agricultural
diversification, visitor and recreational use, workshops
and small businesses.

This policy is compatible with the NPPF objectives of
conserving and enhancing the natural environment. It is
in conformity with NPPF paragraph 170.

Policy D3 – Character
Areas and Important
Views

Any development must have regard to the special
qualities of those distinct areas that help to define and
showcase local character. Also development should not
cause any loss or diminution of important views from a
public right of way that currently provides open field
aspects or views of distinctive landscape features.

This policy is compatible with the NPPF objective of
conserving and enhancing the historic environment. Is in
conformity with NPPF paragraphs 185 by seeking to
conserve heritage assets and their settings so they can be
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of
current and future generations.

Policy HE1 – Protection
of Heritage Assets

Development affecting statutory and non-statutory
heritage assets, (including those shown on the Proposals
Map).

This policy is compatible with the NPPF objective of
conserving and enhancing the historic environment. Is in
conformity with NPPF paragraphs 185

Policy RE1 - Farm
Diversification

Proposals for farm diversification, which require planning
permission.

This policy is compatible with the NPPF objective of
promoting a strong rural economy through
neighbourhood planning. The policy is in conformity with
NPPF paragraph 83, which identifies how planning policy
can support economic growth in rural areas in order to
create jobs and prosperity by taking a positive approach
to sustainable new development. In particular it
promotes the conversion of existing buildings and
agricultural diversification.

Policy R1 - Areas of
Recreational Focus

As resources and opportunities permit, the recreational
potential of the areas shown on the Proposals Map will
be promoted and developed through effective
management.

This policy is compatible with the NPPF objectives of
conserving and enhancing the natural environment, and
promoting healthy communities. It is in conformity with
NPPF paragraph 99 which make specific reference to
protecting green areas that are special to the local
community from the threat of development.

Conversion and Re-use
of Rural Buildings

Page 191

8

National Planning Policy Framework

Page 192

Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy R2 – Key
Recreational Routes

The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum will work with
Rochdale Council to develop and enhance, in partnership
with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and landowners, a
system of strategic recreational routes as identified on
the Proposals Map

This policy is in conformity with paragraphs 20, 91, 150
and 171 by seeking to enhance and create green
infrastructure of value to the community in terms of
biodiversity and the recreational role and importance to
the well-being of residents in the Area.

Policy R3 - Equestrian
Development

Proposals for new, or extensions or alterations to
existing, private or commercial equestrian
facilities.

This policy is compatible with the NPPF objective of
promoting healthy communities. It is in conformity with
NPPF paras 91 and 92, which support the positive
development of a variety of recreational facilities that can
promote the health and social wellbeing of the
community and enhance the sustainability of rural life.

Policy V1 – Visitor
Facilities

Visitor facilities will be promoted in appropriate locations
where they extend opportunities for countryside
recreation and appreciation of the local and natural
heritage.

This policy seeks to support small business enterprises
and sustainable economic development which promotes
and creates a strong rural economy and which respects
the character of the countryside. It is compatible with the
NPPF objective of promoting a strong rural economy
through neighbourhood planning.
The policy is particularly in conformity with NPPF
paragraph 83, which identifies how planning policy can
support sustainable rural tourism and leisure
developments that benefit businesses in rural areas,
communities and visitors, and which respect the
character of the countryside.

9

National Planning Policy Framework
Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy V2 - Overnight
Visitor Accommodation

Proposals for overnight accommodation will be
supported where they are of an appropriate scale and
type for the area, involve the use of existing buildings and
are acceptable in the green belt.

This policy seeks to support small business enterprises
and sustainable economic development which promotes
and creates a strong rural economy and which respects
the character of the countryside. It is compatible with the
NPPF objective of promoting a strong rural economy
through neighbourhood planning.

Appropriate types of accommodation would be bed and
breakfast, self-catering facilities, bed and tack camping
barns and sites used for camping. Ancillary facilities such
as parking, cycle storage, will be encouraged in suitable
locations and should not detract from the setting of the
building(s) or the openness of the green belt.

Page 193

The policy is particularly in conformity with NPPF
paragraph 83, which identifies how planning policy can
support sustainable rural tourism and leisure
developments that benefit businesses in rural areas,
communities and visitors, and which respect the
character of the countryside.

Policy LB1 - Landscape
Protection and
Enhancement

Development will be permitted where it conserves the
physical and cultural attributes of the landscape and
contributes to the regeneration, restoration,
enhancement or maintenance of the landscape likely to
be affected.

This policy is compatible with the NPPF objectives of
conserving and enhancing the natural environment, and
promoting healthy communities. It is in conformity with
NPPF paragraphs 99 & 170 which make specific reference
to protecting green areas that are special to the local
community from the threat of development.

Policy LB2 - Trees,
Woodlands and
Hedgerows

Development proposals must seek to avoid the loss of,
and minimise the risk of harm to,existing trees,
woodland, and/or hedgerows.

This policy is compatible with the NPPF objective of
conserving and enhancing the natural environment. It is
in conformity with NPPF paragraphs 28, 170 & 172 by
seeking to protect and enhance the landscape. It has a
strong emphasis on protecting a particularly valued
landscape from inappropriate development. It also seeks
to ensure new development responds to the local
character of the area via appropriate landscaping, and
ensuring new development incorporates (where
appropriate) existing trees and hedgerows, wildlife
habitats, and by adding to the biodiversity of the area.

New woodland planting schemes will be encouraged in
valleys and cloughs, around but not on open unenclosed
moorland and skylines.

National Planning Policy Framework

10

Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy LB3 - Sites of
Wildlife Importance

The Forum, in partnership with landowners, businesses,
residents and relevant agencies and organisations will
seek to extend coverage and quality of ‘sites of biological
importance’ in the area and support the establishment of
wildlife networks and nature trails consistent with plan
objectives and other policies.

This policy is compatible with the NPPF objective of
conserving and enhancing the natural environment. Is in
conformity with the NPPF paras 100, 118, 142, 170, 172 &
174 by seeking to protect and enhance the AONB
landscape and existing biodiversity, geodiversity assets in
the Area. It also seeks to ensure new development
incorporates wildlife habitats and by adding to the
biodiversity of the area.

Where a proposed development is on or near to an
identified site of biological Importance, an assessment of
impact will be required to show that the site or a relevant
feature is not adversely affected.

Page 194

Policy E1 – Energy
Efficiency and
Renewable / Low
Carbon Energy

Proposals for individual and community scale energy
from hydro-electricity, solar voltaic panels, local biomass
facilities and wood fuel facilities

This policy supports the core planning principles within
section 118, 148, 151 of the NPPF and more specifically
helps deliver such objectives as set out in section 152 of
the NPPF.

11

National Planning Policy Framework
Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy E2 - Wind
Turbines

Proposals for wind turbines will be supported provided
that the scale, height, siting, appearance and operation
of the turbine(s) would not detract from:

This policy supports the core planning principles within
section 154 of the NPPF and more specifically helps
deliver such objectives as set out in section 170 of the
NPPF.

a) the setting of locally ‘listed’ buildings and heritage
assets;
b) the scale of adjacent buildings and landscape
features;
c) ‘character areas’ and important views as identified
in Policy D3; and
d) key recreational areas and routes as identified in
Policies R1 and R2;

Page 195

Proposals will be expected to show they will not give rise
to:
I. unacceptable noise impact on sensitive users;
II. unacceptable shadow and reflective flicker;
III. unacceptable visual clutter in combination with
other turbines or structures;
IV. interference to the operation of any
communications or broadcast equipment; and
V. disturbance to peat, hydrology and underground
services.
Policy E3 - Light
Pollution

Development proposals involving external lighting as part
of a new or existing development.

The NPPF (paragraph 180) states that planning policies
“should limit the impact of light pollution from artificial
light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and
nature conservation”.

Policy T1 - Traffic
Impact

Any new development within the Neighbourhood Area
likely to have a significant traffic impact on existing roads,
lanes and rights of way.

This policy supports the aspirations and objectives set out
in the NPPF paras 91, 102, 104 & 110 encouraging more
sustainable forms of movement, minimise conflict and
provide secure and safe areas for cyclists and pedestrians.

12

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council Core Strategy Document (Local Plan)
Description

Commentary

Policy HO1 –
Residential
Development

Within the Plan area, new housing development will be
restricted to that which is compatible with green belt
policy set out in national guidance and the Local Plan.

This policy gives regard to the requirement for house
extensions not to be ‘disproportionate’, guidance on this
is contained in the Council’s Guidelines & Standards for
Residential Development Supplementary Planning
Document. (See Glossary for definition of ‘Original
Dwelling’)

Policy D1 – Design

All proposals for new development (including alterations,
extensions and redevelopment proposals) in the Rooley
Moor Neighbourhood Area will be expected to respect
the special character and appearance of the area.

This policy reflects the requirements in Core Strategy
Policy P3, ‘Improving design of new development, the
current Urban Design Guide Supplementary Planning
Document and the recommendations of local
Conservation Area Appraisals. However, they focus on
those detailed matters where there is potential to
maintain and reinforce character and identity, address
the community’s concerns about new development and
to ensure that design detail does not compromise
building quality.

Policy D2 – Conversion
and Re-use of Rural
Buildings

The community is keen to maintain rural buildings in
good condition and in productive use as this is essential
to retain the character of the area and to provide
opportunities for new housing units, agricultural
diversification, visitor and recreational use, workshops
and small businesses.

The Core Strategy Policy E6 encourages the conversion of
redundant farm buildings and mills but does not
incorporate specific criteria to ensure all rural conversions
and re-use of buildings are appropriate and acceptable.

Page 196

Policy - Title

13

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council Core Strategy Document (Local Plan)

Page 197

Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy D3 – Character
Areas and Important
Views

Any development must have regard to the special
qualities of those distinct areas that help to define and
showcase local character. Also development should not
cause any loss or diminution of important views from a
public right of way that currently provides open field
aspects or views of distinctive landscape features.

Enhancing local identity and sense of place is a one of the
Key Principles set out in the Borough Urban Design Guide
SPD consistent with Policy P2 of the Core Strategy

Policy HE1 – Protection
of Heritage Assets

Development affecting statutory and non-statutory
heritage assets, (including those shown on the Proposals
Map)

Policy P2 of the Rochdale Core Strategy seeks to protect
the Borough’s heritage by conserving, enhancing and
promoting heritage assets including conservation areas,
listed buildings and other non-designated assets such as
buildings, structures and archaeological sites. Proposals
for conversions to traditional rural buildings and barns
should also have regard to the Council’s Guidelines &
Standards for Residential Development SPD Adopted June
2016.

Policy RE1 - Farm
Diversification

Proposals for farm diversification, which require planning
permission.

This policy is compatible with the Core Strategy Policy E6
‘Supporting and Diversifying the Rural Economy’ seeks to
strengthen and diversify the rural economy and to
support activities where they enhance landscapes and
provide employment opportunities. It also encourages
the re-use of redundant farm buildings.

Policy R1 - Areas of
Recreational Focus

As resources and opportunities permit, the recreational
potential of the areas shown on the Proposals Map will
be promoted and developed through effective
management.

This policy is compatible with the saved UDP Policy RE/7
‘Recreational management areas’ identifies areas across
the borough where the Council will promote outdoor
recreational uses including both specialist sports and
active outdoor pursuits and passive recreation (e.g.,
nature appreciation and related educational pursuits)
that are consistent with the conservation and
enhancement of the local landscape and ecology.

14

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council Core Strategy Document (Local Plan)

Page 198

Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy R2 – Key
Recreational Routes

The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum will work with
Rochdale Council to develop and enhance, in partnership
with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and landowners, a
system of strategic recreational routes as identified on
the Proposals Map

This policy is consistent with UDP Policy RE/6, the routes
are shown on the proposals map but in a way that reflects
their local significance.

Policy R3 - Equestrian
Development

Proposals for new, or extensions or alterations to
existing, private or commercial equestrian facilities

Core Strategy policy E5 ‘seeks to encourage the visitor
economy, Policy C8 supports improved sport and leisure
facilities and policy G6 promotes access to green
infrastructure. However there is no specific proposal that
supports equestrian activities compatible with green belt
and green infrastructure.

Policy V1 – Visitor
Facilities

Visitor facilities will be promoted in appropriate locations
where they extend opportunities for countryside
recreation and appreciation of the local and natural
heritage.

The Core Strategy Policy E5 seeks to encourage the visitor
economy in the South Pennine Moors and to enhance
recreational routes.

Policy V2 - Overnight
Visitor Accommodation

Proposals for overnight accommodation will be
supported where they are of an appropriate scale and
type for the area, involve the use of existing buildings and
are acceptable in the green belt.

Currently, no policy exists to actively and sensitively
promote visitor facilities in this important gateway
location.

Appropriate types of accommodation would be bed and
breakfast, self-catering facilities, bed and tack camping
barns and sites used for camping. Ancillary facilities such
as parking, cycle storage, will be encouraged in suitable
locations and should not detract from the setting of the
building(s) or the openness of the green belt.

15

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council Core Strategy Document (Local Plan)
Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy LB1 - Landscape
Protection and
Enhancement

Development will be permitted where it conserves the
physical and cultural attributes of the landscape and
contributes to the regeneration, restoration,
enhancement or maintenance of the landscape likely to
be affected.

This policy aligns to Core Strategy Policies G6 ‘Enhancing
green infrastructure’ identifies broadly where green
infrastructure improvements should be focussed and G7
‘Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity’
identifies priorities for biodiversity and geodiversity and
where improvements can focussed.

Policy LB2 - Trees,
Woodlands and
Hedgerows

Development proposals must seek to avoid the loss of,
and minimise the risk of harm to, existing trees,
woodland, and/or hedgerows.

Core Strategy Policy G6 ‘Enhancing Green Infrastructure’
expects development proposals to protect ancient
woodlands and hedgerows, support new woodland and
tree planting and replace removed trees at a ratio of 2:1.
It also expects development proposals and improvements
to protect existing sites and create new sites and features
of interest. Priority areas include the South Pennine
Moors, upland farmland, the countryside around towns
and designated sites of ecological importance. Policy G7
‘Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity’
expects development to enhance trees, hedges and
wooded areas.

Page 199

New woodland planting schemes will be encouraged in
valleys and cloughs, around but not on open unenclosed
moorland and skylines.

Policy LB3 - Sites of
Wildlife Importance

The Forum, in partnership with landowners, businesses,
residents and relevant agencies and organisations will
seek to extend coverage and quality of ‘sites of biological
importance’ in the area and support the establishment of
wildlife networks and nature trails consistent with plan
objectives and other policies.
Where a proposed development is on or near to an
identified site of biological Importance, an assessment of
impact will be required to show that the site or a relevant
feature is not adversely affected.

Core Strategy G7 ‘Increasing the value of biodiversity and
geodiversity’ identifies priorities for biodiversity and
geodiversity and includes criteria which new
development should satisfy. Saved UDP Policy NE/2
‘Designated sites of ecological, geological and
geomorphological importance’ identifies those sites of
international, national and regional and local importance
and requires that development should not be permitted
where such sites are adversely affected.

16

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council Core Strategy Document (Local Plan)

Page 200

Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy E1 – Energy
Efficiency and
Renewable / Low
Carbon Energy

Proposals for individual and community scale energy
from hydro-electricity, solar voltaic panels, local biomass
facilities and wood fuel facilities.

This policy is compatible with Core Strategy Policies G1,
G2 and G3. The guidance on renewable energy seeks to
increase the amount of energy from renewable
technologies in the interests of maintaining a secure
energy supply, reducing gas emissions to slowing down
climate change. Policy G3 sets out criteria for assessing
the suitability of wind power and other renewable and
low carbon energy developments proposals.

Policy E2 - Wind
Turbines

Proposals for wind turbines will be supported provided
that the scale, height, siting, appearance and operation
of the turbine(s) would not detract from:

Policy G3 sets out criteria for assessing the suitability of
wind power and other renewable and low carbon energy
developments proposals.

e) the setting of locally ‘listed’ buildings and heritage
assets;
f) the scale of adjacent buildings and landscape
features;
g) ‘character areas’ and important views as identified
in Policy D3; and
h) key recreational areas and routes as identified in
Policies R1 and R2;
Proposals will be expected to show they will not give rise
to:
VI. unacceptable noise impact on sensitive users;
VII. unacceptable shadow and reflective flicker;
VIII. unacceptable visual clutter in combination with
other turbines or structures;
IX. interference to the operation of any
communications or broadcast equipment; and
X. disturbance to peat, hydrology and underground
services.

17

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council Core Strategy Document (Local Plan)

Page 201

Policy - Title

Description

Commentary

Policy E3 - Light
Pollution

Development proposals involving external lighting as part
of a new or existing development.

This policy complements Core Strategy Policy G9
‘Reducing the impact of pollution, contamination and
land stability’ requires that development does not lead to
an unacceptable increase in air, water, noise, light and
other pollution.

Policy T1 - Traffic
Impact

Any new development within the Neighbourhood Area
likely to have a significant traffic impact on existing roads,
lanes and rights of way.

The Core Strategy policy T1 ‘Delivering Sustainable
Transport’ seeks to make best use of transport assets,
improve safety and to work with communities to
minimise the impact of traffic. Policy T2 seeks to improve
accessibility and to focus transport improvements in
priority regeneration areas but does not specifically
address the types of accessibility and traffic issues
experienced in Rooley Moor.

18

4.

Sustainable Development

The plan contributes to the economic, social and environmental aspects of sustainable
development. It is compatible with EU obligations and is not likely to have a significant effect on a
European site (as defined in the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010(2)) or a
European offshore marine site (as defined in the Offshore Marine Conservation (Natural Habitats,
&c.) Regulations 2007(3)) (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects).
Within the Plan, economic and social sustainability was supported through the promotion of
policies regarding affordable housing, the needs of local businesses, improvement of
pedestrian/cyclist safety, and local community facilities.
During the preparation of the Plan, residents, local landowners, and the group identified no
exception housing development sites. Full regard has been given to the natural environment; an
issue strongly resonant with individual respondents to the plan.

4.1 Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan vision and strategic objectives
Vision
“RMNF’s Neighbourhood Plan sets out a vision for the area that reflects the thoughts and feelings
of local people who have a real interest in their community. The Plan sets objectives on key themes
such as housing, heritage, conservation, development, green spaces, environment, countryside
management, farming, recreation, employment, accessibility, transport and visitors. It builds on
current and planned activities and says what RMNF and its partners will work towards. Rooley
Moor will be renowned for its beautiful, well-managed countryside, its landscape qualities and its
rich built heritage. It will have a strong residential community, a successful farming community and
will be treasured by regular visitors seeking to enjoy its improved recreational opportunities, its
scenery and views and its rich heritage and historical and cultural associations. It will boast a
national trail, a nationally renowned equestrian trail, improved routes and visitor facilities and will
be an important gateway into the South Pennine moorland. Its conservation areas will have been
enhanced, rural and derelict buildings will have been restored and improved and in productive use.
The design quality of new buildings, extensions and conversions will be exemplary and will have
maintained and restored traditional local character. Carbon emission will have been reduced
through the use of clean energies, light pollution will be reduced, traffic and noise impacts will be
effectively managed.”
Objectives
RMNF’s key objectives are to:
a. promote high standards of planning and architecture;
b. educate the public in the geography, history, natural history, culture and architecture; and
c. secure the preservation, protection, development and improvement of features or areas of
historic or public interest.

Page 202

19

Policy - Title

RMNF objective(s)

Policy HO1 – Residential Development

A and C

Policy D1 – Design

A and C

Policy D2 – Conversion and Re-use of Rural Buildings

A and C

Policy D3 – Character Areas and Important Views

A and C

Policy HE1 – Protection of Heritage Assets

A and C

Policy RE1 - Farm Diversification

A and C

Policy R1 - Areas of Recreational Focus

A, B and C

Policy R2 – Key Recreational Routes

A, B and C

Policy R3 - Equestrian Development

A and C

Policy V1 – Visitor Facilities

A, B and C

Policy V2 - Overnight Visitor Accommodation

A and C

Policy LB1 - Landscape Protection and Enhancement

A and C

Policy LB2 - Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows

A and C

Policy LB3 - Sites of Wildlife Importance

A and C

Policy E1 – Energy Efficiency and Renewable / Low Carbon Energy

A and C

Policy E2 - Wind Turbines

A and C

Policy E3 - Light Pollution

A and C

Policy T1 - Traffic Impact

A and C

Page 203

20

4.2 Sustainability Review
The Sustainability Review set out below provides a further summary of how of each policy in the
plan impacts on the three strands of sustainability; economic, social and environmental.
Green shading indicates an assessment of a very positive impact, amber a more modest impact. It
is not considered that any policy has a negative effect on sustainability, though some are neutral.
Policy - Title

Economic

Social

Policy HO1 –
Residential
Development.

Appropriate development will enhance the
area, making it more attractive for recreation
and local residents alike. High quality
development will enhance the village scene,
making it more attractive for tourists and local
residents alike.

Protection of
biodiversity and
landscape is one of the
key points of the
policy.

Policy D1 – Design.

Good design of new development will have
positive effects on the desirability of Rooley
Moor as a place to live, do business and for
visitors.

Good design protects
the built environment
from unsympathetic
additions.

Policy D2 – Conversion
and Re-use of Rural
Buildings.

Limited development
opportunities.

Limited new
households.

No new building in
open countryside.

Policy D3 – Character
Areas and Important
Views.

Green space has
recreational, amenity
and landscape value,
and is valued by
residents.

Designated Green
Space in the area will
be protected, with
obvious
environmental
benefits

Policy HE1 –
Protection of Heritage
Assets.

Protection of historic
assets may contribute
positively to the
character of the area.

Historic assets are a
valued part of the
environment of the
area.

Policy RE1 - Farm
Diversification.

New business will
allow farming to be
more economically
sustainable.

Policy R1 - Areas of
Recreational Focus.

Improving and retaining tourism is an important
factor, both in providing local employment, and
retaining the lively community that results.

Page 204

Environmental

Protection of
landscape is one of the
key points of the
policy.

21

Policy - Title

Economic

Policy R2 – Key
Recreational Routes.

Improving and retaining tourism is an important
factor, both in providing local employment, and
retaining the lively community that results.

Protection of
landscape is one of the
key points of the
policy.

Policy R3 - Equestrian
Development.

There may be limited
Sporting life is an
opportunities
important social
connected with these
factor, so more
facilities.
facilities will assist.
Improving and retaining tourism is an important
factor, both in providing local employment, and
retaining the lively community that results.

Sustainable access is
one of the key points
of the policy.

Might improve
employment
prospects.

Recruitment for new
businesses has social
benefits.

Protection of
landscape is a key
point of the policy.

Policy LB1 - Landscape
Protection and
Enhancement.

Green space has
recreational, amenity
and landscape value,
and is valued by
residents.

Designated Green
Space in the Area will
be protected, with
obvious
environmental
benefits.

Policy LB2 - Trees,
Woodlands and
Hedgerows.

Trees are thought to
have positive impact
on health and
wellbeing, so the
retention and addition
of trees and hedges
may have a beneficial
effect.

The protection of
existing trees and
hedges, and the
provision of new ones,
will enhance the
environment.

Policy LB3 - Sites of
Wildlife Importance.

As above, natural
habitat can have
positive effects.

The protection and
improvement of
existing sites with
wildlife or geological
importance, and the
provision of new ones,
will enhance the
environment.

Policy V1 – Visitor
Facilities.

Policy V2 - Overnight
Visitor
Accommodation.

Social

Policy E1 – Energy
Efficiency and
Renewable / Low
Carbon Energy.

Environmental

Protection of
landscape is one of the
key points of the
policy.

Small renewable
schemes might help to
mitigate the impact of
climate change on the
environment.

Page 205

22

Policy - Title

Economic

Social

Environmental

Policy E2 - Wind
Turbines.

Appropriate
renewable schemes
might help to mitigate
the impact of climate
change on the
environment.

Policy E3 - Light
Pollution.

Reducing the impact
of light pollution will
improve the ‘dark sky’
areas.

Policy T1 - Traffic
Impact.

5.

Less dangerous
pedestrian routes
through the area may
have benefits for
tourism.

Policies address
serious concerns for
pedestrians, cyclist
and horse riders.

European Convention on Human Rights

The plan is fully compatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. It has been prepared
with full regard to national statutory regulation and policy guidance, which are both compatible
with the Convention. The Plan has been produced in full consultation with the local community.
The Plan does not contain policies or proposals that would infringe the human rights of residents
or other stakeholders over and above the existing strategic policies at national and district-levels,
as demonstrated in the Equalities Impact Assessment scoping report.

Page 206

23

Appendix 1

Page 207

24

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan
Equality Impact Assessment
Quick Guidance Notes
Stage 1. Screening Stage
Stage 1 of the template is classed as the Screening Stage. This should always be completed.
At this stage you should be assessing obvious negative/positive impact or gaps in knowledge about
likely impact. It should be a relatively short process which makes use of any previous consultation
results, any differences in user satisfaction among groups, personal knowledge and experience,
research, reports, existing equality data about service usage, internet searches, internal and external
specialist advice, employees with previous experience of similar work, known inequalities etc. If the
likely impact on a particular group is unknown, then action should be taken to acquire this
information.
If the impact is positive (i.e. the outcome will benefit an Equality Group) then no further action is
required. If no positive or negative impacts are identified then no further action is required. If the
activity has the potential to cause adverse/negative impact or discriminate against different groups in
the community it will require a full impact assessment (Stage 2).
In some cases it might be easy to put in place simple adjustments to eliminate any negative impact
while you are working through the screening process, especially if you already have clear
evidence/consultation and the process is an integral part of your policy development. It should only be
done if you are absolutely confident that no other impact will be identified. If you choose to do this you
should clearly document the reasons/evidence and put in place monitoring to ensure action is taken if
unanticipated impact occurs.
Stage 2. Full Equality Impact Assessment Report
Stage 2 of the EIA process guides officers through the full impact assessment process, ensuring that
research/consultation with relevant equality groups has been carried out and leads to an action plan
aiming to minimise the negative impact/s.
Consultation involves engaging with representatives from equality groups who are likely to be affected
by the activity. It could involve engaging with employees and Members, trade unions, other public
bodies, voluntary and community groups. It is important to ensure sufficient time and resources are
dedicated to the consultation process to encourage full participation.
Take a Proportionate Approach
Your approach to assessing the equalities impact of a policy, strategy or service should be proportionate
to the likely impact it will have. Issues you should consider include:
- the number of people likely to be affected
- the size of the budget/amount of money involved
- the extent of the proposed change
- wider public policy implications
This means you will assess more rigorously policies, which are likely to have a significant impact on the
local community.

Page 208

Stage 1 and 2 Equality Impact Assessment Templates
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum

Telephone & e-mail: 01706 354161 /
info@RMNF.org.uk
Date of assessment: 30 November 2018

Accountable Officer: Alan Rawsterne

Name of service/function/policy:
Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Development Plan
Is this new or existing?
New

Stage 1: Screening Stage
1. Briefly describe its aims & objectives
When the Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) is ‘made’ the plan will become part of the Borough’s
Development Plan (planning policy documents) for Rochdale.
The NDP sets out planning policies developed by Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum in consultation with
the local community on local issues such as Built Heritage, Green Spaces and Environment, Countryside
Management and Farming, Recreation, Accessibility and Visitors.

2. Are there external considerations? (legislation/government directive etc.)
The Government’s legislation sets out the procedures that have to be followed for making the plan and
what it can be included.
Neighbourhood planning provisions were introduced by the Localism Act 2011 and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2018), the latter stating that it ‘… gives communities the power to develop a shared
vision for their area’. (Paragraph 29).
Other legislation that needs to be considered:
• Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011 and the
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017)
• The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012
• Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017

3. Who are the stakeholders and what are their interests?
All people living, visiting or carrying out business in the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Area.

4. What outcomes do we want to achieve and for whom?
The NDP has been produced by Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum on behalf of residents, businesses and
anyone with interest within the area. The Plan focuses on specific land use related issues that were raised
during the Forum’s public consultations. Issues not covered by the Plan will be covered by the strategic
policies in Rochdale Core Strategy (2016).

Page 209

5. Has any consultation/research been carried out or relied upon?
Yes
If yes please provide details and outcomes, if no please outline any planned activities
• Thursday 21 May 2015 at 7.00 pm, Spotland and Falinge Area Forum - Proposal to create the Rooley
Moor Neighbourhood Forum is agreed by residents at this meeting
• Wednesday 16 September 2015 - Rochdale Township Committee - Application for neighbourhood
area and forum. Mr A Rawsterne, member of the proposed Neighbourhood Forum addressed the
Committee in respect of the application. DECIDED – That (1) the proposed Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Area boundary, as described in the submitted report, be approved as the basis for
public consultation; (2) the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum application be approved as a basis
for consultation.
• Thursday 17 September 2015 7.00pm - RMNF Inaugural AGM - Our fist meeting to appoint trustees,
agree our objects and constitution, etc.
• Tuesday 16 February 2016 - Forums charitable status confirmed - Email notification to trustees
officer, members, councillors and others
• Wednesday 9 March 2016 - Rochdale Township Committee Meeting - Area and Forum formally
designated by the Local Authority at the Rochdale Township Committee.
• Thursday 14 April 2016 - Trustees Meeting - Meeting to discuss: Heritage Lottery Fund, Bank
Account (opened), Locality Grant, BBC & Launch Event, Conservation and other matters
• June 2016 - RMNF Survey - Letter and questionnaire to residents and organisations - data gathering
asking basic questions:
1. What do you like about the Rooley Moor area?
2. What don’t you like?
3. What do you want to change?
4. What are the five main issues in the area that the plan needs to tackle?
5. What are the 5 key opportunities in the area that the plan can take to improve the area and
promote heritage and landscape protection and sustainable recreation and tourism activities
• Sunday 14 August 2016 Launch event - 300+ people attended the event, which included a public
consultation exhibition and basic questionnaire
• Wednesday 11 January 2017 - Neighbourhood Plan Group Meeting - Discussion to start the
neighbourhood plan process
• Monday 29 May 2017 – Detailed Community questionnaire consultation opens for a six week period
- Two paper copies of our community questionnaire is despatched to all households in our
Neighbourhood Area. Survey Monkey is used to place the questionnaire online
• Sunday 13 August 2017 RMNF Event - 300+ people attended the event, which included a public
consultation exhibition and detailed questionnaire
• Thursday 2 November 2017 - RMNF AGM – Trustee and officer rotation, open discussion of matters
affecting the neighbourhood area
• March 2018 Monday 26 March 2018 - Start of six-week pre-submission consultation for draft
neighbourhood plan. 250+ Letter posted to residents supported by email to residents, stakeholders
and statutory consultees
• Saturday 21 April 2018 - Community Consultation Event from 10am to 2pm – 14 people (including 3
members of the neighbourhood plan group) sign in to the event
• Thursday 7 June 2018 - RMNF Trustees Meeting - Meeting to review consultation responses, agree
RMNF response and identify any required changes to plan. Trustees decide to submit the plan to
RMBC
• Thursday 25 October 2018 - RMNF AGM
Link to detailed consultation statement: http://www.rmnf.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/20181129RMNF-Consultation-Statement-Submitted.pdf

Page 210

6. Are there any concerns at this stage which indicate the possibility of inequalities/negative impacts?
(Consider and identify any evidence you have - equality data relating to usage and satisfaction levels,
complaints, comments, research, outcomes of review, feedback and issues raised at previous consultations,
known inequalities) If so please provide details.
At this stage we do not believe there are any inequalities/negative impacts. There are only 15 policies
relating to the use of land in the NDP. These are:
1. Policy HO1 – Residential Development
2. Policy D1 – Design
3. Policy D2 – Conversion and Re-use of Rural Buildings
4. Policy D3 – Character Areas and Important Views
5. Policy HE1 – Protection of Heritage Assets
6. Policy RE1 - Farm Diversification
7. Policy R1 - Areas of Recreational Focus
8. Policy R2 – Key Recreational Routes
9. Policy R3 - Equestrian Development
10. Policy V1 – Visitor Facilities
11. Policy V2 - Overnight Visitor Accommodation
12. Policy LB1 - Landscape Protection and Enhancement
13. Policy LB2 - Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
14. Policy LB3 - Sites of Wildlife Importance
15. Policy E1 – Energy Efficiency and Renewable / Low Carbon Energy

7. Could a particular protected characteristic be affected differently in either a negative or positive way?
(Positive – it could benefit, Negative – it could disadvantage, Neutral – neither positive nor negative impact
or Not sure?)
Type of impact, reason & any evidence
Disability
Positive – improved amenity
Race (including Gypsy & Traveller) Neutral
Age
Neutral
Gender
Neutral
Transgender
Neutral
Sexual Orientation
Neutral
Religion/Belief
Neutral
Marriage/ Civil Partnership Status Neutral
Pregnancy and Maternity
Neutral
8. Could other socio-economic groups be affected e.g. carers, ex-offenders, low incomes?
The policies relate to the use of land. There are no other socio-economic groups likely to be affected.
9. Are there any human rights implications?
No (if yes please explain)

10. Is there an opportunity to promote equality and/or good community relations?
Through the actions of forum members. The forum constitution states, “The CIO is established for the public
benefit without distinction of ability, sex, sexual orientation, race or political, religious or other opinions”

Page 211

11. If you have indicated a negative impact for any group is that impact legal? (not discriminatory under
anti-discrimination legislation)
Not applicable
12. Is any part of this policy/service to be carried out wholly or partly by contractors?
Don’t know

13. Is a Stage 2: Full Equality Impact Assessment Report required?
No

14. Date by which Stage 2 is to be completed and actions
N/A
Please complete
We are satisfied that an initial screening has been carried out and a full impact assessment is /is not
required* (please delete as appropriate).
Completed by: Alan Rawstwerne
Date: 30th November 2018

Page 212

Stage 2: Full Equality Impact Assessment Report
15. Summarise the likely negative impacts for relevant groups identified in the screening process (Refer to
Stage 1, Questions 7-8, start to think about possible alternatives)

16. What consultation/involvement activities have taken place or will need to take place with
groups/individuals from each relevant protected characteristic or equality group? (refer back to Stage 1,
Question 5)

17. What other research has been or will need to be carried out to help you with the assessment?

18. Results of research/consultation (what does it tell you about the negative impacts?)

19. Conclusions & Action Planning
You should explain what and how negative impacts have been reduced or removed and how positive
impacts are to be improved or included.
Your final decisions or recommendations may include making immediate changes, stopping or proceeding
with a new policy, justifying a decision or adding objectives/targets to the service development plan/equality
scheme (long term changes).
You could use the template below to record your conclusions/actions. You should also make reference to
any additional monitoring or research that is still required, or was not retrievable at the point of assessment,
but will be required in subsequent reviews or in order to complete actions.
Impact/Issue

Action/Objective/Target
or Justification

Will this remove
negative
impact?

Resources

20. How will you monitor, evaluate and check the policy in the future?

Page 213

Lead Officer &
Timescale

21. When will a review take place?

Please complete
We are satisfied that a full impact assessment has been carried out.
Completed by: Date:
Role:
Countersigned by Head of Service:
Date:

Page 214

Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Development Plan

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA) Screening Report

September 2018

Page 215

1

Contents:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Introduction
Legislative Background
SEA Screening
HRA Screening
Conclusions

3
8
10
16
19

Page 216

2

1: Introduction
1.1 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is a mechanism for assessing the likely significant
effects of a draft Plan with a view to integrating environmental considerations into its
development and adoption, ensuring negative environmental effects are minimised / mitigated
and positive impacts maximised. This document is a screening opinion to determine whether or
not a full Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is required for the Rooley Moor
Neighbourhood Plan (hereafter referred to as ‘The Plan’). Additionally, this document sets out a
screening opinion as to whether full Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) will be required;
HRA is an assessment of the impacts of the Plan upon habitats and flora / fauna protected by the
European Habitats Directive.
1.2 This screening has been carried out by Rochdale Borough Council, which is the ‘responsible
body’ for the purposes of these regulations, using the Pre-submission Draft for Consultation of
the Plan.

The Plan
1.3 The Plan is being produced by the Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Forum under the Localism Act
2011 and the associated Regulations, to provide a community led framework to guide, promote
and control the future use and development of land in the area including changes of use and the
management of land and buildings. It also has policies relating to the conservation of the built
and natural heritage. The Plan is a statutory document which will, when adopted, form part of
the Borough’s Local Development Plan, and thus its policies will be used in making decisions on
planning applications in the neighbourhood area, addressing the community’s local planning
priorities for the area, promoting positive change and investment and promoting conservation
and improvements in the area. It does not seek to allocate sites or propose a greater degree of
development to that already set out in the Core Strategy / draft Allocations Plan, which it will be
in general conformity with. The area is shown in figures 1 and 2 below.

Page 217

3

Figure 1: Rooley Moor Neighbourhood area in the wider context

Page 218

4

Figure 2: Rooley Moor Neighbourhood boundary area

1.4 The objectives of the Plan are as follows:
- To promote a sustainable and harmonious residential, farming and recreational community;
- To promote public appreciation of the area and its history, culture and heritage, its landscape
and natural assets;

Page 219

5

- To retain the openness of the area and its special rural character and identity.
- To ensure new development is of a high standard and respects and reinforces local character.
- To protect and enhance local landscape quality and diversity (e.g. moorland, farmland,
woodland and trees, valleys, water features, etc.)
- To protect and enhance sites and features of local biodiversity and geodiversity importance.
- To protect and enhance the built heritage (including conservation areas, listed buildings,
archaeological features and buildings and structures of local interest) and to promote the
retention and effective use of rural buildings of character.
- To promote recreational opportunities appropriate to the area for the benefit of all (including
those with mobility and sensory impairment) by improving accessibility and routes, parking
facilities, interpretation and signage, and other visitor facilities.
- To support farming, appropriate farm diversification, other appropriate rural business
activities especially where they help to maintain the rural economy, improve the appearance
and character of the area and contribute to other objectives.
- To promote sustainable development, environmental protection and tackle the impacts of
climate change.
1.5 The Plan contains 18 policies relating to:
- Design
- Conservation and Re-use of rural buildings
- Character Areas and important views
- Protection of heritage assets
- Farm diversification
- Areas of recreational focus
- Key recreational routes
- Equestrian development
- Visitor facilities
- Overnight visitor accommodation
- Landscape protection and enhancement
- Trees, woodlands and hedgerows
- Sites of wildlife importance
- Energy efficiency and renewable / low carbon energy
- Wind turbines
- Light pollution
- Traffic impact
The Area
- The area covered by the Plan (see figures 1 and 2 below) is largely rural in character and has a
population of approximately 200.
- The farmland in the area is generally poor quality and agriculture is generally restricted to
grazing and equestrian activities. The area is made up of open moor, mire, bog pools,
grassland, pasture and woods.
- Architectural character makes a significant contribution to the identity of the area; there are
two conservation areas and four listed buildings.

Page 220

6

- From a biodiversity point of view, the area provides habitat for a significant colony of common
lizards, hares and bats (GM Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) species), roe deer, and otters and
water voles (Rochdale BAP species). There are fifteen ‘red’ species of birds (species most
critical and in decline) and twenty ‘amber’ species. The area also includes the Healey Dell Site
of Biological Importance (SBI) and Local Nature Reserve, which contains a large area of
remnant clough oak Ancient Woodland, acid grassland, heath habitat and former mill lodges.
- The River Spodden, which is a designated ‘main river’, forms the eastern boundary of the
Neighbourhood Plan area. Indicative surface water flood risk mapping published by the
Environment Agency suggests that the risk of flooding is generally very low. Areas of medium
and high surface water flood risk do occur within the Neighbourhood Area but these are
concentrated along existing surface water flow paths and topographic lows such as gullies or
former quarry areas.
- Leisure and recreation in the area includes fishing ponds used by anglers, walking and cycling
routes through Healey Dell and other bridleways and footpaths including an integral part of
the Mary Towneley Loop, a nationally significant trail.

1.6 Chapter 2 of this document sets out the legislative background that led to the requirement for
this screening opinion. Chapter 3 sets out the screening assessment of the likely significant
environmental effects of the Plan to determine whether full SEA is needed. Chapter 4 provides
an assessment on the likely effects of the Plan on European protected habitats to determine the
need for full HRA. Chapter 5 summarises the findings and conclusions for both screening
processes.

Page 221

7

2: Legislative Background
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)
2.1 The basis for Strategic Environmental Assessments and Sustainability Appraisal legislation is
European Directive 2001/42/EC which was transposed into English law by the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, or SEA Regulations. The Directive
states that its objective is to “provide for a high level of protection of the environment and to
contribute to the integration of environmental considerations into the preparation and
adoption of plans and programmes with a view to promoting sustainable development.”
2.2 Plans and programmes subject to the Directive are those:




Subject to preparation and/or adoption by an authority at national, regional or local
level or which are prepared by an authority for adoption, through a legislative
procedure by Parliament or Government, and
Required by legislative, regulatory or administrative provisions.

2.3 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires local authorities to produce
Sustainability Appraisals (SAs) for all local development documents, partly for the purpose of
meeting the requirements of the EU Directive on SEA as outlined in National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) paragraph 165. The 2008 Planning Act amended this requirement so that SA
was only required for Development Plan Documents (DPDs) but did not remove the
requirement for an SEA. As a Neighbourhood Plan is not a DPD an SA is not legally required;
however, if a Neighbourhood Plan is likely to have significant environmental effects, it will
require SEA, and therefore draft Neighbourhood Plan proposals should be assessed to
determine whether this will be the case. This is commonly referred to as ‘screening’ and
constitutes the purpose of chapter 3 of this report.
2.4 The requirements for screening are set out in regulation 9 of the Environmental Assessment of
Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004. These include a requirement to consult the
environmental assessment consultation bodies (which will be the Environment Agency, Natural
England and Historic England). Where it is determined that the plan is unlikely to have
significant environmental effects (and, accordingly, does not require a full SEA) a statement of
reasons for the determination should be prepared. A copy of this statement must be submitted
with the neighbourhood plan proposal and made available to the independent examiner.
2.5 When a Neighbourhood Plan is likely to have a significant environmental effect an SEA must be
carried out and an environmental report prepared in accordance with paragraphs 2 and 3 of
regulation 12 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004.
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)
2.6 Article 6 (3) of the EU Habitats Directive and regulation 61 of the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) requires an ‘appropriate assessment’ to be carried out
with regard to the Conservation Objectives of European Sites (Natura 2000 sites) if there are
likely to be any significant effects on any of those sites. These sites are a network of protected
areas across Europe designed to protect the most seriously threatened habitats and species.

Page 222

8

2.7 A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) screening identifies whether a plan is likely to have a
significant effect on a Natura 2000 site, either alone or in combination with other plans or
projects, and thus whether a full assessment is required. This must determine whether
significant effects on a European site can be ruled out on the basis of objective information.
2.8 The SEA Directive requires that if a plan or programme requires ‘appropriate assessment’ under
the Habitats Directive, then that plan or programme will also require an SEA. It is therefore
advisable to check whether an assessment under the Habitats Directive is required at the SEA
screening stage, and that is the purpose of chapter 4 of this report.

Page 223

9

3: SEA Screening
3.1

The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) has produced practical guidance in respect
of the SEA Directive, which includes a guide to assist in determining if a plan or programme
will require SEA. This is shown in Figure 1 below.
Figure 1: Application of the SEA Directive to plans and programmes

3.2

As a first step the process shown in figure 1 has been undertaken in respect of the Rooley
Moor Neighbourhood Plan, and this is shown in table 1 below.
Table 1: Establishing if there is a need for SEA – Step 1
Stage
2 Is the PP subject to preparation
and/or adoption by a national,
regional or local authority OR
prepared by an authority for
adoption through a legislative
procedure by Parliament or

Yes/No
Yes

Page 224

Comments
The Plan would be subject to
adoption by a local authority as
part of the Local Plan

10

3

Government? (Art. 2(a))
Is the PP required by legislative,
regulatory or administrative
provisions? (Art. 2 (a))

4

Is the PP prepared for
agriculture, forestry, fisheries,
energy, industry, transport,
waste management, water
management,
telecommunications, tourism,
town and country planning or
land use, AND does it set a
framework for future
development consent of
projects in Annexes I and II to
the EIA Directive? (Art 3.2(a))
5. Does the PP determine the use
of small areas at local level, OR
is it a minor modification of a PP
subject to Art 3.2? (Art. 3.3)

Yes

Yes to both criteria

Yes

8. Is it likely to have a significant
effect on the environment?

3.3

Whilst not required in itself, the
Neighbourhood Plan would
ultimately form part of the Local
Plan, which is required
The Plan is prepared for town and
country planning / land use, and,
together with the rest of the Local
Plan sets a framework for
development consents in the area
which might include projects
outlined in Annexes I and II of the
EIA Directive. For example, there
are policies in the Plan relating to
wind farms and visitor facilities,
both development types contained
in Annex II of the EIA Directive.
European Commission guidance
suggests that plans or programmes
which determine the use of small
areas at local level might include
those which outline details of how
buildings should be designed in a
limited area, which the Plan does. It
could also be considered to be a
‘minor modification’ of the Local
Plan.
See below

Thus, following on from the table above, specifically question 8, it is necessary to determine
whether the Plan would be likely to have a significant effect on the environment. To do this
it is pertinent to look at the criteria for assessing its effects, which are set out in Annex II of
the Directive and shown in Table 2 below:

Page 225

11

Table 2: Criteria for assessing the effects of a Plan (European Directive 2001/42/EC)
1. The characteristics of plans and programmes, having regard, in particular, to
- the degree to which the plan or programme sets a framework for
projects and other activities, either with regard to the location,
nature, size and operating conditions or by allocating resources,
- the degree to which the plan or programme influences other
plans and programmes including those in a hierarchy,
- the relevance of the plan or programme for the integration of
environmental considerations in particular with a view to promoting
sustainable development,
- environmental problems relevant to the plan or programme,
- the relevance of the plan or programme for the implementation of
Community legislation on the environment (e.g. plans and
programmes linked to waste-management or water protection).
2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected,
having regard, in particular, to
- the probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the effects,
- the cumulative nature of the effects,
- the transboundary nature of the effects,
- the risks to human health or the environment (e.g. due to accidents),
- the magnitude and spatial extent of the effects (geographical area and
size of the population likely to be affected),
- the value and vulnerability of the area likely to be affected due to:
- special natural characteristics or cultural heritage,
- exceeded environmental quality standards or limit values,
- intensive land-use,
- the effects on areas or landscapes which have a recognised national,
Community or international protection status.

3.4

Table 3 below applies these criteria to the Plan in question:

Table 3: Establishing if there is a need for SEA – Step 2
Criteria for determining the likely
significance of effects (Annex II SEA
Directive)
The characteristics of the Plan,
having regard to:
The degree to which the plan or
programme sets a framework for
projects and other activities, either
with regard to the location, nature,
size and operating conditions or by
allocating resources.

The degree to which the plan or

Comments

The Plan sets out criteria for design of new development, recreational activities,
equestrian developments, visitor facilities, wind turbines and other criteria, all
of which support the policies of the Core Strategy but interpret them for the
local area. In this respect, it is fair to say that the Plan is an element of the
framework for the local area impacting on such matters as location and design.
However the Plan does not allocate sites or propose development in excess of
that identified in the Allocations Plan, and it is in general conformity with the
policies in the Core Strategy. Thus, it is considered that the SA which has been
carried out for the Core Strategy is sufficient in this regard.
The Plan will help to deliver the objectives of the Core Strategy policies and is

Page 226

12

programme influences other plans
or programmes including those in
a hierarchy

The relevance of the plan or
programme for the integration of
environmental considerations in
particular with a view to
promoting sustainable
development
Environmental problems relevant
to the plan or programme
The relevance of the plan or
programme for the
implementation of Community
legislation on the environment
(e.g. plans or programmes linked
to waste management or water
protection).
Characteristics of the effects and
of the area likely to be affected,
having regard, in particular, to:
The probability, duration,
frequency and reversibility of the
effects
The cumulative nature of the
effects
The transboundary nature of the
effects
The risks to human health or the
environment (e.g. due to
accidents)

The magnitude and spatial extent
of the effects (geographical area
and size of the population likely to
be affected)
The value and vulnerability of the
area likely to be affected due to:
Special natural characteristics or
cultural heritage

Exceeded environmental quality
standards or limit values
Intensive land-use
The effects on areas or landscapes
which have a recognised national,
Community or international
protection status

influenced by it, but it does not influence the Core Strategy. It will potentially
influence proposals for new development, but not plans or programmes subject
to adoption by local authorities or required by legislative, regulatory or
administrative provisions (which constitute the definition of ‘plans and
programmes’ for the purposes of SEA as set out in Government guidance).
The Plan in itself is influential in terms of environmental considerations in a very
localised area, and is therefore relevant for the integration of environmental
considerations. However, this is minor in comparison with the influence of the
policies of the Core Strategy, which is far greater because it is holistic and
comprehensive, and in any case the Plan will be in conformity with the Core
Strategy. Thus in terms of relevance in this respect the Plan is not significant.
There are no significant environmental ‘problems’ in the area in question. For
example, it is largely rural, not industrial and is not prone to flooding.
In terms of European Community legislation and its implementation, there is
nothing in the Plan which is particularly relevant in this regard.

As the Plan will be a material consideration in planning decisions, there is a high
probability of effects, which could be lasting but not likely to be particularly
frequent. However, these effects would not be significant and would (given the
nature of the Plan which is to improve the environment) be positive.
The aim of the Plan is to protect and improve the overall environment of the
area through a variety of impacts, and thus it could be said the Plan is designed
specifically to encourage cumulative effects
There would be no transboundary effects arising from the implementation of
this Plan
The Plan would not be allocating sites or levels of development, and would be
principally seeking to influence, in a positive way, the visual and aesthetic
impacts of development and some principles of low-impact recreational
developments. It would not be influencing any regulatory regimes or local or
national planning policies
The effects of the policies set out in the Plan would be almost entirely restricted
to the local geographical area covered by the Plan, effecting a population of
about 200.

The special characteristics of the area include Conservation Areas and a Local
Nature Reserve but no nationally or internationally designated ecological sites.
None of these characteristics are considered to be particularly vulnerable, and
the Plan would seek to preserve these characteristics and not significantly
change them.
There are no known exceeded environmental quality standards or limit values in
the area.
The area is mainly poor quality pasture land and is not intensively used.
There are no areas within or adjacent to the Plan area which have such
protection status apart from two Conservation Areas. These are not considered
to be in a vulnerable condition and the Plan would seek to preserve their
character and not significantly change them.

Page 227

13

3.5

A further assessment looking at specific environmental ‘issues’ is shown in Table 3 below
(these are taken from Government guidance in respect of SEA (‘A Practical Guide to the
Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive, ODPM)):

Table 3: Establishing if there is a need for SEA – Step 3
Issue
Biodiversity, fauna and
flora

Population and human
health

Water and soil

Air

Climate factors

Cultural heritage and
landscape

Description
Area provides habitat for GM and
Rochdale BAP species. Includes an
SBI and Local Nature Reserve. No
European sites or SSSIs. The Plan
includes a policy which promotes
local sites and habitat features in
new developments
The area has a population of
approximately 200. The Plan does
not propose to increase this by
allocation.
The River Spodden forms the
eastern boundary of the Plan
area. Flood risk is generally very
low. Soil quality is low from an
agricultural point of view.
There are no specific issues in
respect of air quality.

There are no climate issues which
are particular to this area. The
Plan promotes energy efficiency
and renewable / low carbon
energy.
There are two Conservation Areas
and four listed buildings. The Plan
puts particular emphasis on
protecting heritage assets.

Conclusions
As the nature of the Plan is not to
allocate sites and to support the
policies of the Core Strategy, and
considering the lack of European
or nationally designated sites, the
impact would not appear to be
significant
No allocations are proposed or
policies which would promote
facilities where there could be
issues in relation to health.
The Plan proposes no allocations,
or any policies which promote
extraction or major earthworks or
potentially polluting
developments.
The Plan does not promote
activities which could potentially
have significant air pollution
impacts.
The Plan does not allocate sites. It
does not promote any activity
which could have significant
climate impacts.
The Plan is unlikely to lead to
significant changes to the
landscape or cultural heritage of
the area, and any impact there is
will be likely to be positive.

Conclusion
3.6 The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan does not propose more development than is set out in
the Core Strategy and Allocations Plan, which have both been subject to full SEA, nor does it
allocate sites for development. It promotes the preservation and enhancement of the existing
environmental assets in the area through the planning system, these assets being mainly of local
significance, and the impacts of the Plan will be almost entirely restricted to the Plan area. There
are no nationally or internationally designated ecological sites in the Plan area or significant
environmental problems in the area in question, and there are only two nationally designated
Conservation Areas upon which the Plan will seek to preserve and not significantly change. The

Page 228

14

Plan does not promote potentially polluting developments or developments which might have
potential health impacts. Having carefully considered the Plan against the criteria from Annex II
of the Directive and a range of specific issues, it is concluded that Strategic Environmental
Assessment will not be required.

Page 229

15

4: Habitats Regulations Assessment - Screening

4.1

An assessment referred to as an Appropriate Assessment must be undertaken if the Plan is
likely to have a significant effect on any European protected (Natura 2000) wildlife sites i.e. if
policies and proposals in the plan might impact significantly on one or more European sites.
The assessment must determine whether the plan would adversely affect, or be likely to
affect, the integrity of a site in terms of its nature conservation objectives. This process is
known as Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).

4.2

The initial stage of this process is the screening stage, which determines if there are likely to
be significant effects as a result of the implementation of the plan, and therefore whether a
full assessment is required. The screening process should provide a description of the plan and
an identification of any Natura 2000 sites which may be affected by it and the significance of
the effects.

4.3

The plan is described in earlier chapters of this report. There are no Natura 2000 sites within
the Plan area. As a ‘rule of thumb’ all sites within 15 km of the Plan area have been identified,
and these are shown in Table 4 below:
Table 4: Natura 2000 sites which may be affected

4.4

Name of European
Site

Reason for
Designation

Conservation
Objectives

Identified Possible
Impacts

Rochdale Canal Special
Area of Conservation
(SAC) –
Approximately 4 km away

A significant population of
floating water plantain
(Luronium natans)

Maintain, in favourable
condition the habitats for
the floating water plantain

South Pennine Moors
Special Area of
Conservation (SAC) /
Special Protection Area
(SPA) – approximately 6.8
km away

European Dry heath,
Blanket Bog, Old Sessile
Oak woods, breeding
birds

Maintain, in favourable
condition, the habitats of
golden plover, merlin and
short-eared owl, and
blanket bog, dry heaths,
wet heaths, transition
mires and old oak woods

Dredging, draining of
canal, pollution of canal,
shading, increased boat
traffic, use of herbicide,
introduction of invasive
species
Cultivation, grazing,
mowing or cutting,
application of manure,
fertilisers or lime,
application of pesticides,
burning, drainage,
extraction of minerals,
construction of roads,
ditches etc, erection of
structures, use of vehicles,
pollution, recreational
activities, agricultural
intensification leading to
loss of bird feeding areas
outside the designated
site

Table 5 below shows assessment of the policies contained within the Plan against these two
European sites, taking into account the conservation objectives and identified potential
impacts for those sites outlined above.

Page 230

16

Table 5: Effects on European sites
Policy

Effect on Rochdale Canal SAC

Policy HO1 – Residential
Development

None. Too distant and in any event
does not go beyond Green Belt
policy set out in existing documents
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.

Policy D1 – Design
Policy D2 – Conversion and Re-use
of rural buildings
Policy D3 – Character areas and
important views
Policy HE1 – Protection of heritage
assets
Policy RE1 – Farm diversification

Policy R1 – Areas of recreational
focus
Policy R2 – Key recreational routes
Policy R3 – Equestrian development

Policy V1 – Visitor facilities
Policy V2 – Overnight visitor
accommodation
Policy LB1 – Landscape protection
and enhancement
Policy LB2 – Trees, woodlands and
hedgerows
Policy LB3 – Sites of wildlife
importance
Policy E1 – Energy efficiency and
renewable / low carbon energy
Policy E2 – Wind turbines
Policy E3 – Light pollution
Policy T1 – Traffic impact

4.5

None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
Policy relates only to impacts within
the Plan area.
Policy relates only to impacts within
the Plan area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.

Effect on South Pennine Moors SAC
/ SPA
None. Too distant and in any event
does not go beyond Green Belt
policy set out in existing documents
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area. Does not promote
intensification.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area. Does not promote
intensification.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
Policy relates only to impacts within
the Plan area.
Policy relates only to impacts within
the Plan area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area.
None. Impacts only within the Plan
area or areas adjacent to it.

Tables 6 and 7 below summarise the relationship between the Plan and the specific features
and environmental conditions of the protected sites, as could be affected by the Plan in
isolation or in combination with other plans, taking particular account of the conservation
objectives.

Table 6: Rochdale Canal SAC – Potential impacts of Plan
Possible Impacts

Plan in isolation

Dredging
Draining of canal
Pollution

No impact
No impact
No impact

Page 231

Plan in combination with other
plans
No impact
No impact
No impact

17

Shading
Increased boat traffic
Use of herbicides
Introduction of invasive species

No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact

No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact

Table 7: South Pennine Moors SAC / SPA – Potential impacts of Plan

4.6

Possible impacts

Plan in isolation

Cultivation
Grazing
Mowing or cutting
Application of manure, fertilisers or
lime
Application of pesticides
Burning
Drainage
Extraction of minerals
Construction of roads, ditches etc
Erection of structures
Use of vehicles
Pollution
Recreational activities
Agricultural intensification leading to
loss of bird feeding areas outside the
designated site

No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact

Plan in combination with other
plans
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact

No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact

No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact
No impact

Tables 5, 6 and 7 show that the policies of the Plan will not lead to any significant impact on
European protected sites, and therefore it is not necessary to proceed to the further stages of
the Appropriate Assessment.

Page 232

18

5: Summary

5.1

The Rooley Moor Neighbourhood Plan has been subject to screening assessments both for
SEA and HRA as outlined in this report.

5.2

A key point which has been taken into consideration is that the Plan will not allocate
development or propose any greater level of development for the area than the Core Strategy
/ Allocations Plan, both of which have been subject to full SEA and HRA. This essentially means
that the impacts of the Plan and its policies will be restricted to:
(i)
The detail of developments which in principle would already be acceptable through
the provisions of the other plans.
(ii)
Promotion of activities already accepted in principle in the area.
In both instances above, the policies aim to protect and enhance the existing character of the
area, with any resultant impacts highly local to the area or, in a few cases, also impacting on
immediately adjacent areas.

5.3

Taking the above into account, it can be concluded that the impacts of the Plan will:
(i) Be small scale and local;
(ii) Be neutral or positive in environmental terms;
(iii) Not affect any European protected ecological sites because of their nature and the distance
from the sites;
(iv) Not affect any other ‘sensitive sites’ such as SSSIs, National Parks, Areas of Outstanding
Natural beauty or World Heritage sites / scheduled monuments.

5.4

It is concluded that further SEA or HRA assessment will not be required.

Page 233

19

Agenda Item 10
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public Document

23 January 2019
Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development &
Housing
Sohida Banu

Draft Lower Falinge and College Bank area Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD)
Executive Summary
1.1

A draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been produced for the
Lower Falinge and College Bank area to support the continued regeneration
and renewal of the area by providing detailed planning and design advice.
This report seeks approval to begin consultation on the draft SPD as the next
key stage in the process before it can be formally adopted.

2.1




Recommendation
The draft SPD is approved for public consultation for a period of six weeks
to seek the views and comments of the public and key stakeholders.
That Head of Planning is given delegated authority (subject to discussion
with the Portfolio Holder) to make any final minor amendments to the draft
SPD prior to the commencement of the formal consultation period
(including presentational and factual changes).
Reason for Recommendation

3.

As set out in paragraph 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework,
Supplementary Planning Documents build upon and provide more detailed
advice or guidance on the policies in the Local Plan. Regulations 11 to 16 of
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012
set out the requirements for producing SPDs. Regulation 12 requires that
consultation is undertaken prior to the adoption of an SPD.
Key Points for Consideration

4.1

Background

4.2

Lower Falinge and College Bank have been recognised as needing
investment in order to provide the tenants and residents with better
opportunities and improved living conditions. Rochdale Borough-wide Housing

Page 234

(RBH) commissioned Levitt Bernstein and GVA in early 2017 to produce a
Master Plan for the two neighbourhoods and carry out a phase of work which
explores possible options for investment in College Bank and Lower Falinge.
4.3

Participation and consultation so far
Preparation of the Lower Falinge and College Bank Masterplan has been
widely consulted on with residents and businesses’ within the area. The public
consultation process has included the distribution of leaflets, drop in sessions
and workshops held at both College Bank and Lower Falinge in order to
introduce various development options.
To date there have been three workshops, which have helped to inform the
key aim and objectives of each neighbourhood – see Consultation Statement
for further information on these workshops.

4.4

Purpose of a SPD
The proposed Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will provide a
development strategy for the Lower Falinge and College Bank area. It outlines
potential development opportunities within the area including options for the
scale and mix of future proposals on a number of different sites. The SPD will
provide further detailed guidance in order to achieve coherent and
comprehensive development within the area and ensure the delivery of the
necessary new infrastructure.

4.5

There is also an opportunity to make more of Rochdale Town Centre as a
location, creating places where people want to come and live and helping to
make Rochdale Town Centre thrive.

4.6

The SPD will also be used by the Council as a material consideration when
determining future planning applications.
The SPD elaborates upon policies within the Rochdale Core Strategy (2016),
The SPD will therefore provide further detail on how relevant policies in the
Local Plan will be applied to the sites and principles for how development of
the sites would best be taken forward. Notably policy C2 – Focusing on
regeneration areas and economic growth corridors/areas, specifically part 7.
‘Falinge, Spotland and Sparth, Rochdale, where we will improve the
residential environment including new high quality housing where
opportunities occur’.

4.7

The Supplementary Planning Document content
The following is a summary of the content and structure within the consultation
draft SPD:
Introduction, vision, Explains why the SPD has been produced and how it
purpose and status is structured.
of the SPD
Background,
Sets out the broad policy framework that applies to
planning
policy the site, highlights the main Local Plan policies and

Page 235

framework, relevant relevant key plans and strategies that have informed
plans and strategies the SPD.
Development
Context

Describes the SPD area and provides a spatial
portrait of the site. It also looks at the relationship
with the adjoining areas.

Development
Principles

Establishes the principles and parameters to guide
future development for the next 10-15 years in the
surrounding area. Specifically looking at:
 Connectivity and Movement
 Streets and Public Realm
 Public open spaces and play provision
 Non-residential uses and new facilities
 New and improved homes
 Sustainable development
Design Principles
Sets out an approach for landowners to follow when
designing their schemes which will help ensure a
high standard of design comes forward. Specifically
looking at:
 Access and movement
 Open spaces
 Mixed uses
 Heights and massing
Transport
and Explains what connections are required within the
Access
SPD area and how transport issues will be
considered in policy terms.
Focus areas

Sets out five broad areas of focus – each with
different development considerations and guidance
suitable for that area. It also sets out principles for the
form and the types of uses which would be permitted
within the potential focus areas, such as improving
and creating new connections and public spaces,
consideration of some level of clearance within areas
with long term sustainability issues, providing a mix of
types and styles of homes for the community.
The five focus areas are:
 Abbeydale Road
 Redcross Road
 St. Mary’s Gate
 Future area of focus
 College Bank

Delivery
and Explains how the development and infrastructure set
Implementation
out in the SPD is needed to support it will be secured
and delivered.

Page 236

Next Steps
If approved for consultation, it is proposed that the draft SPD and associated
documents will subject to public consultation for a period of six weeks to start
shortly following approval.
The Council will publicise on the website and in any other ways considered
appropriate including making a copy available at Rochdale Library. Details of
how to make representations and the date by which those representations
must be received will also be publicised.
Following this public consultation, all the comments and representations will
be considered, and, where necessary, changes will be made to the SPD. A
further report will be produced for Rochdale Township requesting Members to
approve and adopt the final SPD.
Alternatives considered
Not producing this SPD will mean there is less clarity in terms of guidance to
applicants and developers within this important regeneration area. This may
result in proposals which do not properly deal with planning requirements and
result in poorer quality schemes being submitted.
Costs and Budget Summary
5.1

There are no specific financial implications arising from the recommendations
within this report or for the Council’s involvement in the process at this stage.
Consultation costs will be covered by existing planning budgets.
Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

There are no specific risk issues for members to consider arising from this
report.
Consultation

7.1

If the draft SPD is approved, the Council will publicise and consult for a
period of six weeks to begin as soon as possible following approval. During
this time the application and supporting information will be published on the
Council’s website, and paper copies of the documents will be available in
Rochdale Library.
Stakeholders on the Council’s planning policy database will be notified by
letter or email.
Background Papers

8.

Draft College Bank and Lower
Falinge area SPD

Place of Inspection
Members Lounge

Consultation Statement

Page 237

Equalities Impact Assessment

For Further Information Contact:

Paul Moore, Head of Planning Services
paul.moore@rochdale.gov.uk
Sohida Banu, Planning Officer
Sohida.banu@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 238

Lower Falinge &
College Bank Area Supplementary
Planning Document
(SPD)
Draft January 2019

Page 239

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Document Control
Document Title: Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), Draft January 2019
Summary
Publication Date

January 2019

Related Legislation / Applicable
Section of Legislation
Related Policies, Strategies,
Guideline Documents

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012
Rochdale Core Strategy (2016)
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Replaces
Joint Policy (Yes/No)

No

Name of Partner(s) if joint

N/A

Policy Owner (Name/Position)

Paul Moore (Head of Planning Services)

Policy Author (Name/Position)

Sohida Banu (Planning Officer)

Applies to

Review of Policy
Last Review Date
Review undertaken by
Next Review Date

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.
Name

Title

Daalat Ali

Cabinet Member for Corporate Regulation

Paul Moore

Head of Planning

rochdale.gov.uk

Date of Issue

Page 240

Version Number

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS
1.

Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 3

2.

Background .......................................................................................................................................... 5

3.

Context ................................................................................................................................................. 7

5.

Design Principles ............................................................................................................................... 13

6.

Transport and Access ........................................................................................................................21

7.

Focus Areas ....................................................................................................................................... 26

8.

7.1 Focus Area 1: Abbeydale Road

27

7.2 Focus Area 2: Redcross Street

29

7.3 Focus Area 3: St Mary’s Gate

30

7.4 Focus Area 4: Future Area of Focus

31

7.5 Focus Area 5: College Bank

33

Delivery and Implementation..............................................................................................................35

Appendix 2 – Barriers and nodes ..............................................................................................................37
Appendix 3 – Glossary .............................................................................................................................. 38

Figures
Figure 1 SPD boundary ................................................................................................................................... 8
Figure 2 Spatial Strategy ............................................................................................................................... 13
Figure 3 Access and Movement Strategy ......................................................................................................14
Figure 4 Streets and Public Realm Strategy..................................................................................................16
Figure 5 Open Spaces and Play Strategy......................................................................................................18
Figure 6 Mixed Use Strategy .........................................................................................................................19
Figure 7 Heights Strategy .............................................................................................................................. 20
Figure 8 Contextual map of existing access and movement strategy............................................................21
Figure 9 Proposed Access and Transport Strategy ......................................................................................23
Figure 10 Focus Areas................................................................................................................................... 26
Figure 11 Focus Area 1: Abbeydale Road.....................................................................................................27
Figure 12 Focus Area 2: Redcross Street......................................................................................................29
Figure 13 Focus Area 3: St Mary’s Gate........................................................................................................30
Figure 14 Focus Area 4: Future Area of Focus..............................................................................................31
Figure 15 Focus Area 5: College Bank ..........................................................................................................33

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 241

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

1.

Introduction

1.1

Introduction

The regeneration of Lower Falinge and College Bank represents a strategic priority for the Council to
contribute to the wider housing strategy for new and improved housing offer in the area and capitalise on
the development and regeneration with Rochdale Town Centre.
Lower Falinge and College Bank’s redevelopment and regeneration potential is an important vision which
offers residents an opportunity to develop a sustainable community with a vibrant mixture of living, working
and recreational opportunities.
This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared to establish an appropriate framework
to guide and deliver development by setting out the development, design and accessibility principles, and
the identification of focus areas where more specific guidance is necessary.

1.2

The Vision

The redevelopment of Lower Falinge and College Bank will build on the strengths of the existing
neighbourhoods and enhance them through improvements to the housing offer including both tenure and
type, landscape, public realm, and associated infrastructure. This will be to the benefit of the current
community, the wider surroundings, and future residents of the area and will support the regeneration of
Rochdale Town Centre.
The vision for Lower Falinge and College Bank includes:
 a better quality and mix of housing choice to meet the needs of the community now and in the
future;
 a safe neighbourhood where attractive, energy efficient homes combine with well-proportioned
streets, open spaces and landscaping to create distinctive and sustainable high density design
including new residential development along with the opportunity for some complimentary nonresidential uses, such as community facilities;
 an accessible neighbourhood with pedestrian and cycle friendly links and routes within and across
the area and strong connections with the wider surrounding areas including Rochdale Town Centre;
 high quality public and green spaces which enhance the existing outdoor environment and
recreational activities for people of all ages; and
 a neighbourhood which manages the public spaces and creates opportunities for social interaction
and activities.

1.3

Purpose and status of the SPD

The purpose of this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is to provide a development strategy for the
Lower Falinge and College Bank. It outlines potential development opportunities within the area including
options for the scale and mix of future proposals on a number of different sites.
The SPD elaborates upon policies within the Rochdale Core Strategy (2016), notably policy C2 – Focusing
on regeneration areas and economic growth corridors/areas, specifically part 7. ‘Falinge, Spotland and
Sparth, Rochdale, where we will improve the residential environment including new high quality housing
where opportunities occur’.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 242

3

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

The SPD will also be used by the Council as a material consideration when determining future planning
applications.
To establish a framework for investment building upon the policies contained within the Council’s Core
Strategy document and the College Bank and Lower Falinge Spatial Strategy Masterplan which:
 sets out a development vision for the area;
 provides greater certainty on the uses, form and quality of acceptable development including the
public realm and guidance for development partners on how this might be achieved;
 assists the Council in the assessment of planning applications; and
 provides a basis for future decision on assembling land to provide certainty, including the potential
use of Compulsory Purchase Orders.
Technical evidence
In preparing this SPD:
1. Levitt Bernstein provided technical support on design and townscape illustrations. More information
on the design approach that informed the SPD is provided in the design principles section which can
be found in Chapter 4
2. Aecom provided support on the accessibility and movement strategy. More information on the
accessibility approach that informed the SPD is provided within the Transport section can be found
in Chapter 6
3. GVA provided technical support in terms of viability and delivery strategy underpinning the
masterplan. More information on phasing and delivery can be found in Chapter 8.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 243

4

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

2.

Background

2.1

Policy Context

The document is designed to supplement Rochdale Core Strategy (2016() policy C2 – Focusing on
regeneration areas and economic growth corridors/areas. However, it should be read in conjunction
with all national and local planning policy and guidance documents including those outlined below, and any
other relevant documents which may emerge during the lifetime of this document as material
considerations.

2.2

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

The Framework sets out national planning policy, providing strategic direction on a wide range of planning
matters. It is supplemented by Planning Practice Guidance which gives further guidance on how policy
should be interpreted.
At the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This presumption
should be reflected in the plan-making process and any associated guidance. The Framework states that
development should be approved unless any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of that development.
The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment and that planning policies
and decisions should aim to ensure that development responds to local character and history, reflecting the
identity of local surroundings and materials; however, authorities should not prevent or discourage
appropriate innovation. NPPF promotes a good standard of amenity for existing and future occupants of
land and buildings.
The SPD has been positively prepared. It seeks to regenerate and attract investment into the area and
wider Rochdale Town Centre, taking forward identified opportunities to meet the housing needs and
aspirations of the Lower Falinge and College Bank’s community both now and in the future.

2.3

Core Strategy (2016)

Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) is the key element of the development plan for Rochdale and will be used in
determining planning applications for sites within the Lower Falinge and College Bank area.
Key policy implications are set out in relation to each site identified in this SPD (Section 7) but it will be
important to consider all the relevant policies of the Core Strategy when preparing site-specific proposals.
The Core Strategy identifies the Falinge as a growth area. Policy C2 specifically relates to the Falinge,
Spotland and Sparth regeneration area as a regeneration area. It sets out key development principles and
proposes the following:
 focus regeneration and the delivery of new homes; and
 improve the residential environment including new high quality housing where opportunities occur.

2.4

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)

When considering any type of development, relevant SPDs at the time of publication of this document
include:
 The Oldham and Rochdale Urban Design Guide Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs);
rochdale.gov.uk

Page 244

5

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019






Affordable Housing SPD;
Climate Change and Adaptation SPD;
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD; and
Biodiversity and Development SPD.

All SPDs are available to view on the Council’s website.

2.5

How the SPD was prepared

Two companion documents have been prepared as supporting evidence to this SPD. These are:



Masterplan

Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) commissioned Levitt Bernstein and GVA in early 2017 to prepare a
spatial strategy for the College Bank and Lower Falinge neighbourhoods and adjacent areas and identify
possible options for investment in College Bank and Lower Falinge, to improve the quality and mix of
homes, creating places where people want to come and live, and maximising the opportunities created from
the regeneration of Rochdale Town Centre through better access to retail, leisure, transport and jobs.
The Masterplan was developed including a programme of significant consultation with the local community
and local partners. It identified a range of interventions required to address the mix (type and tenure) and
quality of homes available, physical appearance of the area including quality and design of the public
spaces, better access and connectivity within the area and to the Town Centre and surround areas, and a
safer and mixed neighbourhood offering a range of community and shopping facilities to facilitate wider
regeneration and contribute positively to housing market improvement.



AECOM work

To compliment and help inform the work instructed by RBH, AECOM were commissioned by Rochdale
Council to undertake a study to review pedestrian accessibility between the Lower Falinge and College
Bank area and Rochdale Town Centre, the Educational Quarter and Rochdale Infirmary to the North. The
study identified a number of issues and opportunities relating to movement between the areas. It
investigated potential solutions to improve pedestrian connections. Opportunities for intervention were
established and presented as a number of projects ranging from improved signage, junctions
improvements, pedestrianisation, and green routes to traffic management.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 245

6

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

3.

Context

The adjacent neighbourhoods of College Bank and Lower Falinge are located in Rochdale Town Centre
and comprise of approximately 1200 homes, primarily owned and managed by Rochdale Borough Housing
(RBH), a mutual housing society. The original housing offer consists of bedsit, 1, 2 and 3 bedroom flats
solely.
The masterplan and SPD areas capture a range of land uses beyond residential accommodation – this
includes areas of hard standing car parking, low grade industrial activities (predominantly north of St Marys
Gate), retail uses including Dunelm Mill and Lidl, an RSPCA centre including a dog run yard, and areas of
informal and formal landscaping of varying quality. There is a cluster of non-residential units running along
Spotland Road which includes a mix of independent shops, employment uses, restaurants and takeaways.
College Bank and Lower Falinge have been recognised as needing significant investment in order to
provide the tenants and residents with a better quality home, more housing choice and a better quality of
life and wellbeing.
Overall, there is a low level of satisfaction living in the homes within Lower Falinge and College Bank by
residents and few people want to move into or remain within the area. There are a significant number of
long term empty homes in the Lower Falinge neighbourhood and homes used as short term temporary
accommodation.
In addition, the design of both College Bank and Lower Falinge neighbourhoods means that they are
physically disconnected from the Town Centre and surrounding areas. Furthermore the area has suffered
from negative, damaging and unfair headlines in the media.
However, more recently the area has seen a growing level of investment and redevelopment which has
been supported by Homes England delivering new affordable and range and type of homes in the Lower
Falinge neighbourhood.
The area covered by this SPD is broadly contained between Whitworth Road to the east, St. Mary’s Gate to
the south, College Road closest to the College and Sixth Form, and Sheriff Street to the west and Howard
Street to the north (See Figure 1). It comprises approximately 25 hectares of land and a significant part of
the area consists of Rochdale Borough-wide Housing (RBH) social housing across Lower Falinge and
College Bank.
To the south of Lower Falinge and east of College Bank is Rochdale Town Centre which includes a mix of
non-residential uses. Within the Town Centre and directly east of College Bank and South of Lower Falinge
is Rochdale Exchange Shopping Centre.
To the South of College Bank are Hopwood Hall College, a large Asda Superstore and an Aldi
supermarket.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 246

7

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Figure 1 SPD boundary

Linkages with adjoining areas
The area north of the SPD area forms an important link between the wider residential area and primary care
service at Rochdale Infirmary, which supports health and social care delivery across the Borough which it

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 247

8

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

serves. A key opportunity for the SPD is to improve links to Rochdale Infirmary ensuring it is well related to
and easily accessible across the site and to and from the town centre.
South of the SPD area, is Rochdale Town Centre which is predominantly retail with a number of
businesses, and provides the Boroughs retail needs. It includes Rochdale Exchange Shopping Centre
which contains the main shopping area of Yorkshire Street and is designated as a Primary Shopping Area.
Development within the SPD area needs to complement and enhance this important part of the town centre
through providing excellent pedestrian and visual linkages between the two areas to create a fully
integrated town centre.
The College and Sixth Form College to the south of College Bank currently provide and meet the
Boroughs educational needs. The links between the SPD area needs to be enhanced to seek to ensure
that the area is easily accessible and well connected to the wider town centre and beyond. As a key
gateway to the town centre, the Council will continue to seek and support proposals that assist in the
regeneration of the area.
Falinge Park to the north of the SPD area is a Victorian Park, close to Rochdale Town Centre. Main
features are the façade of Falinge Hall and the Mawson designed formal gardens, which are complemented
by the restored bandstand. There are facilities for all ages, from the great play facilities to the bowling
greens. This area is an important link to the residential areas within College Bank and Lower Falinge and
pedestrian routes should be enhanced. Any development must complement and enhance these unique
assets and provide strong visual links.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 248

9

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

4.

Development Principles

The SPD establishes the principles and parameters to guide future development for the next 10-15 years
and beyond. This will enable the realisation of the overall vision for the Lower Falinge and College Bank
areas. The overarching principle of this SPD is the creation of thriving, vibrant, sustainable communities in
Lower Falinge and College Bank. In order to achieve this, the SPD will seek to efficiently use land, provide
a better quality and variety of housing by type and tenure, good and environmentally sensitive design,
improvement to public open space and public realm and access to employment and job opportunities,
community facilities and local services.
In order to make Lower Falinge and College Bank a desirable and sustainable place to live, the SPD places
strong emphasis on the following:

4.1

Connectivity and Movement

Lower Falinge and College Bank are well located in close proximity to Rochdale Town Centre; however
their connectivity to the Town Centre and wider infrastructure such as parks, green spaces, surrounding
neighbourhoods and local facilities is poor. These connections should be enhanced. Central to achieving
this will be improving crossing points along St. Mary’s Gate into the Town Centre, improving key junctions
such as Sheriff Street and Falinge Road, Sheriff Street and Spotland Road; and creating green links to
Falinge Park to the north, Primrose Street Recreation Ground to the west and Rochdale Memorial Gardens
to the south.
St. Mary’s Gate acts as a major physical barrier between College Bank and Lower Falinge, and the Town
Centre, with large volumes of traffic and poor crossing points making access over the road difficult.
Strategies relating to St. Mary’s Gate will be considered in parallel with Rochdale Borough Council.

4.2

Streets and Public Realm

Safer streets should be designed, with improved crossings, wider pavements, cycle provision and traffic
calming measures in place where appropriate. This will help to improve pedestrian and cyclist movement
within the neighbourhoods and surrounding area. Streets should have residential or non-residential uses
fronting on to them in order to activate the streets and improve safety for the street user. High quality public
realm interventions should be considered and used where possible, for example shared surfaces, public
rochdale.gov.uk

Page 249

10

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

squares, street trees, green buffers to busy roads, improved footpaths, seating and clear areas of
defensible space or private front gardens.

4.3

Public open spaces and play provision

New development should maintain and enhance existing open space provision, and, where possible, create
new inclusive spaces for leisure, recreation and play for a variety of age and social groups. Landscape
proposals should be integrated within the spatial strategy where appropriate and help to tie in and connect
the streets, public realm, homes and facilities.

4.4

Non-residential uses and new facilities

There is scope to incorporate a variety of non-residential facilities into new development such as small
scale convenience retail units which complement the existing offer in the Town Centre and provide
important service function for residents, or other facilities such as community spaces, small local
businesses or educational uses. Working with Hopwood Hall College and exploring the possibility of
integrating educational uses into new development will be beneficial in enhancing the social infrastructure
provision in the area, which in turn has the capacity to help tackle employment, skills and related issues,
and ensure the longevity of this development.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 250

11

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

4.5

New and improved homes

Where existing homes are retained, redevelopment should encourage repairs to these buildings to improve
the quality of the homes and the type of public and open spaces. In the case of new homes being
proposed, a suitable mix of tenures, sizes and types should be developed in order to meet local needs over
the long term and create a sustainable community.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 251

12

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

5.

Design Principles

It is one of the main aims of this SPD and its proposals to address the key issues and problems identified in
the previous section and to help guide future development in the SPD area whilst ensuring it is of the
highest possible quality. This section sets out key principles for urban design and public realm.
Spatial Strategy
The Spatial Strategy demonstrates the various design principles which will help to shape an attractive and
sustainable neighbourhood within the Town Centre. Each of these principles is explained through clear
diagrams which support the Spatial Strategy.
Figure 2 Spatial Strategy

The SPD includes a number of key themes with associated objectives. In many cases these objectives are
cross-cutting across the themes. These are set out below:

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 252

13

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Access and Movement Strategy
An inclusive and legible movement network should manifest itself in a well-defined hierarchy of streets, safe
pedestrian and cycle routes, and correct distribution of land uses. The general aims of the access and
movement strategy are to create an interconnected network of streets and public spaces, integrate Lower
Falinge and College Bank, arrange and align routes first and foremost for ease of walking and cycling and
create a strong connection with surrounded areas (specially the town centre).
Figure 3 Access and Movement Strategy

The key aspirations are:
1. Create traffic calmed green route attractive to pedestrians and cyclists through Lower Falinge that
connects Falinge Park and College Bank.
2. Create strong pedestrian and cycle links through Lower Falinge that connect to the Town Centre, Lidl
supermarket, a new proposed green space and Falinge Park. This route should seek to reinstate the
lost link between Toad Lane and the Town Centre.
3. Provide a pedestrian and cycle connection linking Spotland Road, College Bank, ASDA, Hopwood Hall
College, Broadfield Park, Exchange Shopping Centre and Rochdale Interchange.
4. Create an easily navigable connection between the Town Centre and Rochdale Infirmary.
5. Downgrade Sheriff Street.
rochdale.gov.uk

Page 253

14

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

6. Create legible east to west routes to allow easy movement between residential areas to the west and
the retail park directly to the east of Lower Falinge.
7. Introduce frontage onto St Mary’s Gate to activate this busy route. A tree lined green buffer along the
busy route could provide wider pavements for cyclists and pedestrians.
8. Explore the potential to create an elevated walkway allowing easier access from College Bank into the
Town Centre.
9. Deliver safe and easy to use pedestrian crossing points across St. Mary’s Gate.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 254

15

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Streets and Public Realm Strategy
The aim is to create attractive streets and spaces that encourage people to use them often and long, and
reduce the emphasis placed on the requirements of motor vehicles. A critical part of this approach is to
ensure that it is safe and easy for pedestrians to move about, whilst recognising the role that different
streets and green areas have in different places. This will help support local businesses and facilities, as
well as promoting more sustainable and healthier lifestyles and making the area a vibrant place.
Figure 4 Streets and Public Realm Strategy

Key aspirations are:
1. Design streets that improve safety and the feeling of security in the neighbourhoods.
2. Create a welcoming and outward looking sense of place.
3. A series of connected public spaces and well overlooked streets should form part of the public realm
network and enhance the sense of place and sense of community.
4. Creation of safe environments through the careful design of buildings to allow for natural surveillance and
eyes on the street.
5. Safer and more attractive streets that better connect College Bank, Lower Falinge and the Town Centre
not only minimise opportunities for crime but also promote a greater pedestrian and cycling culture which
will promote healthier lifestyles.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 255

16

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

6. The public realm should be pedestrian and cycle focussed and should strengthen the existing street grid
in order to make movement within and through College Bank and Lower Falinge simple and enjoyable.
7. The street grid should also incorporate focal points for the local community and social activities.
8. Carefully plan car parking provision to avoid large areas of parking along streets and sterilised spaces.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 256

17

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Open Spaces and Play Strategy
A high quality, accessible network of clean, safe and attractive open spaces that will allow people to
improve their health and well-being through recreation and sport. A well-balanced provision of high quality
multi-functional open space that is easily accessible and sustainably managed which encourages a sense
of belonging and enhances the quality of life of residents.
Figure 5 Open Spaces and Play Strategy

Key aspirations are:
1. Improved public and green spaces should enhance the existing outdoor environment and create an
inviting, safe and healthy environment for all.
2. Local residents should be given the opportunity to take ownership of and manage areas of public space
where it is sustainable in the long term.
3. Spaces should provide a range of recreational activities for people of all ages and particularly for young
people.
4. Play facilities should be attractive and useful to a range of different user groups and encourage intergenerational activity.
5. There should also be focal points within the neighbourhood that create a sense of place, community and
activity.
6. Play facilities should be varied and address the needs of young people of all ages.
7. All open spaces should feel safe, be well overlooked and should be easily accessible.
rochdale.gov.uk

Page 257

18

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Mixed Use Strategy
The mix use strategy seeks to foster community design and development that serves the economy,
community, public health and the environment. The vision is a pedestrian-oriented place that layer
compatible land uses and public amenities together at various scales and intensities. This variety of uses
allows for people to live, work, play and shop in one place, which then becomes a destination for people
from other neighbourhoods.
Figure 6 Mixed Use Strategy

Key aspirations are:
1. A mix of uses including community uses (public and private sector), retail, childcare facilities, and/or
educational- training facilities could be provided at key activity hubs and gateways along St Mary’s Gate.
2. A mix of complementary uses to those within the town centre could help to generate activity, provide
social infrastructure for community initiatives and to ensure that the public spaces in and around these
facilities are well used.
3. The existing shopping parade at junction of Sheriff Street and Spotland Road could be further enhanced.
4. The Cascada Bathrooms building should be retained if commercially viable as part of future proposals,
recognising its contribution to the neighbourhood given its historic. Its retention may require mixed use
occupation including residential supported with ground floor commercial or community uses.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 258

19

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Heights Strategy
The building heights strategy aims to generate a low-medium rise area that shifts in scale and building
typology responding to the context. The average height will be 2-4 storeys while the scale goes up to 3-4
storeys on the borders. Some marker buildings will be located as land marks on the urban landscape.
Figure 7 Heights Strategy

Key aspirations are:
1. Refurbished homes and new homes in Lower Falinge and College Bank will improve the range and
quality of homes on offer within the two neighbourhoods.
2. A suitable mix of tenures, sizes and types should be developed to meet local needs and create a
sustainable community, specifically addressing current exposure to mono-type (flats) and mono-tenure
(social rented) opportunities.
4. The spatial strategy for Lower Falinge provides the opportunity to better consider the relationship
between the layout of new homes and the spaces in between.
5. Zones indicating 2-4 storey development should primarily comprise of 2- 3 storey town house
development with strategic locations for 4 storey corner blocks which could be flatted accommodation.
6. Zones indicating 3-4 storey development should primarily comprise of 3-4 storey development with
strategic locations for additional height or architectural moments at landmark corners, dependent upon the
wider context – these zones could be flatted blocks or mixed-use development with ground floor areas
allocated to non-residential uses.
rochdale.gov.uk

Page 259

20

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

6.

Transport and Access

This section contains a summary of the main transport issues affecting the SPD area, particular, issues that
will need to be taken into account when considering the future development of Lower Falinge and
revitalisation of the Town Centre for new development. Figure 8 provides a context for the movement
strategy as it exists currently, including some of the barriers and nodes (a description of the barriers and
nodes is set out in Appendix 2).
The overall objective of the movement strategy for the SPD area is to enable pedestrians, people with
impaired mobility and cyclists to have better connectivity within and adjoining the surrounding area including
Rochdale Town Centre. Across the SPD area, there is a lack of facilities for pedestrians and priority is
given to motorised traffic. This reduces choice and channels pedestrians to crossing locations that may be
less than conveniently located for their particular journey.
Figure 8 Contextual map of existing access and movement strategy

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 260

21

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

The main issues being as follows:












Ease and quality of access perceived as a significant problem for pedestrians, cyclists, and disabled
needs with a lack of permeability;
Important pedestrian routes for the residents of College Bank and Lower Falinge are along Spotland
Road and across St. Mary’s Gate to access the Town Centre. Many residents use an underpass,
along St. Mary’s Gate which connects College Bank to Rochdale Exchange Shopping Centre to
provide access to the Town Centre and Interchange. However, this connection is closed during the
evenings and local residents have raised concerns regarding the safety of this underpass.
Other important and popular pedestrian routes connect poorly to open spaces including Falinge
Park and Broadfield Park.
Vehicular movement and high volumes of traffic dominate the roads surrounding College Bank and
Lower Falinge. St Mary’s Gate is the key route connecting Rochdale into the wider area and towards
Manchester City Centre. Spotland Road and Sheriff Street are also characterised by fast and high
volumes of traffic particularly at rush hour, causing high levels of congestion at key junctions.
Difficult junction at Falinge Road and Sheriff Street;
Intersection of key uses (office, retail and residential) by vehicular highway and car dominance
makes them unwelcoming for those not travelling by car including Spotland Road, St. Mary’s Gate,
Sherriff Street, and Howard Street.
There are a number of significant barriers to pedestrian movement in trying to access Rochdale
Town Centre from the Lower Falinge and College Bank area. The biggest barrier is the need to
cross the busy dual-carriageway road at St Mary’s Gate (A58);
To access from the SPD area to the south of St. Mary’s Gate users are expected to use
underpasses or subways which are not perceived as safe or inviting routes to use by pedestrians
and cyclists;
Lack of crossing facilities encourages pedestrians to cross at random locations throughout the area,
placing them in live traffic and which can be difficult and dangerous to cross.

Figure 9 also illustrates the proposed transport strategy for the SPD area including linkages to adjoining
areas.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 261

22

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Figure 9 Proposed Access and Transport Strategy

The results of this work provide an opportunity to provide improvements through good urban design
principles within and around the SPD area and in pedestrian accessibility and safety whilst maintaining
highways capacity.
The following have been identified for transport improvements:
I.

Spotland Road and St Mary’s Gate junction - This junction is a significant node on the local
area highway network and therefore any modifications to its operation need to be carefully
considered. There are no pedestrian crossing facilities provided at road level as there is a
pedestrian underpass; however the route is indirect and not very desirable. It is proposed that
the whole junction is redesigned and reconfigured to take into account some of the following
options:

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 262

23

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019




II.

Pedestrian facilities;
Junction re-design; and
Underpass upgrade.

Pedestrian Priority Routes through the neighbourhood - Three key routes have been
identified shown in the map below, that run through the SPD area.
 Falinge Park to Town Centre via Toad Lane
 Infirmary to Town Centre via Redcross Street
 Spotland Road to Education area via College Bank
Providing clearly defined continuous routes through the neighbourhood will encourage
movement to and through the study area, thereby improving permeability and providing better
connections between key local attractors and the Town Centre.
It is important that the routes are clear to pedestrians and therefore guiding pedestrians along
them using elements such as wayfinding signs and providing pedestrian crossings on desire
lines are vital to their success. The provisions of footpaths with good quality level surfaces that
are of sufficient width are also necessary to encourage use.
The route from Spotland Road to the education area has some significant level differences
which may require interventions like the one described in the following section.
Better clarity of routes can be achieved by providing forward visibility of the continuation of the
route such as opening up the view by removing existing boundary walls, fencing or overgrown
vegetation. Opening the space also improves the perception of safety by having better foresight
of potential conflicts but also providing alternate routes.

III.

Footpaths alongside St Mary’s Gate from College Road to Whitworth Road – There are no
existing provisions for pedestrians alongside the west side of St Mary’s Gate from its junction
with College Road up to its junction with Whitworth Road which is a distance of nearly 700m.
Consideration has therefore been given to providing suitable pedestrian facilities along this
length including:
 Footway from College Road to Spotland Road; and
 Footway from Spotland Road to Whitworth Road.

IV.

Traffic management - The area around Redcross Street would benefit from a reconfiguration of
existing streets that would deliver improvements for pedestrians, giving them priority whilst still
allowing access for businesses. The changes would seek to discourage through traffic and
reduce traffic speeds.

V.

Redcross Street junction with St Mary’s Gate - there is a clear desire line and high demand
for pedestrians crossing at this junction where there are currently no pedestrian facilities. A
staggered pedestrian crossing could be provided at this location; however this layout would
require the closure of the gap in the central reservation on St Mary’s Gate that currently allows
right turning traffic. The closure of the gap could also help to reduce the number of vehicles rat
running through the Redcross Street area but would obviously have other potential impacts on
vehicle movements as a result of the re-distributed trips.

VI.

Lower Falinge Estate Shops Parking - There is an aspiration to retain the shops within the
Lower Falinge Estate at the junction of Spotland Road and Sheriff Street and to provide a
designated parking area that is off the main highway.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 263

24

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

In addition, the following describe a range of pedestrian facilities that should be considered for inclusion as
part of any development proposal or planning application. We have focussed on those facilities or
improvements that will enhance and complement the other component parts of the plan, providing a safe
and legible network and supporting the high level aims of the improvements:










Green route/Streets for All;
Way finding signs;
Controlled Crossings, including Zebra, Puffin and Toucan crossings;
Traffic Management measures including traffic calming, speed tables, speed cushions, priority
chicane’s, road narrowing, one way traffic management and road closures;
Uncontrolled crossings such as pedestrian refuge island, kerb build-outs, flat top road hump;
Speed limits;
Cycle facilities;
Bridges; and
Elevated walkways.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 264

25

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

7.

Focus Areas

Proposals for areas identified in this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) should take account of the
development, design and transport principles detailed in earlier sections, the overall vision, and the area
specific information set out below (see map below for all focus areas). These focus areas have been
identified through their different characteristics in order to provide an analysis of the issues and
opportunities within the overall SPD.
The focus areas are not rigidly defined for development and do not imply separate developments are
sought or appropriate for these areas. Instead, development within the whole SPD area should be
undertaken in a co-ordinated manner paying regard to all the guidance in this SPD, in order to deliver a
well-planned and designed, coherent, interconnected and integrated development that delivers the
regeneration of the Lower Falinge and College Bank area.
Figure 10 Focus Areas

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 265

26

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

7.1

Focus Area 1: Abbeydale Road

The Abbeydale Road area within Lower Falinge is a residential area that is predominantly made up of deck
access blocks of flats with some garage provision to its western edge. There is poor pedestrian
permeability through the site and the area suffers from streets that are dominated by fast moving traffic.
Abbeydale Road currently runs south from Falinge Road providing access to flat blocks but does not
provide access through to Spotland Road which results in the inadequate Sheriff Street being over used.
Figure 111 Focus Area 1: Abbeydale Road

Extending Abbeydale Road and creating a new link through to Spotland Road offers the opportunity to:
 develop a strong north / south link through the site;
 create a green, tree lined route with wider pavements, designated cycle routes and a landscape
buffer at the road edge;
 develop a new public open greenspace at the heart of the community that is easily accessed and a
safe space; and
 improve pedestrian crossings on Sheriff Street and Falinge Road and links with Falinge Park

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 266

27

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Making improvements to Sheriff Street can increase road safety, improve the pedestrian environment and
introduce traffic calming measures. This could be done by:





narrowing Sheriff Street as a traffic calming measure to increase the safety of the environment;
creating wider, tree lined pavements and dedicated cycle lanes to enhance the pedestrian
environment;
locating three storey homes along the length of the street to create a strong frontage;
focusing good quality urban design at key gateways with Sheriff Street. Falinge Road and Spotland
Road; and

Specific blocks of flats are identified in the Masterplan as being most suitable for clearance to create a
redevelopment site for new residential development. The following should be taken into account when
considering any future development proposals:





large scale clearance offers the opportunity for comprehensive residential redevelopment ;
new homes should be in a mix of types, tenures and sizes to offer varied accommodation to the
local community;
key gateways and focal points for development where there is the opportunity for increased density
and massing would be on frontages of Abbeydale Road, Sheriff Street and Falinge Road;
Retained blocks, if of high enough quality, offer the opportunity to be further improved and
refurbished to improve living accommodation.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 267

28

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

7.2

Focus Area 2: Redcross Street

The Redcross Street area is made up of existing residential properties with some garage uses, a number of
commerical uses, a children’s nursery, carparking and a cleared former millsite. This area has seen some
recent residential development by RBH, around Samuel Ashworth Street replacing flat blocks with lower
density housing development.
Figure 122 Focus Area 2: Redcross Street

The Redcross Street area as a whole offers the potential for residential redevelopment to:
 provide a mix of types and styles of homes for the community;
 create a stronger more cohesive residential community;
 improve local street connections and access throughout the area;
 bring underused and poor quality uses in to more successful residential uses;
 create a strong frontage with high quality and high density development along Howard Street to the
north; and
 create a safer more pedestrian friendly environment throughout.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 268

29

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

7.3

Focus Area 3: St Mary’s Gate

St Mary’s Gate is a dual carriageway running to the northern edge of Rochdale Town Centre dividing it from
Lower Falinge and College Bank. The road has existing underpasses which provide pedestrian access
across it however these are consider in poor condition and unsafe. The existing frontage with St Mary’s
Gate is weak and the pedestrian environment poor.
Figure 133 Focus Area 3: St Mary’s Gate

Along St Mary’s Gate there is the opportunity to:






improve crossing opportunities for pedestrians using new at grade crossings;
set buildings back from the road to create a wider space for pedestrians, cyclists and to allow a
green buffer between the road and non-car users;
create a strong frontage along both sides of the road with good quality design and uses directly
fronting it;
locate non-residential uses at ground floor level of new buildings which could be appropriate for
small retail, community and educational uses;
have high density residential uses along the frontage where possible; and enhance lighting and
quality public realm to create a safer and more attractive street scene.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 269

30

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

7.4

Focus Area 4: Future Area of Focus

This area is presently formed by a number of uses including retail uses, car park, Nursery and Children’s
Centre and interspersed with some residential blocks. This creates a poor quality environment that does
not benefit either of the current uses. The lack of any direct access means that it currently acts as a
negative barrier instead of being the positive feature that it should be. In addition, the area can feel unsafe
particularly after dark due to the lack of activity.
The fragmented nature of the area means it lacks focus in terms of uses and activity. These issues combine
to create an overall impression of an unattractive, inaccessible and unappealing area at a key junction on a
prominent, edge of town centre site.
Figure 14 Focus Area 4: Future Area of Focus

This area forms an important link between the wider largely residential area of Redcross Street and Lower
Falinge to the west that has a large population, providing a substantial walk in catchment population, close
to Rochdale Town Centre. It is important that any development within the SPD area, specifically in this
area, promotes and enhances the pedestrian, land use and visual and physical linkages.
It is important that pedestrian linkages within this area and the SPD area are improved and ways explored
to ensure that development in the SPD area enhances the future prospects for this part of the SPD area.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 270

31

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

No major development area proposed within this area at present. In addition to the current uses found
within the area, other appropriate uses may include car parking, offices and housing.
Townhead is a significant junction and gateway into the town centre and the Council will continue to seek
and support proposals that assist in the regeneration of the area.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 271

32

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

7.5

Focus Area 5: College Bank

College Bank is a long established residential area that comprises of seven multi storey tower blocks of
bedsit, one and two bedroom flats. The blocks are linked via a concrete concourse and there are under
croft garages at the base of each block with existing pedestrian access throughout. Vehicle access is
around the edges of the tower blocks and connectivity within the area and to surrounding areas is poor.
Figure 155 Focus Area 5: College Bank

Information within the College Bank area suggests that the current type of accommodation is no longer
viable and therefore consideration needs to be given to some level of clearance with extent of clearance to
be informed through viability and long term sustainability of the blocks, also linked to future housing need
and cost of refurbishment.
Any intervention in this area will seek to deliver improvement to the quality of homes within the area and
creating safer and higher quality places and spaces for residents and those moving through the area,
alongside additional suitable mix of uses including community and education based on need and
opportunity.
Beyond the options for investment in existing and new homes, College Bank area presents the opportunity
to:

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 272

33

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019








improve existing pedestrian routes;
create new accessible and permeable routes through and around the site that are well connected to
the wider residential area, Hopwood Hall College and Sixth Form College and the Town Centre;
improve and enhance street lighting within the area helping to create safer spaces;
enhance connectivity with adjacent Hopwood Hall College;
improve junctions on St Mary’s Gate to create better and safer crossing points for pedestrians; and
create a green route along Holland Street;

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 273

34

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

8.

Delivery and Implementation

Introduction
The need for a robust and coherent delivery strategy has been a core principle running throughout the
Masterplanning process which underpins this SPD. This has included but is not limited to: a realistic and
sound understanding of market aspirations and potential for change and investment, integrated feasibility
and viability analysis which seeks to maximise public and private sector funding streams, and the need for
land assembly to deliver the identified regeneration opportunity.
It is recognised that the Lower Falinge and College Bank neighbourhoods are not just regeneration areas
but are people’s homes and the Council and its partners will ensure that, as well as it providing the best
possible form of development to achieve the vision set out in this SPD, it is entirely realistic and deliverable.
It is also recognised that the Lower Falinge and College Bank neighbourhoods have a strategic relationship
to the wider regeneration plans for Rochdale Town Centre – this SPD will positively impact the housing and
wider commercial markets in the area which will contribute to the ambitions for Rochdale Town Centre.
This SPD is a key component of the delivery strategy underpinning the Masterplan. This section provides
further guidance around the approach to delivery, and sets out requirements for any future planning
applications in the area.
Market Demand Considerations
Existing housing supply within the SPD area is heavily skewed towards small flats and maisonettes and
almost exclusively social rented in nature under the ownership of Rochdale Boroughwide Housing.
Without the presence of the Registered Provider, RBH and associated tenants this is an area which would
demonstrate signs of market failure – limited choice within the housing offer, disconnected neighbourhoods
and public realm issues, declining conditions within the housing stock, and low values. This has a knock-on
effect to the wider housing market within the town centre fringe and town centre itself.
Where development potential exists on under-utilised sites within the SPD boundary, viability is a significant
barrier to delivery. Based on local house price data, quality residential development is not currently viable
within the area. The Lower Falinge and College Bank masterplan seeks to address viability over the long
term through the comprehensive delivery of development and investment to create demand and establish
new residential market and value benchmarks.
The Council’s latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment (Draft, 2015) supports a need for the increased
delivery of family houses sized 2-bedrooms and above to meet emerging need. In addition there is a
recognised need to deliver a housing product within the SPD area to facilitate re-housing existing residents
to release sites for development. There is also an identified need for a specialist older persons housing.
Soft market testing undertaken with a number of national and regional regeneration housebuilders and
contractors has supported the view that there is a strong and continued interest in investing within the SPD
area.
Delivery Approach
Rochdale Council working alongside Rochdale Boroughwide Housing as a major landowner and interested
party is committed to delivering the regeneration of the SPD area in partnership with the private sector.
Where it is identified to be necessary the Council is willing to use its statutory powers (including
Compulsory Purchase Orders) to facilitate the holistic and comprehensive delivery of development and
investment across the whole area.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 274

35

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

The SPD seeks the comprehensive regeneration of the area captured within its boundary. Working
alongside Rochdale Borough Housing it is intended that investment will be delivered through the
procurement of a single developer partner (individual or consortium), and progression of a strategic outline
planning application for the whole area.
Any development proposals promoted outside of this structure by individual landowners or interested
parties will be required to demonstrate that they facilitate and contribute to the delivery of the wider
regeneration objectives set out in this SPD and the Lower Falinge and College Bank masterplan, and do
not in any way prejudice its delivery.
Infrastructure and S106 Contributions
The Council will seek S106 contributions where these are necessary to make individual proposals
acceptable in planning terms.
Applicants should be aware of the ambitions to deliver improvements along the A58 St Marys Gate corridor
with detailed design work undertaken by AECOM as a strategic highways priority for the Council, alongside
the desire to deliver strategic movement and open space provision as part of the masterplan.
Delivery of affordable housing as part of residential developments is an established policy requirement
across Rochdale. Policy C4 of the Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) requires an affordable housing
contribution of 7.5% of the development sales value of the overall scheme, with a preference for on-site
delivery of an affordable product to meet local need. The policy allows for exceptional circumstances where
off-site contributions will be accepted.
Notwithstanding identified local need for affordable housing provision across Rochdale, this SPD
recognises the need to diversify housing supply within the Lower Falinge and College Bank
neighbourhoods – being almost exclusively affordable in nature at the time of adoption. It is recognised that
the delivery of market housing within this area is required to deliver this diversification and to ensure the
sustainability of retained affordable housing in the area – with only partial clearance of the existing estates
proposed.
The SPD requires a clear and robust strategy around the strategic delivery of affordable housing, including
an intermediate product, which can and should be delivered through future planning applications. This
should include consideration of retained and improved affordable housing supply, the role for affordable
supply as part of new developments to contribute to the wider implementation of the masterplan (including
recognition of the need to re-house residents from redevelopment areas), and/or the contribution that offsite delivery could make to delivering the overall ambitions of the masterplan.
Planning Application Requirements
This SPD will be a material consideration in any future planning application relating to any site within its
boundary; accordingly, any planning applications for development within the area will need to be supported
by sufficient evidence and information to demonstrate they embed appropriate responses to the
requirements set out within this SPD. This includes the need for justification for and evidence supporting
any deviations from the requirements set out within the SPD.
The Council has a series of checklists summarising validation requirements associated with different types
of applications, available at http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning-and-building/apply-for-planningpermission/planning-permission---home/application-forms-and-guidance. These checklists should be
adhered to by all applications to demonstrate that development is appropriate in planning terms.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 275

36

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Appendix 2 – Barriers and nodes
Barrier Where conditions create obstructions to free movement.
1.
A58 St Mary’s Gate Dual Carriageway with little or no pedestrian footways along the length
from the College to Whitworth Road.
2.
Spotland Road
Busy carriageway with high levels of traffic with no formal crossing
A680
provisions along the length of the road aside from the junction at Sherriff
St.
3.
Holland Street
The road has excessive gradient differences from north side to south. Lack
of permeability and access for pedestrians.
4.
College Road
Narrow one-way service/access road providing access to the garages. No
footway on north side of road with the exception of one set of poor quality
steps.
5.
Nodes
6.
7.

8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.

Howard Street

High traffic volumes and excessive speeds for the road conditions which
include a tight bend with poor forward visibility. There are no pedestrian
crossing facilities along any part of the road.
Locations where crossing activities currently take place.
College Road
Pedestrian facilities across one arm only leading from Newgate to College
junction with St
Road. No footway around northwest corner.
Mary’s Gate
St Mary’s Gate
No pedestrian crossing facilities at road level and access are restricted by
junction with
guardrail and retaining walls. Pedestrian provision at this junction is via a
Spotland Road
24hr underpass. Current pedestrian desire path is crossing the grass
verge.
Redcross Street
Although there are no pedestrian facilities at this location there is a clear
junction with St
desire line and high demand for pedestrians to cross.
Mary’s Gate
Cheetham Street
Only formal pedestrian crossing of St Mary’s Gate between Whitworth
underpass
Road and Spotland Road.
St Mary’s Gate
junction with
Whitworth Road
Howard Street
junction with Rope
Street
Sherriff Street
Roundabout
Spotland Road
junction with Sheriff
Street
Spotland Road
pedestrian crossing

rochdale.gov.uk

No public footpath access to the junction from Spotland Road. Access is
only possible by crossing the retail car parks.
Uncontrolled crossings and traffic islands with very narrow and poor quality
footways from the infirmary to the Town Centre
Mini roundabout that has dropped crossings but no tactile paving. Busy
junction but limited safe opportunities to cross to access Falinge Park,
School, Infirmary or the Town Centre.
Signal controlled junction with pedestrian facilities Despite the provision
many pedestrians choose to cross away from the junction indicating desire
lines are present to other destinations.
Existing controlled pedestrian crossing facility near the junction of Mitchell
Street.

Page 276

37

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Appendix 3 – Glossary

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 277

38

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 278

39

Lower Falinge & College Bank Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Draft January 2019

Rochdale Borough Council
Strategic Planning Team
Number One Riverside
Smith Street
Rochdale OL16 1YH
rochdale.gov.uk
01706 924252
rochdale.gov.uk

strategic.planning@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 279

40

DRAFT LOWER FALINGE AND COLLEGE BANK
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT
(SPD)

STATEMENT OF CONSULTATION

January 2019

Page 1280

CONTENTS

Page
Introduction

3

Consultation

3

Advice and Assistance

5

Appendix 1 – Location where documents can be viewed

6

Appendix 2 – Comments Form

8

Page
2 281

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

The Lower Falinge and College Bank Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has
been produced by the Council to guide redevelopment of this site. In order to ensure
that appropriate public consultation takes place, Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPD) are required to be accompanied by a statement setting out how the Local
Planning Authority will comply with the Council’s Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI).

1.2

This Consultation Statement has been prepared in line with Regulation 12 (a) of the
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Order 2012, which states
that, before a council adopts a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), it must
produce a statement setting out:
i. The persons the local planning authority consulted when preparing the
supplementary document;
ii. A summary of the main issues raised by those persons;
iii. How those issues have been addressed in the supplementary document.
1.2

This statement sets out how the public and other stakeholders will be consulted
upon the SPD. Following the consultation period, this statement will be expanded
to summarise the comments received during the consultation period, including
details of how the issues raised have been dealt with in working towards a final
SPD for adoption.

1.3

This SPD has been produced in accordance with the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

2.

PARTICIPATION AND CONSULTATION SO FAR
Early Consultation

2.1

Preparation of the Lower Falinge and College Bank Masterplan and subsequent
Spplementary Planning Document was based on wide public consultation which
identified key priorities and formed the basis of a vision for the kind of community
people would like to see in the future. The public consultation process began with
local working groups highlighting the important issues facing the area. Five key topic
areas were identified: connectivity and movement, streets and public realm, public
open spaces, Non-residential uses and new facilities and new and improved homes.

2.2

Workshops were held at both College Bank and Lower Falinge in order to introduce
the options and demonstrate how they had evolved. These workshops were an
opportunity for feedback and ideas to be collected from residents.

2.3

To date there have been three workshops, which have helped to inform the key aim
and objectives of each neighbourhood.

2.4

Workshop 1

2.5

The first College Bank and Lower Falinge workshops were held on 6th February
2017. Separate workshops were held for each event, both taking place between 4pm
and 8pm in their respective venues: the College Bank workshop was held at the

Page 3282

Mitchell Hey Community Room and the Lower Falinge workshop at the Lower Falinge
Community Base 238 Newstead.
2.6

The first workshops aimed to gather local resident’s views on what they like and
dislike about their local area and their homes, and began to explore spatial strategies
for their neighbourhood. A series of consultation boards were prepared and presented
containing information about the early design thinking. The boards were designed to
be interactive, collecting information from local residents and providing topics for
discussion for each of the three options – see appendix 1.

2.7

The boards gathered the following information from local residents:







General thoughts and feelings about their neighbourhood
Likes, dislikes, and potential ways in which their local area could be improved
What local facilities and services local residents regularly visit
How easy or difficult local residents find travelling to these local facilities
Local residents thoughts on the initial Repair, Refresh and Re-think options

2.8

In addition to gathering information, the boards also explored why regeneration was
necessary for the local area, what regeneration would mean for local residents and
the next steps in the engagement process.

2.9

The results of workshop 1 were taken into account to develop further the three
potential options in advance of workshop 2.

2.10

Workshop 2

2.11

The second Lower Falinge and College Bank workshops were held on the 16th March
2017. Similar to the first, a series of consultation boards were presented which
illustrated the three options in more detail.

2.12

The boards (Appendix 2) presented the following information which local residents
were invited to comment on:






A summary of findings from the initial workshop.
Work being prepared by the RSA in parallel to the spatial strategy.
More progressed versions of the Repair, Refresh and Re-think options. In the
case of College Bank Re-think consisted of two options illustrating different
demolition scenarios. The various options included site plans, illustrative street
perspectives and example images. Each of the options was also accompanied by
a list of potential benefits and issues.
Themed precedent images that covered streets, play spaces, homes, front
gardens, back gardens and the inside of homes.

2.13

As with the first workshop information was gathered through writing ideas on post-it
notes and sticking them to the consultation boards, and through feedback forms that
asked local residents how they felt about each of the three options. This information,
in addition to the viability studies and soft market analysis, has been fundamental in
steering the design informing the preferred options.

2.14

Workshop 3

2.15

The third rounds of workshops were held on Saturday 24th June 2017. A series of
boards were prepared (Appendix 3) with information on the preferred option to be

Page
4 283

taken forward into future workshops for each College Bank and Lower Falinge. The
boards included detail on:
2.16

The options presented at previous workshops and an overview of the feedback
collected

2.17

The vision and strategic approach for the estates and the wider area.






3D sketch views of the preferred option giving an indication of typologies and
massing, and illustrating which blocks could be demolished to make land
available for new residential units.
Example precedent images of what the neighbourhood could look like
The support and offer from RBH for residents who would be affected by
demolition and new build areas.
An update on the work being done by the RSA, in parallel with the spatial
strategy.
Information on the next steps and way forward for each estate following this
initial phase of work.

2.18

Residents were given the opportunity to comment on the proposals and write ideas or
feedback down on post-it notes. Booklets with the information in were available for
residents to take away from the event.

2.19
2.20

Commonplace
Throughout the period of consultation which ran from February to June 2017, a digital
platform, Commonplace, was set up for additional engagement with residents. This
has provided an alternative means to provide opinions and comments for those
residents who were unable to attend the workshops, or preferred to give feedback
through this media. The Commonplace site has shown regular updates to the strategy
plans, with clear explanations for each scenario. A total of 36 residents have
commented on the web page to date.

PUBLIC CONSULTATION
2.1

The Council intends to carry out a public consultation and seek views on the content
of the SPD consultation draft over a six week period between xx January – xx March
2019.

2.2


The consultation will comprise of the following methods:
Notification letters and emails to organisations and individuals registered on the
Councils’ consultation database;
;
The
consultation
will
be
publicised
on
the
Council’s
website:
www.rochdale.gov.uk/consultations; and
Copies of the draft SCI will be available to view at Rochdale and Spotland libraries.




Respondents are invited to make comments:

Online; or

By submitting responses using a comments form (Appendix 4) which can be returned
by post or emailed; or

Emailing comments to LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk
2.3

Elected Members have also been consulted on the SPD preparation process.

Page 5284

2.4







































2.5

The following key external consultees will be consulted during the SPD preparation.
United Utilities
Bolton Council
Bury Council
National Grid
Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council
Highways Agency
Historic England
Salford City Council
Manchester City Council
Rossendale Borough Council
Stockport Council
The Coal Authority
Network Rail
Environment Agency
Natural England
Greater Manchester Planning and Housing Team
Mono Consultants Ltd
Homes England
Lancashire County Council
Oldham Council
AMEC
CBRE Ltd
Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group
Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council
Trafford Council
Wigan Council
Electricity North West Ltd
BT
T-Mobile
Telephonica UK Limited
Transport for Greater Manchester
Office of Rail Regulation
Greater Manchester Local Enterprise Partnership
General Consultation bodies:
Voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the local planning
authority’s area,
Bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic or national groups in
the local planning authority’s area,
Bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the local planning
authority’s area,
Bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in the local planning
authority’s area,
Bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying on business in the local
planning authority’s area.
In addition to the statutory planning consultees the Council hold a database
containing contact details of groups and individuals interested in the development of
our plans, this is used to keep those registered, informed of progress and future
consultations. People on this database will be consulted.

Page
6 285

2.6

On completion of the consultation exercise, the SPD will be revised as required to
reflect responses.

3.

ADVICE AND ASSISTANCE

For further information relating to this document please contact:
Strategic Planning Service
Floor 3
Number One Riverside
Smith Street
Rochdale
OL16 1XU
Tel: 01706 924252
By email: LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk/yourviews

Page 7286

Details of opening times are available on the Council website or by telephoning 0300 303
8876

Page
8 287

APPENDIX 1 – WORKSHOP 1

Page 288
9

Page 289

10

Page 290

11

Page 291

12

APPENDIX 1 – WORKSHOP 2

Page 292
13

Page 293

14

Page 294

15

Page 295

16

Page 296

17

APPENDIX 1 – WORKSHOP 3

Page 297
18

Page 298

19

Page 299

20

Page 300

21

Page
22 301

ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Draft College Bank and Lower Falinge Area
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

January 2019

Page 302

ROCHDALE METROPOLITAN BOROUGH LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) is a measure that public authorities often carry out prior
to implementing a policy, with a view to ascertaining its potential impact on equality. Such
assessments are not required by law, although are a way of facilitating and evidencing
compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty.
This Equalities Impact Assessment has been prepared as a supporting document for the College
Bank and Lower Falinge Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).
The SPD has been produced to support and guide appropriate development, change, investment
and improvements in the future of the area over the next 10 to 15 years.
Equalities Impact Assessment and Target Groups
The purpose of this Equality Impact Assessment is to ensure the proposed SPD for College Bank
and Lower Falinge Area integrates the best outcome for those affected by spatial development
and mitigates any negative impacts, in respect of the protected characteristics defined by the
Equality Act 2010. These are:










Age;
Disability; (Disability Discrimination Act 2005, GLA Disability Equality Scheme 2005,
Special Educational Needs and Disability Act 2001)
Gender reassignment;
Marriage and civil partnership;
Pregnancy and maternity;
Race; (Race Relations Act 1976, Amendment 2000, Amendment Regulations 2003)
Religion or belief;
Sex; (Sex Discrimination Act 1975); and
Sexual orientation.

This EqIA is an opportunity to consider whether a policy, strategy or approach, affects all groups
in the same way or whether there are is a significant positive, negative or neutral impact on
particular groups before a policy is formally introduced.
On the whole, EqIAs should make sure that equality is placed at the centre of policy
development, highlighting the likely impact of the policy on the target groups and to take action to
improve the policies where appropriate as a result or to demonstrate the potential benefits.

Page 303

Appendix 1 Equality Impact Proforma
Department

Strategic Planning

Section
Economy

Person
responsible for the
assessment
18/12/18

Sohida Banu

Page 304

Name of the
College Bank and Lower Falinge Date of
Is this a new
Expanding on
Policy to be
Area Supplementary Planning
Assessment
or existing
Core Strategy
assessed
Document (SPD)
policy
policies C/2.
1. Describe the aims, objectives
The draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared to guide planning
and purpose of the policy
decisions relating to the College Bank and Lower Falinge area. The purpose of this
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is to provide a development strategy for the Lower
Falinge and College Bank. It outlines potential development opportunities within the area
including options for the scale and mix of future proposals on a number of different sites
through:
 a better quality and mix of housing choice to meet the needs of the community now and
in the future;
 a safe neighbourhood where attractive, energy efficient homes combine with wellproportioned streets, open spaces and landscaping to create distinctive and
sustainable high density design including new residential development along with the
opportunity for some complimentary non-residential uses, such as community facilities;
 an accessible neighbourhood with pedestrian and cycle friendly links and routes within
and across the area and strong connections with the wider surrounding areas including
Rochdale Town Centre;
 high quality public and green spaces which enhance the existing outdoor environment
and recreational activities for people of all ages; and
 a neighbourhood which manages the public spaces and creates opportunities for social
interaction and activities.
2. Are there any associated
objectives of the policy, please
explain

The SPD supports the main objectives set out within the Masterplan prepared on behalf of
Rochdale Borough wide Housing and includes a programme of significant consultation with the
local community and local partners. It identified a range of interventions required to address
the mix (type and tenure) and quality of homes available, physical appearance of the area
including quality and design of the public spaces, better access and connectivity within the area

and to the Town Centre and surround areas, and a safer and mixed neighbourhood offering a
range of community and shopping facilities to facilitate wider regeneration and contribute
positively to housing market improvement
Also, Rochdale Council undertook a study to review pedestrian accessibility between the Lower
Falinge and College Bank area and Rochdale Town Centre, the Educational Quarter and
Rochdale Infirmary to the North. The study identified a number of issues and opportunities
relating to movement between the areas. It investigated potential solutions to improve
pedestrian connections. Opportunities for intervention were established and presented as a
number of projects ranging from improved signage, junctions improvements, pedestrianisation,
and green routes to traffic management.

Page 305

3. Who is intended to benefit from
the policy and in what way

Private Individuals, Community and Interest Groups, Stakeholders, Land Owners, Developers,
Councillors, Rochdale Council Officers.

4. What outcomes are wanted
from this policy?

It seeks an efficient and effective land use policy which ensures that new development adds to
and supports the regeneration of College Bank and Lower Falinge. The area mainly comprises
of residential buildings but does also include some pockets of other land use and buildings.
Better quality information submitted with planning applications to assist the development control
processes and the implementation of the Core Strategy policy.
If funding or resources were withdrawn.
Unforeseen/unavoidable circumstances.
Complexity of topic.
7. Who implements the policy and
Development Management.
who is responsible for the policy?
Strategic Planning.

5. What factors/forces could
contribute/detract from the
outcomes?
6. Who are
Rochdale Borough
the main
wide Housing,
stakeholders Rochdale Council,
in relation to Private Individuals,
the policy
Community and
Interest Groups,
Stakeholders, Land
Owners,
Developers.
8. Are there concerns that the policy

Y

N

The SPD objectives generally responds well with all racial groups in the defined area in

could have a differential impact on
racial groups?

Page 306

9. Are there concerns that the
policy could have a differential
impact due to gender?
10. Are there concerns that the
policy could have a differential
impact due disability?

Y

N

Y

N

11. Are there concerns that the
policy could have a differential
impact on people due to sexual
orientation?
12. Are there concerns that the
policy could have a differential
impact on people due to their age?

Y

N

Y

N

13. Are there concerns that the
policy could have a differential
impact on people due to their
religious belief?

Y

N

respect of access to public open spaces, new and improved housing, community facilities,
accessibility etc. All groups in this area will benefit from this and help achieve a high
quality development.
It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group.
This SPD seeks better design and integration of all developments to ensure a high quality
environment for all users, a suitable mix of tenures, sizes and types developed in order to
meet local needs over the long term and create a sustainable community. In addition, it
seeks to improve and modernise the quality of some overall residential environment.
Therefore, it is anticipated that this SPD will have a positive benefit upon this group.
It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group.

This SPD seeks better design and integration of all developments to ensure a high quality
environment for all users, a suitable mix of tenures, sizes and types developed in order to
meet local needs over the long term and create a sustainable community. In addition, it
seeks to improve and modernise the quality of some overall residential environment.
Therefore, it is anticipated that this SPD will have a positive benefit upon this group.
This SPD seeks appropriate levels of community facilities and services to support new
development in order to serve the area as a whole. Where community facilities include
places of worship.
Therefore, it is anticipated that this SPD will have a positive benefit upon this group.

14. Are there concerns that the
policy could have a differential
impact on people due to them being
in a marriage or civil partnership?
15. Are there concerns that the
policy could have a differential
impact on people who are pregnant
or on maternity?
16. Are there concerns that the
policy could have a differential

Y

N

It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group.

Y

N

It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group.

Y

N

It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group.

impact on people due to their
gender reassignment?
17. Could the differential impact identified in 8-16
amount to there being the potential for adverse
impact in this policy
18. Can this adverse impact be justified on the
grounds of promoting equality of opportunity for
one group? Or any other reason
19. Should the policy proceed to a partial
YES
impact assessment
Signed (completing officer) Sohida Banu

YES

NO

YES

NO

NO

20. If Yes, is there
enough evidence to
proceed to a full EIA

Please explain for each equality
heading (question 8-16) on a separate
piece of paper
YES
NO

Signed (Lead Officer) Paul Moore

Page 307

Agenda Item 11
Report to Rochdale Township Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

23rd January 2019
Cabinet Member for
Environment
John Gillighan
Private

Development at Dean Street, Rochdale - Adoption of highways
under Section 228 Highways Act 1980
Executive Summary
1.

Adoption of the roads within the completed Dean Street, Rochdale residential
development as highways to be maintained at public expense in accordance
with Section 228 of the Highways Act 1980.
Recommendation

2.

That the Head of Legal Services be authorised in conjunction with the Head of
Capital Projects and Highways: to take all necessary steps pursuant to the provisions of S228 of the Highways
Act 1980 to declare the highways shown hatched on the attached Drawing
QD543-16-01 to be highways maintainable at the public expense.
to prepare the appropriate notices pursuant to the provisions of S228 of the
Highways Act 1980 declaring that the roads shown hatched on the attached
Drawing JG/DS/1234 to be highways maintainable at the public expense.
Reason for Recommendation

3.

To seek approval for advertising notices pursuant to Section 228 of the
Highways Act 1980 with a view to adopting the roads known as The Foothills,
Lower Roch Road and Mill View Lane, as highways to be maintained at public
expense.
Key Points for Consideration

4

4.1

Agreements made under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 are the most
common method of achieving road adoption. The ‘Section 38 Agreement’ is
made between a developer and the Council in its capacity as Highway
Authority. Developers require the Section 38 Agreement where developers
have included roads within a new residential or commercial development.

Page 308

Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 provides the Council with the powers to
enter into an agreement to take over (adopt) and thereafter maintain at public
expense a newly constructed road.
Only an owner of land is able to dedicate the land for highway purposes.
Therefore, if the developer is not the landowner or the landowner is unable to
be identified or, in this case, the landowner is actually the Council itself, the
land cannot be dedicated appropriately for highway purposes under S38 of the
Highways Act 1980 and the roads may well remain private streets (not be
adopted into the public highway to be maintained at public expense).
However, a developer can ask the local authority to adopt the private street on
completion of the development pursuant to Section 228 of the highways Act
1980.
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 228 of the Highways Act 1980, the
Council, as Highway Authority, is able to declare a road to be a highway
maintainable at public expense provided that a developer has carried out the
works to a satisfactory standard.
When considering whether to adopt a road, the Council considers whether the
works have been brought up to adoptable standards and that the development
contains any relevant drainage, street lighting, traffic signals or any other
special features required in connection with the development.
The Council is satisfied following inspection by Council’s Highway Officers that
the roads are suitable for adoption and that the developer has constructed
them to the required standard.
It has always been the intention for the Council to adopt the roads within this
development and the development progressed on this understanding.
Residents have purchased houses also on that understanding.
Until the Council adopt the roads, routine maintenance will not commence.
Pursuant to Section 228 of the Highways Act 1980, the Council will erect a
Notice on site stating that the roads will become a highway maintained at
public expense after a "one month" period.
Alternatives Considered
If the Council decides not to adopt, the Council will still own the land forming
the roads within the development in its capacity as estate owner and will retain
liability. However, the roads will not be subject to routine maintenance and will
therefore degrade at a quicker rate with resulting costs to the Council.
Costs and Budget Summary
5.

The developer has met all the reasonable costs of the Council in connection
with the development and adoption of the roads including supervision and

Page 309

legal fees.
The adoptions of new roads are added to the network and are taken into
account when maintenance funding is allocated.
Risk and Policy Implications
6.

The Council is responsible for the maintenance of all adopted roads and they
are maintained in accordance with the Council’s maintenance programmes.
Owners/developers or house frontages are responsible for the maintenance
of roads which are un-adopted.
If the Council refuses to adopt the roads, the Council as landowner will retain
the liability. Since the roads will not be maintained in accordance with the
Council’s maintenance programmes, it is likely that they will deteriorate more
quickly. This could bring objections from the frontagers of the houses over
the state of the roads and the Council could incur costs associated with
claims from the public.
Consultation

7.

The developer has requested the Council to adopt the roads within the
development in accordance with Section 228 of the Highways Act 1980 and
completed the development on that principle.
Background Papers

8.

Place of Inspection

Highways Layout

Floor 2 Number 1 Riverside Desk 3262

For Further Information Contact:

John Gillighan, Tel: 01706 924607,
john.gillighan@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 310

Page 311

Agenda Item 12
Report to Rochdale Township Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

MeetingDateLegal
Cabinet Member for
Neighbourhoods,
Community & Culture
Julie Simpson
Public

Upgrade to Bridleway definitive footpath RocEFp13a from
Northdene Drive to Bury Road Rochdale
Executive Summary
1.

In accordance with section 31 Highways Act 1981 and Under section 53(2)
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, a member of the public can submit a
statement to the Council for it to consider a claim to add a footpath or
bridleway to the definitive map and statement held by the Council or to
upgrade an existing route to a higher status than shown on the definitive map
and statement by providing evidence of 20 years or more use of a route,
recognised as presumed dedication of the way if the use is carried out as of
right, without permission and without interference.
The Council has received such a statement to support the upgrade of a
footpath (footpath RocEFp13a) running from Northdene Drive to Bury Road to
bridleway status. The supporting evidence provided with the claim provides
satisfactory reports of use ranging from 3 – 57 years by 25 members of the
public. In accordance with the Highways Act 1980, the Council may accept
this evidence to assist in their decision making in respect of making the
appropriate Order for the upgrade of the footpath.
The Council implemented a highway order to adopt the land as a footway in
approximately 1994; however, some of the evidence pre-dates this highway
adoption and it is considered appropriate to proceed with the claim.
Landowners are consulted and are asked to submit evidence to support the
claim or to describe the actions they have taken to prohibit use by horse
riders. No such evidence has been received from the landowners.
Members of the public are informed by the posting of notices on site and in
local newspapers as part of the order process.
The order process also incorporates an objection period where members of
the public may raise relevant objections to the order. , Should these objections
remain unresolved the matter is referred to the Secretary of State for a final
decision as to whether the Council should make the order to upgrade the

Page 312

footpath to bridleway or not.
Recommendation
2.

That Rochdale Township Committee agree with the report and for the Council
to proceed with a definitive map and statement modification order to upgrade
the footpath RocEFp13a, as shown on the plan annexed, to bridleway.
That Rochdale Township Committee agrees to the Council undertaking an
event order to alter the definitive map and statement to show a bridleway
running from Northdene Drive to Bury Road should the claim be successful.
That if no objections are received to the order, that the order be confirmed as
an unopposed order under paragraph 6 of Schedule 15 to the Wildlife and
countryside Act 1981, and if relevant objections are received that the order be
referred to the Secretary of State for confirmation.
That the Head of Legal be authorised to make an Order under the relevant
Acts, the effect of which, if confirmed, would be to upgrade public footpath
RocEFp13a to a public bridleway.

Reason for Recommendation
3.

Under Section 130 Highways Act 1980 the Council has a duty to protect and
assert the rights of the public to the use and enjoyment of any highway within
the borough; definitive rights of way are classed as highways under the
Highways Act 1980. The Council are also required to maintain and keep
under review a map, the definitive map, and statement showing the public
footpaths and bridleways in its area.
As part of that review the map may be changed should members of the public
submit an application to alter a route on the map, and described in the related
statement, and successfully show the way to have higher rights. In this
paradigm this is a Definitive Map Modification Order to upgrade an existing
footpath to bridleway.
The Council has received a statement from a member of the public supported
by 25 evidence forms of use. This evidence provides proof that the way is
necessary for the intended users and complies with s.31 Highways Act 1980
that the public at large have used this route on horseback for the required
period of 20 years or more. This evidence is sufficient for the Council to
proceed with the making the appropriate Order for the upgrade of the footpath
Only landowners may raise relevant objections and show how they have
attempted to prohibit the use by horse riders. Landowners have been
consulted and have not raised any objection to the proposal.
Whilst pedestrians are currently the only legitimate users along the footpath

Page 313

and this proposed order would create a multi-user route, it is accepted to
create routes that legally allow access to other users, a national route, the
Pennine Bridleway would be similar in nature and exists to provide access to
horse riders, pedal cyclist and pedestrians.
Key Points for Consideration
4.

The Council are obliged to keep the definitive map and statement under
review, this application contributes to meeting this obligation.
Any member of the public may submit a statement to the Council for it to add a
route to the definitive map and statement or to divert or upgrade an existing
footpath or bridleway if they can provide sufficient evidence to the Council to
show use of a route for 20 years or more.
The Council has received an application accompanied with 25 evidence forms
of support each contributing to show the required 20+ years use.
The relevant landowners have been consulted but have failed to provide
evidence for or against the claim; the Council can only proceed with the
evidence submitted.
The procedure allows for an objection period where any member of the public
may submit an objection relevant to this order. Any unresolved outstanding
issues are submitted to the Secretary of State who will make the final decision
on whether the order should be made or not. The Council will proceed as
stated by the Secretary of State. In the event there are no objections the
Council may proceed and confirm the order.
A completed successful definitive map modification order dictates the future
status of the right of way in question.
An event order is performed following a completed successful definitive map
modification order to show the changes on the definitive map.
Alternatives Considered

4.1

The only alternative would be to decline to make the order. This would mean
the Council are in breach of its duty and would entitle the applicant to appeal
to the Secretary of State under paragraph 4 of Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981.
Costs and Budget Summary

5.

The costs associated with this order are internal officer and legal costs. Whilst
there is no obligation for the Council to undertake any works to the route
should it be upgraded to bridleway, the Council will ensure that all users can
use the way safely. The main costs will be to change the footpath signs to
bridleway. The costs associated with this order will be financed from the
Environmental Management Rights of Way budget.

Page 314

Risk and Policy Implications
6.

The risks should members of Rochdale Township Committee decide not to
agree with the report but to confirm that the order should not be made would
trigger an appeal to Secretary of State under paragraph 4 of Schedule 14 of
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.
Consultation

7.

There is a statutory consultation procedure with the landowners that the
applicant is obliged to carry out; a Council officer also consults the
landowners.
Members of the public will have the opportunity to consider any objections to
the order during the objection period as part of the order process.
Consultation is also required with Rochdale Township Committee
Background Papers

8.

File 13593

For Further Information Contact:

Place of Inspection
Environmental Management, Green
Lane, Heywood OL10 2DY
Julie Simpson,
julie.simpson@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 315

Footpath RocEFp13a
from Northdene Drive to
Bury Road, Rochdale.

Page 316

